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2. Performance Report
2.1 Overview
Who We Are
Dorset HealthCare is responsible for all community and mental health services across
Dorset. We serve a population of almost 700,000 people, and in 2016/17 employed around
5,800 full- and part-time staff covering a range of expertise and specialisms. The Trust’s
income is approximately £261 million.
The Trust has a large and geographically spread estate, providing services from over 300
sites ranging from village halls and GP surgeries to small to medium-sized mental health inpatient hospitals to single ward community hospitals located in market towns. The services
provided by the Trust are diverse and constantly evolving to meet the changing needs of the
local population.
During the year we run Dorset's 12 community hospitals and the minor injuries units - as well
as providing adult and children's community and mental health services, healthcare in Devon
and Dorset's prisons (responsibility for which passed to Care UK on 1 April 2017), specialist
learning disability services, community brain injury services and addiction services.
Our community health services encompass: district nurses, health visitors, school nursing,
end of life care, sexual health promotion, safeguarding children, diabetes education,
audiology, speech and language therapy, dermatology, podiatry, orthopaedic services,
wheelchair services, anti-coagulation services, pulmonary rehab, Early Discharge Stroke
services, Parkinsons, community oncology and breastfeeding support services.
Dorset HealthCare became a Foundation Trust on 1st April 2007. We are regulated by NHS
Improvement (the body formed from the merger of Monitor and the NHS Trust Development
Agency from 1 April 2016), which authorises and regulates NHS Foundation Trusts and
supports their development, ensuring they are well-governed and financially robust.
The arrangements by which the Trust is governed are reviewed in section 3.1 of this Report.
Overview of 2016/17
The last 12 months have seen a continuation of the trend in recent years - a climate which is
challenging both for the Trust and the NHS in general.
The well-publicised financial challenges affecting the NHS, the ever-increasing demand for
services and the continuing shortages in key groups of staff have set the context for a
demanding year for the Trust. However, the Trust has risen to the challenge.
Considerable focus has been given in the year to further improving service quality and
patient outcomes through the implementation of the action plan following the Trust-wide
inspection of the Trust by the CQC in 2015/16. Renewed focus was given to this after the
follow-up inspection of seven of our core services in March 2016. The comprehensive action
plan now in place has been a focus of attention throughout 2016/17.
Despite the financial challenges, the Trust has continued to make a considerable investment
in service quality and the infrastructure of the organisation. Investment plans will need to
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continue over the coming year as we improve patient environments that are no longer fit for
purpose. The continuing financial challenges facing the NHS will, however, impact on what
the Trust can achieve.
A further challenge has been difficulties in recruiting staff in some service areas. The
potential impact that this was recognised as a key risk over the year. Whilst recruitment
challenges continued throughout 2016/17 in certain key staff groups, the Trust has achieved
a reduction in agency expenditure to £6.1m (approximately half of the cost incurred in
2015/16). Internal assurance systems enabled continued oversight of the quality of care
provided. Recruiting sufficient staff across all employee groups will continue to be a
challenge in 2017/18.
The year ahead is likely to present the Trust with many more challenges, uncertainties and
opportunities. The Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) Clinical Services Review
on the future of the NHS in the county, the first Sustainability and Transformation Plan for
Dorset and the outcome of the Mental Health Acute Care Pathway Review will change the
landscape of public services in the county and have a fundamental impact on the activities of
the Trust.
The progress that the Trust has made and the commitment of our staff gives every
confidence that services of high quality will continue to be provided now and into the future.
On this basis, after making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the
Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
For this reason, they continue to adopt the ‘going concern’ basis in preparing the accounts.
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2.2 Performance Analysis
The Trust has, over the last 12 months, continued its journey towards its goal of becoming
an exemplary organisation delivering high quality services.
The focus for much of our work in 2016/17 has been on delivering the action plans
developed after the major CQC inspections of the Trust in 2015/16 and reports published in
2016/17.
The comprehensive CQC inspection in June 2015 resulted in an overall rating of ‘requires
improvement’ for the Trust. In terms of the rating for each of the CQC’s five domains, the
Trust received the following;
Safe
Effective
Caring
Responsive
Well-Led

Requires improvement
Requires improvement
Good
Requires improvement
Requires improvement

Of the 16 individual reports published on core and specialist services, two were rated as
‘outstanding’, four as ‘good’ and 10 as ‘requires improvement’. No service was rated as
‘inadequate’.
The Trust put in place plans to address the comments made by the inspection team. Further
details on the action taken by the Trust are set out in Chapter 4 of this document
The CQC re-visited the Trust in March 2016 to gauge the progress being made on the action
plans in seven core services. The inspection reports were published in September 2016.
Four services were assessed as having moved from the ‘requires improvement’ to ‘good’:





Urgent care services
Child and adolescent mental health services
Older people’s mental health wards
Long stay rehabilitation wards

However, three services were still rated as ‘requires improvement’:




Community based mental health services for adults
Community based services for older people with mental health problems
Crisis and health based places of safety.

A number of areas for improvement were identified in these teams:


The Community Mental Health Teams and Crisis Team still had challenges
with staffing and relationships between the teams still needed to be improved;



Record keeping still had gaps. There was an action plan by the Trust in place
to address this and the Trust has kept the CQC informed of further progress
since their visit;



Community Mental Health Teams for older people also had inconsistent
record keeping. The CQC was concerned that application of the Mental
11

Capacity Act was not embedded in practice. Teams still worked in isolation
and practice and e-learning was not shared. However, a strategic review of
older people’s mental health services was being undertaken and caseload
sizes had been reduced.
The report published by the CQC commented that “We found the Trust had made
improvements to the services where we had identified concerns…” Staff were described as
“warm, kind and respectful” as well as engaged and enthusiastic about changes.
Following the re-inspection, of the 16 core services, the overall position of the Trust is as
follows:




two are rated as ‘outstanding’
eight are rated as ‘good’
six are rated as ‘requires improvement’.

The CQC also inspected the Trust Community Drug and Alcohol Teams in December 2016
and an overall rating of ‘good’ was received.
The Board has drawn on the conclusions of these inspections in developing the capital
investment programme for 2016/17, 2017/18 and the plans for 2018/19. The focus of the
programme is on investment in patient environments that are not fit for purpose. Early
priorities identified included:






investment in the psychiatric intensive care unit at St Ann’s Hospital in Poole
developing a sustainable solution for the Trust’s older people’s services
addressing acute mental health inpatient services in the west of the county
investigating the possible expansion of acute beds
resolving the issue of shared bedrooms for women at St Ann’s Hospital, Poole

These are all considered by the Board to be unavoidable commitments that are essential to
address those patient environments not fit for purpose. The Board has agreed that these
investments must be the first call on the Trust cash balances.
The Trust has also taken forward over 2016/17 the 17 recommendations following the
external review of our governance arrangements against the Monitor Well-led Framework.
By the end of the year, all recommendations had been implemented or had an agreed
approach and timetable for delivery.
More generally, oversight of the quality and effectiveness of the services inspected, and
others delivered by the Trust, is monitored through the performance management framework
of the organisation (which is addressed in more detail in section 3.1). Key to this is the
consideration by the Board, on a monthly basis, of an integrated corporate performance
dashboard. This sets out the key performance measures that have been identified by the
Board and tracks progress over the course of the year.
The dashboard sets out performance measures and progress under each of the five CQC
domains referred to above.
Core measures within the dashboard reflect the three domains of quality-patient experience,
patient safety and clinical effectiveness. Key issues and challenges in respect of the quality
of service delivery are set out in Chapter 4. This provides an annual evaluation of the quality
of our services and how we are seeking to improve them. The Report describes progress
against the quality priorities to maintain and improve patient safety, clinical effectiveness and
12

the experiences of people using our services. It also sets out our priority areas for 2017/18
and showcases innovative practice across services.
One of the key challenges and risks identified for the year was the delivery of the financial
plan. The Trust delivered a deficit of £1.3 million. This was ahead of the planned deficit of
£4 million. This performance includes the benefit of receiving £6.3m of Sustainability and
Transformation Funding.
The Trust’s financial performance history for the past 3 years is summarised below:
Year
Total Income
Deficit
%age of
£m
£m
Turnover
2016/17
261*
2015/16
251**
2014/15
246
Notes:
Total Income includes interest received
*includes discontinued operations
**restated

(1.3)
(1.9)
(1.5)

(0.49)
(0.76)
(0.63)

In terms of regulatory financial performance, the Single Oversight Framework applied from
Quarter 3 of 2016/17. Prior to this, Monitor’s Risk Assessment Framework (RAF) was in
place. The finance and use of resources theme is based on the scoring of five measures
from ‘1’ to ‘4’ where ‘1’ reflects the strongest performance. The Trust achieved the highest
Use of Resources score of 1 in both quarter 3 and quarter 4 as set in table below (this is
covered in more detail in section 3.5 of this report).
2016/17

Metric
Capital service
Financial
capacity
sustainability
Liquidity
Financial efficiency
I&E margin
Distance from
financial plan
Financial controls
Agency spend
Overall Use of Resources Score

2016/17 Q3 score
1

2016/17 Q4 score
1

1
1
1

1
1
1

1
1

1
1

The Trust is increasingly turning its attention to considering its impact on the environment
and the challenge of sustainability.
During the year, the Trust has taken forward the sustainable development implementation
plan. This plan is intended to deliver the ambitions of the sustainability policy in respect of
energy and carbon management, procurement and food, travel and transport, water, waste,
building design, organisation and workforce development, partnerships and networks,
governance and finance. More details are set out in Section 3.3 of this report.
The Trust has continued to place equality, diversity and human rights issues at the forefront
of its work in the organisation and the county as a whole. Details of the action taken and the
relevant Trust policies are set out in Section 3.3 of this report. The Trust continues to be
committed to delivering equality and diversity in the organisation and in Dorset. The Trust
has set clear goals to continue to work with national and local partners to achieve the best
outcomes for patients, staff and the local community.
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The Trust has continued to develop the services that it offers and invest in new facilities.
New initiatives and services over the year have included:


New Urgent Care Centre for Weymouth and Portland
The Weymouth and Portland Community Urgent Care Centre opened in July 2016.
The Centre provides treatment for people with non-life threatening injuries and urgent
medical problems. The facility brings care closer to home, reduces the need for trips
to Dorset County Hospital and offers a more efficient, joined-up service for patients.



New services for patients at St Ann’s Hospital in Poole
The new Purbeck Suite at St Ann’s Hospital opened this year. Boasting a modern
and spacious waiting room, specialist recovery area, refreshment facilities and
calming clinic rooms, the £500,000 state-of-the-art clinic in Poole for mental health
inpatients is helping transform their lives and support them on the road to recovery.



New Minor Injuries Unit at Bridport Hospital
A new minor injuries unit was opened at Bridport Community Hospital, giving patients
better access to urgent care and treatment. Comprising three large assessment
areas and a private suite for confidential sensitive discussions and examinations, the
Unit has improved access for patients and the environment in which they receive
care.



Improved radiology facilities at Blandford Community Hospital
Patients are benefitting from a £250,000 investment in state-of-the-art new X-ray
facilities following the completion of a major revamp project at Blandford Community
Hospital. Improvements have included new digital X-ray equipment and a dedicated
clinical ultrasound room.



Major investment in Psychiatric Intensive Care Unit for women (PICU)
Built at a cost of almost £3m, the PICU will ensure the Trust focuses on the physical
health needs of patients to ensure equity with the community while service users are
detained, including NHS health checks and national screening programmes . The
unit has been fully operational since January 2017 and has seen a significant
reduction in usage of out of area beds for females and reduced length of stay for all
service users out of area.

In summary, it has been a successful year for the Trust with the quality of services patient
outcomes and patient experience improving, and the operational financial performance of
the organisation remaining strong.
Modern Slavery statement
Modern slavery is the recruitment, movement, harbouring or receiving of children, women or
men through the use of force, coercion, abuse of vulnerability, deception or other means for
the purpose of exploitation. Individuals may be trafficked into, out of or within the UK, and
they may be trafficked for a number of reasons including sexual exploitation, forced labour,
domestic servitude and organ harvesting.

14
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3. Accountability Report
3.1 Directors’ Report
Board of Directors; Composition; Committees, Interests
Board Composition
The Board of Directors is responsible for managing the Trust, ensuring delivery of financial
performance, quality of services and ensuring all standards are achieved and targets are
met.
The Trust has a unitary Board, comprising the Chair, and during the year, seven other
independent Non-Executive Directors (NEDs), five Executive Directors and four (non-voting)
Associate Directors. From 1 April 2017 the composition of the Board became the Chair,
seven other independent Non-Executive Directors and seven Executive Directors .
Upon appointment to the Board of Directors, Board members receive a comprehensive
induction. Director training is reviewed and undertaken to ensure the Board is regularly
refreshed and Directors update their skills and knowledge.
The figure below summarises the formal roles of the Directors as part of a unitary Board and
when acting collectively in the Boardroom or undertaking distinctive Executive/NonExecutive roles outside of formal meetings:All directors acting collectively as a unitary Board
Establish and communicates the values and behaviours underpinning organisational culture.
Determine the organisation strategy from amongst options provided by the Executive.
Allocate resources using budgets.
Monitor performance.
Hold the Executive to account.
Executives / Executive Groups
Establish the operational controls by which
organisational objectives are met.
Hold management to account.

NEDs / Non-Executive-led Assurance
Committees
Using a risk based approach, acquire and
scrutinise assurances that the operational
controls are designed well and operating
effectively.

Directors participate in a variety of activities, such as visits to service areas, and learn about
the Trust in multiple ways. This provides content, insight and triangulation of information to
support evidence-based decision making.
The Board meets at least ten times per year in monthly formal Board meetings and also
undertakes other activities. The Board generally holds its meetings in public but there are
some occasions when the public are excluded from a ‘Part 2’ meeting in which matters of a
confidential nature are discussed. Regular reports from the Chief Executive and other
Executives are provided to ensure that the Board has an accurate and balanced assessment
of the Trust’s position and progress towards its objectives.
Workshops are held in most months throughout the year to raise Board effectiveness, to
discuss the development of strategic options and threats to their achievement. They are
used for building consensus for support of strategic options such as major business cases,
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submissions to tendering exercises, or significant transactions. The Non-Executive Directors
also meet together from time to time without the Executive Directors present.
Careful consideration has been given to the composition of the Board and the experience
required for managing an NHS Foundation Trust. This resulted in specific experience,
values and competencies being sought when appointments were made to the Board during
the year. This is to ensure that the Board of Directors is balanced and has the skills needed
to meet the objectives of the Trust. Currently our Non-Executive Directors have a wide range
of experiences including healthcare governance, strategy, social care, finance and
technology, which match the Trust’s needs well.
The Board regularly assesses its performance and its development needs primarily through
an annual self-assessment.
All of the Trust’s Non-Executive Directors are believed to be free of any connection to the
Trust which might be perceived to be likely to bias their judgement in their roles.
The Chair is responsible for the leadership of the Board of Directors and Council of
Governors, and for their effectiveness and for a constructive relationship being in place
between the two bodies. The Chair ensures the effectiveness in all aspects of their roles
whilst at the same time ensuring they work together effectively and constructively. The Chair
regularly reports to the Board the views expressed by Governors and by the Council as a
whole.
The Chair is also responsible for ensuring that both the Board and Council receive accurate,
timely and clear information to enable them to undertake their roles and responsibilities. The
Chair discloses other interests which could impact on the time available to perform the role.
These are set out, along with those of all Directors, in the register of interests, which appears
later in this chapter.
All Directors have signed declarations to abide by the Trust’s Code of Conduct for Directors.
They have each also made declarations as to compliance with the fit and proper persons
regulations.
The Board takes seriously the duties and responsibilities of its members, both individually
and collectively. Annual appraisals of the Chair, other Non-Executive Directors and
Executive Directors are carried out to review and develop performance.
Board Members
Ann Abraham, Non-Executive Director and Chair
(Appointed December 2013 as NED; Chair from April 2014 until 6 April 2017)
Ann Abraham was Parliamentary Ombudsman for the UK and Health Service Ombudsman
for England from 2002 to 2011. During her time in office she published a number of high
profile reports that identified failings in NHS care, including the care of older people (Care
and compassion) and people with learning disabilities (Six lives).
Ann was Legal Services Ombudsman for England and Wales from 1997 to 2002 and Chief
Executive of the National Association of Citizens Advice Bureau (now Citizens Advice) from
1991 to 1997. Her earlier career was spent in local government and the Housing
Corporation, where her particular focus was on housing and services for people with special
needs.
Ann served on the UK Committee on Standards in Public Life from 2000 to 2002 and was
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Chair of the British and Irish Ombudsman Association (now the Ombudsman Association)
from 2004 to 2006.
From 2012 to 2014 Ann was a Non-Executive Director of Health Education England, an
Arms-Length Body of the Department of Health, which provides national leadership, and
funding, for the education and training of the healthcare workforce. She is currently a
Trustee of the Picker Institute Europe, a not-for-profit organisation that works with patients,
professionals and policymakers to make patients’ views count in healthcare.
Ann stood down from the Board at the conclusion of her term of office on 6 April 2017, being
replaced as Chair by Andrew Willis.
Lynne Hunt, Non-Executive Director, Deputy Chair
(First appointed December 2013, reappointed for a second term of office until December
2019; Deputy Chair from May 2014)
Lynne qualified as a nurse in Dorset and after completion of her training she moved to
London. She worked in a range of clinical roles including as a Charge Nurse and Modern
Matron. She was the Associate Clinical Director of Forensic Services in Ealing. As Director
of Nursing and Quality at West London Mental Health NHS Trust, Lynne’s role included
responsibility for services at Broadmoor Hospital. She worked in this role for a number of
years, leaving the organisation in 2001 to take up the role of Executive Director of Nursing
and Service Development at Barnet, Enfield and Haringey Mental Health NHS Trust and she
also took on the remit of Deputy Chief Executive in this organisation.
After three years Lynne moved into the role of Deputy Chief Executive, Director of Nursing
and Partnerships and Chief Operating Officer at East London NHS Foundation Trust. Lynne
now lives in Dorset.
David Brook OBE, Non-Executive Director, Quality Governance Committee Chair
(First appointed January 2014, reappointed for a second term of office until January 2020)
David joined the RAF in 1982 and held early roles as an Engineering Officer. He served in
the UK, the Middle East and Sierra Leone.
After completing his MA in Defence Studies, David led the formulation and development of
RAF engineering strategy and policy, including Quality Management.
In 2004, David was appointed to RAF Odiham as Officer Commanding Forward Support
Wing. Two years later, David moved to HQ Strike Command where he was responsible for
the procurement of technical accommodation, upgrade of runways and aircraft operating
services, security systems, domestic accommodation, upgrade of electrical, water and
drainage systems for a major upgrade to a front line flying station.
In 2007 he joined the RNLI as Engineering and Supply Director. As a member of the
Executive Team he led the technical department of over 400 personnel dispersed throughout
the UK and Republic of Ireland.
In 2015 David became Managing Director and Bursar of Canford School.

19

John Hughes, Non-Executive Director
(Appointed 1 July 2015 resigned on 31 March 2017)
After graduating as a doctor from St George’s Hospital, London, John worked as a principal
in a GP practice for 33 years and was involved in the development of a successful practice
in South East Hampshire. He was Medical Director of Hampshire Community Health Care
between 2007 and 2010. In 2006 he became a Fellow of the Royal College after being
nominated by colleagues for his work in Primary Care. In 2009 he moved from clinical
medicine to concentrate solely on medical management and strategic development. Since
2010 he has been Group Medical Director of Sue Ryder.
John McBride, Non-Executive Director, Audit Committee Chair
(First appointed 1 August 2014, reappointed for a second term of office until July 2020)
John trained and qualified in accounting with Broxtowe Borough Council. He progressed
through a number of financial roles, before taking on wider leadership roles, including as
Chief Accountant at the City of York. He moved to Poole Council in the mid-80s and was
appointed Deputy Chief Executive of West Dorset Council in 1990. John then rejoined Poole
Council as Policy Director and was appointed Chief Executive in 2002. John has now retired
from the Council.
Sarah Murray, Non-Executive Director
(First appointed 1 August 2014, reappointed for a second term of office until July 2020)
Sarah began her career as a lawyer working for major London firm, Clifford Chance within
property and wider corporate areas. She then moved to a smaller firm in Bristol before
relocating to Brussels with her husband. On returning to the UK, Sarah set up her own
software/events business which she ran successfully for a number of years. Alongside this
work, Sarah was Chair of Hampshire Ambulance Service from 1998 to 2003 and a member
of the Prison Service Review Body from 2004 to 2008. Sarah is currently a lay member of
the Royal College of Surgeons Independent Review body and of the Society for
Cardiothoracic Surgery. She is also the Events Coordinator for the European Maritime Law
Organisation.
Peter Rawlinson, Non-Executive Director
(Appointed 1 October 2014 until September 2017)
After graduating in electrical engineering, Peter began his career in technology and
telecommunications, working for major businesses such as Plessy and Motorola where he
became Sales and Marketing Director and a member of the UK Board. In 1992 Peter then
joined BT Global Services, BT’s corporate and industrial service provider. This role then
moved into Vice President of Strategy and Development. Peter retired from executive
employment and has since held non-executive positions with a number of NHS Trusts, a
group of Academies where he is Chairman, the University of Bournemouth and the Stroke
Association where he is Vice Chair.
Nick Yeo, Non-Executive Director and Senior Independent Director
(First appointed 1 August 2014 until reappointed for a second term of office until July 2020)
Nick joined the NHS as a management trainee and spent a number of years moving through
management and director level roles with the NHS and the Department of Health. He took
on his first Chief Executive role with North Surrey PCT in 2002 and then moved over to East
Sussex PCT and then Hampshire Partnership NHS Trust, a mental health and social care
service provider. Nick’s final role in the NHS was as Director of Provider Development for
NHS South of England.
20

Ron Shields, Chief Executive Officer
(Appointed Interim Chief Executive October 2013; substantive appointment March 2014).
Ron brings a wealth of leadership experience in the NHS with more than 37 years’
experience in healthcare, including 25 years as a director in acute, community and mental
health trusts,18 of which have been as Chief Executive. His experience includes managing
large scale service redesign and organisational mergers.
Matthew Metcalfe, Executive Director of Finance and Strategic Development
(Appointed September 2016 as Director of Finance and Strategic Development)
Matthew became Director of Finance and Strategic Development at Dorset HealthCare in
September 2016. He is a widely experienced financial and commercial executive.
Matthew initially worked at University College London Hospitals when he entered the
healthcare industry in 2008. Since then he has had several finance director roles. Prior to
Dorset HealthCare Matthew was Director of Finance at Homerton University Hospital, an
acute and community services provider in East London.
Educated at King’s College London, Matthew qualified as a Chartered Accountant with
Arthur Andersen. Moving into Corporate Finance, Matthew became a director at Rothschild,
where he advised a variety of large organisations on strategic development and corporate
transactions.
Colin Hague, Executive Director of Human Resources
(Appointed in 2009 as Director of Human Resources)
Colin has spent his career in HR management. He was Head of HR at the Borough of Poole
Council between 1996 and 2009 responsible for leading HR service provision for over 5,000
employees, and responsible for HR arrangements at times of major organisational change
including Local Government Reorganisation.
Prior to that he was Head of HR Provider Services at the London Borough of Havering
where he worked between 1983 and 1996 providing a lead HR role for 8,500 staff. Colin also
undertook HR roles wIth Essex County Council and Basildon Council.
Colin will be retiring from the Trust in June 2017.
Fiona Haughey, Executive Director of Nursing and Quality
(Appointed to interim role February 2014, substantive appointment July 2014)
Fiona is passionate about the NHS and driving quality in all that we do. She has been in
senior leadership roles for the past 14 years and is the Director of Nursing and Quality.
Fiona has been employed by the NHS since qualifying as a general nurse in 1984 going on
to register as a mental health nurse and a health visitor. She has more than 17 years’ clinical
experience in general nursing, acute and community psychiatry and public health/health
visiting. Fiona completed a MSc in Leading for Quality with Ashridge Business School and
the Health Foundation in 2012 under the GenerationQ programme, achieving a distinction.
Fiona is committed and dedicated to improving the services we deliver to our patients and
service users to ensure they experience high quality care delivered with kindness and
compassion.
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Nick Kosky, Executive Medical Director
(Appointed 1 July 2015)
Nick has been a member of the Royal College of Psychiatrists since 1991, and a Fellow
since 2011. He has a longstanding interest in clinical audit, clinical governance and
supporting clinical colleagues to deliver the best services they can. Nick has chaired 2 NICE
guideline development groups and has undertaken various other roles at a national level.
Associate Directors holding non-voting Board roles:
Linda Boland, Locality Director (Poole/East Dorset) from October 2014 until March
2017
After achieving her Dip HSM Ireland, Linda spent nine years gaining General Management
experience within acute hospitals in the Republic of Ireland before embarking on an EU
Development Scholarship in Health Service Management based in the UK and France in
1998.
Since then she has held General/Senior Management posts within Mental Health Services in
Dorset. Linda was also formerly a Health Advisory Service Assessor, Trustee of the National
Children’s Bureau and Parent Governor at Corfe Hills School in Poole, Dorset.
Linda retired from the Trust at the end of March 2017.
Sally O’Donnell, Locality Director (Dorset) from October 2014 until April 2017
Sally originally joined the NHS as a Management Trainee. Having worked in the NHS for a
few years, she then spent nearly 10 years as managing director of a number of family food
and leisure businesses, including a company manufacturing pizzas for supermarket chains.
In 1990, she returned to the NHS and has since managed across a variety of health sectors,
including mental health, acute hospitals, learning disability and adult and children’s
community services and offender healthcare. She has held positions as a Director with
Dorset County Hospital and Dorset HealthCare for over 10 years.
Sally stood down from the role in April 2017.
Nicola Plumb, Director of Organisational Development, Participation & Corporate
Affairs from March 2014
Nicola is passionate about the NHS and has spent her career in the public sector since
graduating from Durham University with a Politics degree in 2000.
Nicola has held a variety of communications and development roles in the NHS and
Department of Health including working at NHS Bournemouth and Poole, Communications
Advisor to the NHS Chief Executive and most recently, working as Head of Brand for NHS
England.
Nicola became a voting Board Director in April 2017.
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Eugine Yafele, Locality Director (Bournemouth/Christchurch) from October 2014 until
March 2017 and Chief Operating Officer from April 2017
Eugine completed his MBA at Warwick Business School in 2013 and has significant clinical
leadership and operational management experience gained in both the NHS and the
independent sector. He has broad experience of partnership working and the development
of new models of care and clinical pathways to improve the experience of people using
health and social care services.
Eugine was appointed as Chief Operating Officer in April 2017 following a restructuring of
the Executive Team.
Director serving in year but who has left the Board:
Jackie Chai, Director of Finance
(Appointed September 2014, assumed role of Associate Director of Finance in August 2016)
New Board appointment since year end
Andy Willis Trust Chair April 2017
Andy was appointed Chair of Dorset HealthCare by the Council of Governors in February,
with his tenure staring in April 2017. Andy has a wealth of experience in non-executive roles
for organisations in the health, housing, education and third sectors.
A corporate lawyer by background, Andy specialises in corporate governance and
leadership development. He works both in the private sector and with organisations such as
The King's Fund and the NHS Leadership Academy, focusing on developing leadership
skills, improving governance and supporting change.
Formerly Vice-Chair and Senior Independent Director for Royal Devon and Exeter NHS
Foundation Trust, he has also served on NHS boards in Bristol, Somerset and Southampton.
Attendance at Board of Directors’ Meetings 2016/17
The table which follows shows the number of meetings attended by each Board Member and
the maximum number of meetings that they could have attended:Name

Attendance /
maximum attendance

Title

Directors in post as at 31 March 2017
A Abraham

Non-Executive Director, Chair

12/12

L Hunt

Non-Executive Director, Deputy Chair

10/12

D Brook

Non-Executive Director

10/12

J Hughes

Non-Executive Director

5/12

J McBride

Non-Executive Director

12/12

S Murray

Non-Executive Director

10/12

P Rawlinson

Non-Executive Director

12/12
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N Yeo

Non-Executive Director

12/12

R Shields

Chief Executive Officer

10/12

M Metcalfe

Director of Finance and Strategic
Development

C Hague

Executive Director of HR

10/12

F Haughey

Executive Director of Nursing & Quality

11/12

N Kosky

Medical Director

8/12

6/6

Associate Directors holding non-voting Board roles in post as at 31 March 2017
L Boland

Locality Director (Poole/East Dorset)

11/11

S O’Donnell

Locality Director (Dorset)

10/12

Director of Organisational Development,
Participation & Corporate Affairs
Locality Director
(Bournemouth/Christchurch)

11/12

N Plumb
E Yafele

11/12

Directors no longer in post as at 31 March 2017
J Chai

5/6

Executive Director of Finance

Board Committees
The Board has approved schedule of matters which it reserves to itself. These include the
power to set the vision, strategic aims, objectives and budget for the Trust.
Other matters are delegated to Board Committees, which operate within defined terms of
reference.
Audit Committee
Comprising independent Non-Executive Directors, the Committee provides the Trust with the
means of independent and objective review of all internal control systems and risk
management. The Committee discharges its responsibilities through the consideration of
reports generated by management and also from independent sources including Internal
Audit services provides by TIAA; External Audit services provided by PwC and Counter
Fraud services.
Audit Committee Attendance 2016/17
Member
John McBride (Committee Chair), Non-Executive
Director
Lynne Hunt, Non-Executive Director (until October
2016)
Nick Yeo, Non-Executive Director
David Brook, Non-Executive Director (from October
2016)
Peter Rawlinson, Non-Executive Director

Attendance / maximum attendance
5/5
3/3
5/5
2/2
5/5

The significant issues that the Audit Committee considered during the year related to:
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The Board’s assurance framework which sets out information relating to the controls
over the greatest risks faced by the organisation. The framework received
significant attention in 2016/17;



Significant findings arising from the work of internal audit, including a conclusion of
reasonable assurance in respect of the Trust’s system of internal controls;



Matters discussed with the external auditors during the year, including their annual
audit plan, which sets out the key areas of focus for the external audit, and their
report to the Audit Committee following completion of the external audit, risks
associated with income and expenditure recognition, the valuation of the Trust’s
estate and the impact on the outcome of the CQC inspection on the ‘use of
resources’ element of the external auditor’s year end opinion;



the financial challenge faced by the Trust over the medium term;



organisational resilience in the context of a competitive environment characterised
by change and uncertainty;



Reports on fraud cases and investigations from the Trust’s Local Counter Fraud
Specialist. The Committee has considered the learning and actions that the Trust
has taken to strengthen process and procedures to minimise the risk of
reoccurrence and increase prevention;



The Trust’s risks in respect of cyber-security;



The Committee made recommendations to the Council of Governors on the policy
for supply of additional work in respect of External Audit and arrangements for
tendering for External Audit services.

The Trust’s external auditors are appointed by the Council of Governors. The appointment
process includes a report and recommendation from the Trust’s Audit Committee. The
current auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (‘PwC’). The appointment commenced in
2013/14 and was due to expire at the end of the 2015/16 audit. Following an assessment by
the Audit Committee, and a recommendation to the Council of Governors, the Council
agreed to a contract extension of two further years.
The fee payable to PwC for external audit services in 2016/17 was £68,055.
The Audit Committee continues to consider auditor independence and objectivity throughout
the year.
More information about the Committee’s role is given in the Annual Governance Statement
later in this Annual Report
Quality Governance Committee
The Committee acquires and scrutinises assurances that the organisation has a combination
of structures and processes at and below Board level that equip it to deliver high-quality
services.
The Quality Governance Committee (QGC) focusses on providing assurances in respect of
quality governance in the Trust. In doing so, this approach takes account of both the Quality
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Governance Framework and the Well-Led Framework. It meets quarterly. It seeks
assurance that internal controls over quality are designed well and operating effectively.
Quality Governance Committee Attendance 2016/17
Member
L Hunt, Non-Executive Director (Committee Chair),
D Brook Non-Executive Director
N Yeo, Non-Executive Director
J Hughes, Non-Executive Director
S Murray, Non-Executive Director
R Shields, Chief Executive Officer
N Kosky, Medical Director (from July 2015)
F Haughey, Director of Nursing & Quality

Attendance / maximum attendance
5/5
1/5
5/5
3/5
3/5
3/5
3/5
5/5

The Trust’s quality governance structure and performance for the year is explained in depth
within our Quality Report in chapter 4 of this Annual Report.
The framework within the Trust for overseeing quality governance is set out below.
The Board retains ultimate responsibility for service quality and quality governance in the
Trust. The Board receives an integrated dashboard including a quality dashboard covering
all three domains of quality: patient experience, patient safety and clinical effectiveness. This
is alongside reports from the Quality Governance Committee.
The QGC provides further scrutiny of the quality of services. This Committee is underpinned
by the Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group, which meets monthly to examine the
internal quality and clinical processes and provide an in-depth review of the data in order to
assure the QGC as to the adequacy of the systems operated by the organisation.
Alongside this, performance against the Trust quality priorities is monitored by the Board on
a quarterly basis.
The Board also monitors performance against the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
(CQUIN) targets as agreed with our commissioners. This information is also set out in our
Quality Report. In 2016/17, whilst we did not achieve the 75% threshold for improving the
uptake of flu vaccinations for frontline staff, Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group, as our
commissioner, is considering whether or not to withhold payment of the CQUIN.
The Quality Report also sets out performance against key health care targets. Our
performance against a core set of indicators set by the Department of Health and Monitor is
reported showing comparison, where applicable, against the Q4 position 2016/17.
The Trust arrangements in respect of quality governance were subject to reviews by the
CQC and against the Monitor Well-Led Framework in 2015. Following the CQC re-inspection
of seven core services undertaken in March 2016 the Trust now has a refreshed quality
improvement plan to address the findings. Progress is reported monthly to the Trust
Executive Board and supported at an operational level by the Program Management Office
which monitors that all actions are being implemented including those which are not yet due.
The core services are supported by Quality Assurance Visits which monitor progress to
ensure the actions being implemented are achieving the required outcomes.
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Formal reporting through this structure is supplemented by Non-Executive and Executive
Director visits to wards and teams to hear and observe first-hand the quality of care being
delivered. This enhances the line of sight from Board to ward and allows the opportunity for
the triangulation of information.
Complaints provide a further opportunity for triangulation.
The Trust welcomes complaints as constructive feedback to enable us to continually improve
our services. We are committed to responding to complaints in a fair, impartial and open way
and within a reasonable timeframe. Complaints provide a real barometer of what happens in
the Trust, how the public feel about the services they receive and the extent to which
professionals and services are genuinely responsive to the patient’s needs. Complaints
provide a real opportunity for us to learn and to drive improvement in our services.
The Trust’s performance in this respect of complaints management is considered through a
quarterly report.
Alongside this, a Complaints Review Group is in place. This involves service users and
others (such as Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group, Dorset Advocacy, Healthwatch
Dorset, local patient groups) who are in a position to comment on or influence our
services. The Group takes a case study approach to reviewing issues worthy of in-depth
study. They are also given the opportunity to meet with Board Directors and clinicians
directly involved in care to review particular themes that arise from complaints.
Mental Health Legislation Assurance Committee and Mental Health Act Panel Members
In January 2015 the Board established this Committee as a specialist arm of the Quality
Governance Committee.
The Trust operates a clear separation of the Non-Executive role in acquiring and scrutinising
assurances as to quality governance in mental health services (by the Committee) and that
of conducting the review process for detained patients in accordance with the required
provisions of Mental Health legislation, undertaken by Mental Health Act Panel Members.
Four Non-Executive Directors have been trained, alongside other independent lay people, in
mental health legislation, and will act as a pool, from which a panel of three will be drawn to
consider any individual case.
Mental Health Legislation Assurance Committee
Member
Attendance / maximum attendance
S Murray (Committee Chair), Non-Executive Director
4/4
A Abraham, Trust Chair
4/4
L Hunt, Non-Executive Director
4/4
Fiona Haughey, Director of Nursing and Quality
3/4
Nick Kosky, Medical Director
4/4
Appointments and Remuneration Committee
Details of the role and membership of the Committee are set out in section 3.2 of this Annual
Report.
Charitable Funds Committee
The Board is the Corporate Trustee of the Trust charity. The Charitable Funds Committee
has been established by the Board to make and monitor arrangements for the control and
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management of the Charitable Fund investments of the Trust and to allocate funds to
appropriate projects.

Charitable Funds Committee
Member
L Hunt (Committee Chair), Non-Executive Director
A Abraham
P Rawlinson, Non-Executive Director
J Chai, Director of Finance
Sarah Murray
M Metcalfe Director of Finance and Strategic
Development
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Attendance / maximum attendance
4/4
1/4
4/4
1/2
3/4
1/2

Register of Interests of Directors 2016/17
The Register of Interests declared by Board Directors as at 31 March 2017 is set out below:

Name

Interests Declared

Ann Abraham
(Non-Executive Director)
David Brook
(Non-Executive Director)



Lynne Hunt
(Non-Executive Director)

 Specialist advisor to the Care Quality Commission
 Director of Lynne Jay Hunt Consulting

John McBride
(Non-Executive Director)



Sarah Murray
(Non-Executive Director)

Nick Yeo
(Non-Executive Director)

 Lay reviewer: Independent Review Process of the Royal
College of Surgeons
 Lay advisor: Society for Cardiothoracic Surgery
 Lay representative: National Adult Cardiac Surgery Audit
 Lay representative: College of Clinical Perfusionist
Scientists
 Son-in-law is a Management Trainee at Poole Hospital NHS
Foundation Trust

Peter Rawlinson
(Non-Executive Director)

 Trustee, Education Development Trust
 Chairman & Trustee, the Stroke Association

John Hughes
(Non-Executive Director)




Medical Director - Sue Ryder Charity
GP Specialist Advisor to CQC

Ron Shields
Chief Executive



Wife is an NHS Director of Specialist Service
Commissioning

Fiona Haughey
Director of Nursing &
Quality
Nicholas Kosky
Medical Director

None

Colin Hague
Director of Human
Resources

Trustee of the Picker Institute Europe

 Managing Director & Bursar, Canford School

Elected Council Member of the RNLI in an advisory and
voluntary role

Chair of Guideline Development Group at NICE (MH adults
in contact with CJS (Criminal Justice System)
 Member of Guideline Development Group at NICE (physical
health, people in prison)
 Trustee of ‘The Horse Course’ non-profit making charity
delivering Equine Assisted Therapy to socially
disadvantaged
 Director, Waddon Productions – film and visual production
company





Chair/Editor of CIPFA Technical Information Service for HR
Provider of HR advice to Connect for Hampshire CCGs and
Oversight Group
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Matthew Metcalfe
Director of Finance &
Strategic Development



Chairman of Paypal Giving Fund UK

Nicola Plumb
Director of Organisational
Development, Participation
& Corporate Affairs



Partner is a Trust employee

Sally O’Donnell
Locality Director - Dorset

None

Linda Boland
Locality Director – Poole /
East Dorset




Husband appointed as National Clinical Lead for Help for
Heroes
Husband has a contract with Dorset County Council

Eugine Yafele
Locality Director Bournemouth /
Christchurch



Wife is employed as a Nurse practitioner in the Trust

Council of Governors
Composition of the Council of Governors
At the end of 2016/17 the Council of Governors comprised 27 Governors under the
leadership of the Trust Chair and the elected Lead Governor:





14 Public Governors:
o 8 from Dorset/rest of England Constituency
o 3 from Bournemouth Constituency
o 3 from Poole Constituency
5 Staff Governors
8 Partner Governors.

The composition of the Council was adjusted during 2016/17 to allow representation from
the Network of the League of Friends in Dorset.
The role of the Council is set out in the law, in the Constitution and in the Trust’s own
Governance Manual, including terms of reference for the Council and its Committees.
The Council assesses its own performance annually.
Council Roles and Responsibilities
The Council of Governors has some statutory responsibilities. These include:
 Appointing and if required removing the Trust Chair
 Appointing and if required removing the other Non-Executive Directors
 Approving the appointment of the Chief Executive
 Appointing and if required removing the Trust’s Auditors
 Holding the Non-Executive Directors to account for the performance of the Board
 Representing the interests of Members
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Receiving the annual report and accounts.

Some other key roles include:




Approving any amendments to the Constitution
Approving any significant transactions
Approving any plans to increase the Trust’s non-NHS income by more than 5% of its
current level, whatever that may be.

The Council commissioned, from Folio Partnership, an externally facilitated self-assessment
of its performance in 2015. The report formed the basis of an action plan for 2016/17,
focussing on developing and implementing a membership recruitment and engagement plan
and developing the mechanisms for holding NEDs to account for the performance of the
Board. Both actions have been completed in 2016/17.
Appointments and Remuneration Committee
The Council has an Appointments and Remuneration Committee which meets, as and when
required, to advise on the appointment and remuneration of Non-Executive Directors.
The Committee periodically reviews the numbers, structure and composition of NonExecutive Directors, to reflect the expertise and experience required, and then makes
recommendations to the Council of Governors. The Committee also develops succession
plans for Non-Executive Directors, taking into account the challenges and opportunities
facing the Trust. It keeps the leadership requirements of the Trust under review, to ensure
the continued ability to provide cost effective, high quality and appropriate health services.
The members of the Committee during the year were Ann Abraham, Chris Balfe, Scottie
Gregory, Jan Owens, Angela Bartlett, Karen Parker and Patricia Scott.
The Committee met three times in 2016/17 to recruit a new Chair for the Trust.
Lead Governor
Chris Balfe was re-elected by the Council as the Lead Governor in September 2016 for a
period of one year, renewable for a maximum of three terms in total.
The Trust has developed a role description for the Lead Governor which goes above and
beyond the ‘point of contact’ role described by in the NHS Foundation Trust Code of
Governance. At Dorset HealthCare the role also includes the following:
1. Encouraging positive engagement by Governors to respond to Board reports, plans,
consultations and proposed actions when required;
2. Building trust and confidence within the Council of Governors;
3. Ensuring there are effective systems to welcome and induct new governors, in
conjunction with the Trust ;
4. Encouraging all governors to engage in training and development;
5. Working with the Chair, ensuring that all Governors are aware of their collective
responsibilities;
6. Representing the views of the Council of Governors where necessary and provide
constructive challenge to the Chair and other Non-Executive Directors;
7. Preparing for meetings of the Council of Governors with the Chair and Trust
Secretary to ensure agendas are appropriately focussed;
8. Working with the Senior Independent Director in collating the input of Governors to
the performance appraisal of the Chair;
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9. Working with the Trust Chair in collating the input of Governors to the Performance
Appraisal of Non-Executive Directors;
10. Be a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee in the process of
appointing the Chair and other Non-Executive Directors;
11. Act as point of contact with NHS Improvement where it would not be appropriate for
other channels to be used (not normally required);
12. Raise with NHS Improvement any Governor concerns that the Foundation Trust is at
risk of significantly breaching the terms of its authorisation, having made every
attempt to resolve any such concerns locally (not normally required)
Links with the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors and Council of Governors work closely together to improve the
quality and flow of information and to aid transparency.
The Board and Council have agreed a policy for engagement which sets out how the Council
will hold the Board to account, the communication flow between the two bodies and the
process for managing disagreements. During the year there have been no substantive areas
of disagreement between the Board and the Council.
The CQC inspection in June 2015 and, in particular, the external review of the Trust against
the Monitor Well-led Framework both recognised the healthy relationship of support and
constructive challenge between the two bodies.
All Governors have been able to participate in Non-Executive Director appraisals by way of
feeding information into the process. They are informed of the outcome of the appraisals.
Governor Elections and Appointments
UK Engage acts as the Returning Officer for all of the Trust’s Staff Governor and Public
Governor elections.
A number of Governors reached the end of their term of office or resigned during the year
•
•
•
•
•

Michael Bevan
Steve Clark
Sue Evans Thomas
Teresa North
Pat Hedges

Dorset County Council
Staff Governor
Poole
Staff
Bournemouth

The following Governors were elected in 2016/17 to fill vacancies .
•
•
•

Judith Adda
Pat Hedges
Stefan Morawiec

Bournemouth Constituency
Bournemouth Constituency
Dorset and the Rest of England

The following Partner Governors were appointed in 2016/17
•
•
•

Bobbie Dove
Jill Haynes
Steve Cole

Bournemouth Borough Council
Dorset County Council
Network of the League of Friends
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Meetings of the Council of Governors
The Council of Governors meets a minimum of four times a year on a quarterly basis. The
meetings are held in public and are advertised on the Trust website.
The table below lists all the Governors in 2016/17, their constituency, term of office and the
number of meetings attended from the maximum they could have attended, depending upon
time of appointment or leaving the Council.
Governors are asked to declare any interests of note in a Register of Interests at the time of
their appointment and changes are notified to the Trust secretary during the year. The
Register is available for inspection by members of the public and is available via the Trust
website. All Governors have signed declarations to abide by the Trust’s Code of Conduct for
Governors.
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Council of Governors’ attendance, and Register of Interests as at 31 March 2017

Name

Interests Declared

Meetings
attended 2016/17
and maximum
possible

Patricia Scott
Public Governor,
(Poole)

Speakability Charity

Anna Webb
Public Governor,
(Poole)

Peer Specialist, Dorset Mental Health Forum

6/6

John Bruce
Public Governor,
(Bournemouth)

Holds a Management position in Leidos who has
a division that provides healthcare orientated
software – currently a separate division and no
current operation in the UK but situation may
change in 2017/18.
None

3/6

Director and Chair, The Federation Coffee
Company Ltd
 Chair, Salon (Brixton) Ltd
 Trustee, Dorset Mental Health Forum
 Volunteer, Citizens Advice Bureau,
Weymouth
 Member of PPEG
 Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
 Secretary to Christchurch Helpful Neighbours
Scheme
 Board Member New Forest Villages Housing
Association
 Member of the National Steering Committee
Wellbeing Our Way National Voices
None

6/6

Justine
McGuinness
Public Governor
(Dorset RoEW)

None

1/6

Jan Owens
Public Governor
(Dorset RoEW)

Trustee, Dorset Mental Health Forum

3/6

Angela Reed
Public Governor
(Dorset RoEW)

None

3/6

Judith Adda
Public Governor,
(Bournemouth)
Chris Balfe,
Lead Governor,
Public Governor
(Dorset RoEW)
Scottie Gregory
Public Governor
(Dorset RoEW)

Sue Howshall
Public Governor
(Dorset RoEW)

4/6
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3/4

6/6

4/6

Jan Turnbull
Public Governor
(Dorset RoEW)

Chair, Friends of Swanage Hospital

Stefan Morawiec
Public Governor
(Dorset RoEW)



Angela Bartlett
Staff Governor

Director, Phoenix Accounting Consultancy Ltd
(working in overseas developing countries)

5/6

Pat Cooper
(Staff Governor)
Peter Kelsall
(Staff Governor)

Secretary, Friends of Swanage Hospital

6/6

Wife Kay Kelsall
 Works for Weldmar Hospicecare Trust
 Is a Mental Health Act Panel Member –
Dorset HealthCare
None

6/6

Vice Chairman, Dorset County Council Health
Scrutiny Committee

4/6

Councillor Dorset County Council

0/1

None

4/6

Employee of BU with which the Trust has a MOU.

2/6

Chief Executive, Dorset Mental Health Forum

6/6

Bobbie Dove
Partner Governor,
(Bournemouth
Borough Council)
Bill Batty-Smith,
Partner Governor,
(Dorset District
Councils)
Gill Haynes,
Partner Governor,
Local Government,
Dorset County
Council
Vishal Gupta,
Partner Governor,
(Poole Borough
Council)
Karen Parker,
Partner Governor,
(Bournemouth
University)
Becky Aldridge,
(Service user,
voluntary and carer
groups)



Partner in a consortium which owns a medical
practice building
Employee and aHelp and Care
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5/6

4/4

3/4

Attendance for Governors who left during the year was as follows
Michael Bevan (Dorset County Council)
Steve Clark (Staff Governor)
Sue Evans Thomas (Poole)
Pat Hedges (Bournemouth)
Teresa North (Staff)

0/2
3/3
3/3
0/1
1/2

The terms of office of all Governors expires in 2017.
The Trust Membership: Public and Staff Constituencies
It is the Trust’s policy that the Membership will be representative of the community we serve.
Anyone living in Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset (or the rest of England) and who is aged at
least 11 years is welcome to become a Public Member of the Trust.
The three Public Constituencies are:




Poole (the electoral area covered by Poole Borough Council)
Bournemouth (the electoral area covered by Bournemouth Borough Council)
Dorset /rest of England & Wales (the electoral area covered by Dorset County Council
and the rest of England and Wales).

The table below shows the number of members in each constituency area:
Membership sub/constituency

31 March 2016

31 March 2017

938

861

2,291

2,150

1,221

1,088

4,450

4,099

7,139

6,302

11,596

10,401

Poole
Dorset /rest of England and Wales
Bournemouth
Total
Staff Members
Grand total

The Trust recognises a ‘ladder of engagement’ amongst its Members, starting with the
passive receipt of information sent out by the Trust and, at its height, being exemplified by
an active, representative, committed elected staff or public Governor. In between there are
those who respond to information and surveys; some who come to meetings and events or
vote in elections; others who express an interest in nominating themselves for election; and
a few who do so and who may win an election, becoming a Governor.
The benefits to the local community and to the Trust include:




We can listen to and respond to the voice of local people
We strengthen links with our local communities
We can reduce stigma through effective information provision
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We can consult with local people about future developments

The Trust has set out its aim to increase the number of public members it has and to hold
more engagement events. The membership has declined over the years; however this
cannot be attributed to any particular reason. A Membership Strategy was agreed in 2015
and a recruitment and engagement plan developed and taken forward in 2016/17.
Canvassing the opinion of the Trust’s Members
The Trust uses its corporate resources and the Governors themselves to collect information
by way of surveys, listening to staff, patients, carers and other stakeholders; participation in
multi-organisation forums and using established and newer social media channels to
understand what members want.
We encourage our members to make contact with their elected Governors through the
membership office and our website. Opportunities to make contact on specific areas of
potential interest to members are made available through the publication of Next Steps, the
quarterly newsletter produced for all Trust members.
Members are invited to the Council of Governors meetings, where they can talk informally
with Governors and also observe the meeting’s business. The formal link for members who
wish to contact their representative Governors, or the members of the Board, is via the Trust
Secretary, who can be contacted on 0808 100 3318 or via email:membership@nhs.net
To become a member of the Trust, simply visit the Trust website:
www.dorsethealthcare.nhs.uk
Alternately, write to us at:
FREEPOST RTGL-YAKR-CLGZ
Dorset HealthCare
4-6 Nuffield Road
Nuffield Industrial Estate
Poole BH17 0RB
Directors’ Report Disclosures and Statements
The Trust is required to include in this report certain statements and disclosures. These are
set out below:
Political Donations
The Trust made no political donations in 2016/17.
Better Payment Practice Code
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the payment of undisputed invoices by the due
date or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later for 95% of all
invoices received by the Trust. The Trust has fallen just short of the 95% target in 2016/17.
Plans were put in place in 2016/17 to improve the Trust’s performance in this area as
infrastructure and systems for processing invoices were no longer sustainable based on
volumes received. This has resulted in a substantially improved position during the year.
Further developments are planned for next year such that a return to target is expected in
2017/18.
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Non-NHS Trade Creditors
Measure of Compliance
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in year
Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within
target
2015-16 comparable figures

Number
59,992
55,335
94%

£000s
65.3
58.5
92%

75%

78%

Number
1,480
1,049
73%
60%

£000s
50.8
45.2
90%
94%

NHS Creditors
Measure of Compliance
Total NHS trade invoices paid in year
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target
2015-16 comparable figures

The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
The Trust was required to make payments of interest under the Late Payment of
Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 amounting to £2k (2015/16 £7k).
Income disclosures required by Section 43(2A) of the NHS Act 2006
The Trust’s income for 2016/17 was £261 million (2015/16: £251 million restated) arising
from the main contracts with Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS England and
Dorset County Council.
Income received for activities other than the provision of healthcare services amounted to
6.3% of total income (2015/16: 4.0% restated). The Trust has met the requirement, as set
out in Section 43(2A) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act
2012), that the income from the provision of goods and services for the purposes of the
health service in England must be greater than income from the provision of goods and
services for any other purposes. All income received is used for the purposes of providing
healthcare services.
Cost Allocation and Charging Guidance
The Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging guidance issued by HM
Treasury.
Statement as to the Disclosure to Auditors
For each individual who is a Director at the time this report is approved:


So far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
NHS foundation trust’s auditor is unaware and



The Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director in
order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the NHS foundation trust’s auditor is aware of that information.

The Board has done this through:
 making enquiries of fellow Directors and of the Trust’s auditors for that purpose
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 taking such other steps (where required) as are required as a Director of the Trust to
exercise reasonable care, skill and diligence.
The Annual Governance Statement in section 3.7 of this Report set out the risks to the
business and our future developments.
Directors’ responsibilities
The Chief Executive, as Accounting Officer, is responsible for the regularity and propriety of
the Trust’s financial management. These responsibilities and the responsibilities for the
financial accounts are detailed in the Statement of Accounting Officers Responsibilities set
out elsewhere in this Annual Report. The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report and Accounts in accordance with laws and regulations under directions issued by
Monitor. The financial statements meet the accounting requirements of Department of Health
group accounting manual. The accounting policies follow International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury’s Resource Accounting Manual to the extent that they
are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS. The accounts represent a true and fair position
of the Trust.
The Directors consider the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, are fair,
balanced and understandable and provide the information necessary for patients, regulators
and other stakeholders to assess the NHS Foundation Trust’s performance, business model
and strategy.
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3.2 Remuneration Report
The Remuneration Report is not subject to audit, except the elements specifically identified
as being subject to audit.
This remuneration report is prepared in compliance with the relevant sub-sections of the
Companies Act 2006 s420-422; Regulation 11 and Parts 3 and 5 of Schedule 8 of the Large
and Medium Sized Companies and Group (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008; Parts
2 and 4 of Schedule 8 of those Regulations as adopted by Monitor within the Annual
Reporting Manual and also, elements of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance.
The Remuneration Report discloses information on those persons in senior positions having
authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the Trust. The
Board has determined that such persons are those who routinely attend Board meetings and
which, at the end of the year under review, comprise the Chair, seven Non-Executive
Directors, five Executive Directors and four Associate Directors. All are identified in section
3.1. A new operational leadership structure took effect on 1 April 2017. The Locality Director
for Poole and East Dorset stood down from the role on 6 April 2017. The Locality Director
for Dorset stood down from the role on 22 April 2017. The Director of Human Resources will
leave in June 2017; his successor will commence in the summer of 2017.
The Remuneration Report comprises three sections:
•
•
•

Annual statement on remuneration by the Appointments and Remuneration
Committee Chair
Senior managers’ remuneration policy
Annual report on remuneration (of which some information is subject to audit).

Annual statement on remuneration by the Appointments and Remuneration
Committee Chair
The major decisions on senior managers’ remuneration;
The pay of Executive Directors was reviewed by the Appointments and Remuneration
Committee in September 2016 and, with the exception of the Director of Finance and
Strategic Development who was newly appointed in 2016, increased by 1% in line with the
cost of living award made to staff on national terms and conditions of service. This decision
was made following consideration that historically the baseline salary for Directors had been
consistent with the maximum pay point of Agenda for Change Band 9. Following the
application of the pay award for 2016/17, the baseline salary for Directors was below the
maximum pay point of Agenda for Change Band 9.
Eugine Yafele, formerly Locality Director for Bournemouth and Christchurch, was appointed
to the new post of Chief Operating Officer on 1 April 2017 following a formal interview
process involving stakeholders and containing external candidates. In determining the
salary for the new post, account was taken of benchmarking data to ensure value for money
and equity with similar posts in other Trusts.
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Any substantial changes relating to senior managers’ remuneration made during the year;
The context in which those changes occurred and decisions have been taken;
The Appointments and Remuneration Committee received an annual remuneration report
from the Chief Executive in July 2016 and February 2017. The Committee noted the need to
monitor pay differentials between Directors and their first line reports following the leadership
restructure which was implemented on 1 April 2017.
Peter Rawlinson, Chair, Appointments and Remuneration Committee
Senior Managers’ Remuneration Policy
The following information constitutes the senior managers’ remuneration policy of the Trust.
There was appropriate engagement with those employees affected by the policy.
Future Remuneration Policy
The Appointments and Remuneration Committee takes a forward-looking approach to
remuneration, and will consider the following in 2017/18:•

The identification of any significant employment group about which it is anticipated
there might be remuneration issues over the next 12-18 months;

•

The consequential impact on remuneration arrangements of any planned
organisational changes;

•

The pay bill for senior staff (which would be defined).

The Committee recognises that it is important not to extend its remit into the remuneration
arrangements which were the province of the Executive. However, it is considered
appropriate for assurance to be provided in respect of the appropriateness of pay
arrangements for those staff groups outside its remit. This will be provided on an exception
reporting basis.
The bi-annual review of the overall remuneration strategy for the Trust, which will be
considered in July 2017, will provide the basis for identifying potential options for addressing
any recruitment difficulties.
The Appointments and Remuneration Committee acknowledges the merits in the Trust being
part of the national Agenda for Change framework. One reason for this has been the
concern to ensure that equal pay principles apply. The Committee has broadly concluded
that, with the exception of Executive Directors, the Trust pay strategy should be to remain
within the national Agenda for Change scheme. Discretion beyond Agenda for Change rates
is, however, an area where attention may be appropriate to help ensure suitability of staffing
and attract and retain high quality staff. An overriding consideration has been the
importance of ensuring that the Trust approach to pay and decisions regarding pay is
consistent with the performance of the organisation. A policy and approach for the
remuneration of Chief Executive, Operational and Locality Directors was introduced in
February 2016.
The Committee’s Terms of Reference require that levels of remuneration be sufficient to
attract, retain and motivate high calibre directors with the skills and experience required to
lead the Trust successfully but the Trust should avoid paying more than is necessary for this
purpose. It is recognised that our Executive Directors, Operational and Locality Directors
are role models for the current and future generation of leaders, requiring high standards of
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leadership, operational, clinical, strategic and/or financial skills and experience. High
performance is expected. Remuneration will reflect the skills, expertise, experience and
level of responsibility necessary to deliver first class services and meet both short- and longterm objectives of the Trust.”
Senior Manager Remuneration components
Role
Chief Executive
Medical Director*
Director of Nursing & Quality
Director of Finance
Director of HR
Locality Directors
Director of Organisation Development &
Participation
Director of Strategy & Business Development

Basic
salary

Board
Pension allowance

* The Medical Director retains a Consultant salary under national pay and conditions
of service for doctors and receives an allowance for Board responsibilities.
Basic salary - Salaries for very senior managers in the Trust have been determined by
the Appointments and Remuneration Committee taking into account the weight and
range of their responsibilities and involving consideration of benchmarking data of
Director roles against those in comparable Trusts. It also considered the differential
between the direct reports of Directors who are subject to Agenda for Change national
pay rates in the context of the level of additional responsibility and accountability of
Directors. Account was also taken of trends in the public sector, austerity measures,
equitable pay, competition for talent within the NHS sector and the relative size and
complexity of competitor provider organisations.
Pension – Pension contributions are made by both the senior managers and the Trust in
accordance with the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.
Board allowance – the Medical Director retains a clinical component to the role and, as such,
receives a full-time Consultant salary in accordance with national terms and conditions for
doctors, and receives an allowance for Board responsibilities.
The performance of all very senior managers, with the exception of the Chief Executive, is
reviewed by the Chief Executive. The Chief Executive's performance is reviewed by the
Trust Chair in conjunction with the Appointments and Remuneration Committee. The Chair's
performance is reviewed by the Senior Independent Director who gathers views from the
other members of the Board of Directors and the views of the Council of Governors, via the
Lead Governor. The other Non-Executive Directors are reviewed by the Trust Chair. A
process is used which allows the Council's perceptions on performance to be included and
reflected within the Non-Executive review. The Trust does not operate a performance
related pay framework. There were no recorded performance concerns relating to very
senior managers during 2016/17.
The Chief Executive is the only very senior manager whose pay exceeds £142,000 p.a.
Payment to the Medical Director also exceeds this sum, however the largest component of
his salary relates to his clinical duties. The remuneration of very senior managers (Chief
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Executive and Executive Directors) is determined by the Appointments and Remuneration
Committee which makes decisions based on consideration of benchmarking data, market
influences and comparison of rates of pay for similar posts in NHS organisations nationally,
together with the scope and complexity of roles and responsibilities. The Committee
reviewed the Trust’s approach to very senior manager pay in July 2015 and considered that
it was consistent with the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance. The remuneration of
very senior managers has not been reviewed in 2016/17 other than in the context of the 1%
cost of living award made to Agenda for Change staff.
As a general principle, there is a common ‘baseline’ salary for Executive Director’s
equivalent to the Agenda for Change Band 9 maxima. It is recognised that certain executive
roles may carry additional duties and responsibilities which warrant a higher level of
remuneration and individual cases are considered by the Appointments and Remuneration
Committee taking account of market forces and the responsibilities of the role, benchmarking
data, and NHSI guidance on very senior manager pay
Non-Executive Director remuneration components
Non-Executive Directors receive remuneration in the form of an annual payment and, in
some cases, an allowance for additional responsibilities. Details are set out below:-

Name
Abraham,
Ann
Brook,
David
Hughes,
John
Hunt, Lynne
McBride,
John
Murray,
Sarah
Rawlinson,
Peter
Yeo, Nick

Role

Additional
Remuneration allowances
£ pa
£ pa

Chair
Non-executive
Director
Non-executive
Director
Non-executive
Director
Non-executive
Director
Non-executive
Director
Non-executive
Director
Non-executive
Director

Allowance title

44,250

-

-

13,000

-

No committee chair responsibilities

13,000

-

No committee chair responsibilities
Deputy Chair

13,000

5,000
2,000

Charitable Funds Committee Chair

13,000

2,000

13,000

2,000

13,000

2,000

Audit Committee Chair
Mental Health Legislation Assurance
Committee
Appointments & Remuneration Committee
Chair

13,000

2,000

Senior Independent Director

Service Contract Obligations
In compliance with the G4 (3) NHSi Condition for Board appointments, contracts for
Directors contain a provision permitting summary termination in the event of a Director being
or becoming an unfit person.
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Contracts do not make provision for individual entitlements for any termination payments,
other than pay in lieu of six months’ contractual notice pay. Entitlements to payment for
outstanding annual leave in accordance with the individual contract provisions can also
apply.
Policy on Payment for Loss of Office
The Trust seeks to support and retain staff who are affected by organisational change
wherever possible. Where suitable alternative employment cannot be found at an equivalent
pay grade and seniority, the provisions of the Trust’s protection policy may apply if
alternative mutually acceptable work is found at a lower pay grade. If redundancy is the only
option, payments are made in accordance with Agenda for Change national conditions of
service. There is provision for pay in lieu of notice when appropriate where there is a
contractual provision for this. Notice periods for all grades of staff, including Directors, have
been subject to consultation and agreement with trade union representatives.
In cases of redundancy of Directors, the Trust will apply provisions equivalent to Agenda for
Change national conditions of service, including the application of any salary caps, and
payments will not be expected to exceed contractual entitlements. There were no
redundancies amongst Directors in 2016/17.
In cases of capability arising from performance concerns, the Trust will seek to apply the
provisions of the Disciplinary & Capability Policy and Procedures to support a return to full
performance wherever possible. Where continued performance issues do not support
continuation in the senior post, this may involve redeployment to an alternative post at the
same or a lower pay grade, or a managed exit from the organisation which may include the
exercise of discretion in respect of notice and garden leave within contractual provisions.
In the event of gross misconduct, the Trust may summarily terminate a Director’s
employment (subject to investigation and consideration in accordance with the Disciplinary &
Capability Policy). Notice pay will also not normally apply where termination of employment
arises in connection with the fit and proper person provisions. There were no dismissals
among Directors in 2016/17.
Assessment of the continued fitness of Directors to perform their duties and responsibilities
is undertaken annually via the appraisal process.
Statement of considerations of employment conditions elsewhere in the Trust
It is the Trust’s policy to remunerate senior managers at the rate necessary to attract and
retain the talent required to deliver the Board’s objectives, without needlessly diminishing
finite public resources.
A policy and approach for the remuneration of Chief Executive, Operational and Locality
Directors was introduced in February 2016. The 2016/17 remuneration for operational
Directors is equivalent to the maximum salary point of the Band 9 Agenda for Change
payscale.
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Annual Report on Remuneration
Service Contracts
Details of service contracts are set out below:Job Title
Chief Executive
Medical Director (Board allowance only)
Director of Finance & Strategic
Development
Director of HR
Director of Nursing & Quality
Locality Director (Bournemouth & East
Dorset)
Locality Director (Dorset)
Locality Director (Poole)
Director of Organisation Development &
Participation

Date of
Unexpired term
last
contract
1.12.15
n/a - permanent
appointment
1.12.15
n/a - permanent
appointment
5.9.16
n/a - permanent
appointment
1.12.15
n/a - permanent
appointment
1.12.15
n/a - permanent
appointment
1.12.15
n/a - permanent
appointment
1.12.15
n/a - permanent
appointment
1.12.15
n/a - permanent
appointment
1.12.15
n/a - permanent
appointment

Notice
period
6 months
6 months
6 months
6 months
6 months
6 months
6 months
6 months
6 months

Appointments and Remuneration Committee
The Board has an Appointments and Remuneration Committee which, as its core role



Appoints senior staff,
Considers recommendations on Executive Director remuneration.

All Non-Executive Directors are members of the Committee. The Chief Executive has a right
to be in attendance as a member of the Committee when other Executive Director
appointments are being determined and may be invited to attend when the remuneration of
the other Executive Directors is under discussion.
The Committee made two senior appointments during 2016/17:


The appointment of Matthew Metcalfe as Director of Finance & Strategic
Development with effect from 5 September 2016



The appointment of Eugine Yafele to the new post of Chief Operating Officer with
effect from 1 April 2017

The Committee also decided that the post of Director of Organisation Development &
Participation should become an Executive Director post with full voting rights with effect from
1 April 2017. Under the new leadership arrangements to be implemented on 1 April 2017,
there will be 7 Executive Directors and 7 Non-executive Directors in addition to the Trust
Chair.
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Appointments and Remuneration Committee
Member
P Rawlinson (Committee Chair) Non-Executive Director,
A Abraham, Trust Chair
D Brook, Non-Executive Director
J Hughes, Non-Executive Director
L Hunt, Non-Executive Director
J McBride, Non-Executive Director
S Murray, Non-Executive Director
N Yeo, Non-Executive Director
R Shields, Chief Executive

Attendance / maximum attendance
9/9
9/9
5/6
1/6
6/7
7/7
5/6
5/6
8/9

Expenses Paid to Directors, Senior Managers and Governors
Director and Senior Manager Travel & Expenses 2016/17 period
The Trust had a total of 10 directors in office and eight received expenses in the reporting
period. The aggregate sum of expenses paid to directors in the reporting period was
£12,073.55. This compares to £9,632.49 paid in 2015/16 when the Trust had a total of 10
directors in office and 8 received expenses in the reporting period.
Declaration of Expenses Claimed by Governors
The Trust had a total of 26 governors in office and nine received expenses in the reporting
period. The aggregate sum of expenses paid to governors in the reporting period was
£3,739.08. This compares to £3,183.61 in the previous year, from a total of 42 governors in
the reporting period.
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Senior Managers’ Remuneration (information subject to audit)

2016-17

2015-16

Salary &
Fees

Taxable
benefits

Annual
performancerelated
bonuses

(bands of
£5,000)

(nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

180-185

0-0

0-0

M Metcalfe
Director of Finance
(from 05/09/2016)

80-85

0-0

N Kosky
Medical Director

190-195

J Chai
Director of Finance
(to 15/09/2016)

Names

R Shields
Chief Executive

C Hague
Director of Human
Resources
L Boland
Locality Director

S O’Donnell
Locality Director

TOTAL

Salary &
Fees

Taxable
benefits

Annual
performancerelated
bonuses

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

0-0

0-0

180-185

180-185

2000

0-0

0-0

0-0

180-185

0-0

0-0

0-0

80-85

0-0

0.0

0-0

0-0

0-0

0-0

0-0

0-0

0-0

150152.5

340-345

180-185

400

0-0

0-0

35-37.5

215-220

50-55

0-0

0-0

0-0

15-17.5

65-70

110-115

0.0

0-0

0-0

85-87.5

195-200

95-100

0-0

0-0

0-0

25-27.5

125-130

95-100

0.0

0-0

0-0

20-22.5

115-120

0-0

0-0

0-0

32.5-35

130-135

95-100

0.0

0-0

0-0

10-12.5

105-110

0-0

0-0

0-0

22.5-25

120-125

95-100

0.0

0-0

0-0

5-7.5

105-110

(1)

95-100

95-100

Long-term
performancerelated
bonuses

Pension
–related
benefits

(2)
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(1)

Long-term
performancerelated
bonuses

Pension
–related
benefits

TOTAL

2016-17

Names
F Haughey
Executive Director of
Nursing
E Yafele
Locality Director
N Plumb
Director of Org Dev
& Corp Affs
(1)
(2)
(3)

2015-16

Salary &
Fees

Taxable
benefits

Annual
performancerelated
bonuses

(bands of
£5,000)

(nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

0-0

0-0

3000

0.0

115-120

100-105
95-100

(3)

Long-term
performancerelated
bonuses

Pension
–related
benefits

TOTAL

Salary &
Fees

Taxable
benefits

Annual
performancerelated
bonuses

Long-term
performancerelated
bonuses

Pension
–related
benefits

TOTAL

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

0-0

200202.5

315-320

105-110

0.0

0.0

0.0

2.5-5

110-115

0.0

0.0

35-37.5

140-145

95-100

0.0

0.0

0.0

0-0

95-100

0.0

0.0

27.5-30

125-130

95-100

0.0

0.0

0.0

15-17.5

110-115

Salary and Fees is combined remuneration of Medical director Salary and Consultant Salary and allowances
Director of Finance opted out of NHS Pension Scheme non recoverable cost of £6,450.88 (employer pension conts) as refunded directly by NHS Pension Division
Taxable Benefit is due to this director being a Trust Lease Car User
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Non-Executive Directors Remuneration (information subject to audit)

2016-17

Salary
& Fees
NonExecutive
Board
Members

(bands
of
£5,000)

Taxable
benefits

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

45-50

40-45

1300

0.0

0.0

0.0

45-50

15-20

10-15

1500

0.0

0.0

0.0

15-20

10-15

1500

0.0

0.0

0.0

15-20

15-20

10-15

400

0.0

0.0

0.0

10-15

0.0

10-15

10-15

0.00

0.0

0.0

0.0

10-15

0.0

0.0

20-25

15-20

2400

0.0

0.0

0.0

20-25

0.0

0.0

0.0

15-20

10-15

100

0.0

0.0

0.0

10-15

0.0

0.0

0.0

15-20

10-15

3100

0.0

0.0

0.0

15-20

Taxable
benefits

Long-term
performancerelated
bonuses

Pension
–related
benefits

(nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£2,500)

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

40-45

1200

J McBride

15-20

1400

10-15

TOTAL

Salary
& Fees

Annual
performan
ce-related
bonuses

Annual
performance
-related
bonuses

A Abraham

J Hughes

2015-16

0.0

S Murray

15-20

300

D Brook

10-15

0.0

L Hunt

20-25

1700

P Rawlinson

15-20

0.0

N Yeo

15-20

2500

10-15

Taxable Benefits (benefits in kind) relate to mileage expenses and car allowances & Pay as you earn settlement agreements (PAYSE)
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Long-term
performance
-related
bonuses

Pension
–related
benefits

TOTAL

Payments for Loss of Office (information subject to audit)
There were no payments for loss of office to Senior Managers in 2016/17 and 2015/16. No other payments have been made to individuals in
connection with the termination of services as a senior manager, including outstanding long term bonuses that vest on or follow termination.
Pension Disclosure of Senior Managers (information subject to audit)

2016-17
Pension disclosure
of Senior Managers

Real Increase in
Pension at
Pension Age

Real Increase in
lump sum at
Pension age

Total accrued
pension at
Pension age at
31/03/17

Lump sum at Pension
age related to accrued
pension at 31/03/17

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV] at
01/04/16

Real increase in CETV

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV] at
31/03/17

bands of £2,500

bands of £2,500

bands of £5,000

bands of £5,000

Nearest £1,000

Nearest £1,000

Nearest £1,000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

R Shields
Chief Executive

0–0

0-0

0-0

0-0

0.0

0.0

0.00

M Metcalfe
Director of Finance
(from 05/09/2016)

0–0

0-0

0-0

0-0

0.0

0.0

0.00

N Kosky
Medical Director

7.5 - 10.0

22.5-25.0

80-85

250-255

1,442

190

1,632

C Hague
Director of Human
Resources

0 - 2.5

0-0

10-15

0-0

171

34

206

F Haughey
Director of Nursing

7.5-10.0

27.5-30.0

45-50

140-145

763

214

976

0-2.5

2.5-5.0

30-35

100-105

710

57

767

Names

S O’Donnell
Locality Director
(Joined 01/04/2014)
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2016-17
Pension disclosure
of Senior Managers

Names

J Chai
Director of Finance
(to 15/09/2016)
L Boland
Locality Director

N Plumb
Director of Org Dev
& Corp Affs
(Joined 22/04/14)

E Yafele
Locality Director

Real Increase in
Pension at
Pension Age

Real Increase in
lump sum at
Pension age

Total accrued
pension at
Pension age at
31/03/17

bands of £2,500

bands of £2,500

bands of £5,000

£000

£000

£000

Lump sum at Pension
age related to accrued
pension at 31/03/17

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV] at
01/04/16

bands of
£5,000

Nearest £1,000

£000

£000

Real increase in CETV

Nearest
£1,000

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV]
at 31/03/17

Nearest £1,000
£000

£000

41

0-2.5

2.5-5.0

25-30

85-90

504

0-2.5

5.0-7.5

25 – 30

85-90

534

56

590

0–2.5

0 – 2.5

15-20

35-40

169

22

191

0-2.5

2.5-5

10-15

25-30

108

13

121

(2)

Salary and Other Remuneration excludes employers' costs of National Insurance and Pension contributions which are payable in respect of the above officers' employments.
.
(1) Denotes increase based on part year basis
(2) Included protected pensionable pay through to March 2017 due to loss of office
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545

2015 /2016

Pension
disclosure of
Senior Manager

Real Increase
in Pension at
Pension Age

Real Increase in
lump sum at
Pension age

Total accrued
pension at
Pension age at
31/03/16

Lump sum at
Pension age related
to accrued pension
at 31/03/16

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV]
at 01/04/15

Real
increase in
CETV

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV]
at 31/03/16

Employers
Contribution to
Stakeholder
Pension

bands of £2,500

bands of £2,500

bands of £5,000

bands of

Nearest £1,000

Nearest
£1,000

Nearest £1,000

Nearest £1,000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£5,000
£000

0-2.5

0-2.5

70-75

210-215

1,526

26

1,570

0

2.5-5.0

12.5-15

25-30

80-85

413

86

504

0

0-2.5

0

10-15

0.00

141

28

171

0

L Boland
Locality Director

0-2.5

2.5-5

25-30

80-85

496

32

534

0

F Haughey
Director of Nursing

0-2.5

22.5-25

35-40

115-120

731

23

763

0

N Kosky
Medical Director
(Joiner 01/07/15)
L Mynors-Wallis
Medical Director
(Leaver 30/06/15)

7.5-10

27.5-30

75-80

230-235

1,216

211

1,422

0

0.00

0.00

80-85

250-255

1,971

0

1,778

0

R Shields
Chief Executive
J Chai
Director of Finance
C Hague
Director of Human
Resources
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2015 /2016

Pension
disclosure of
Senior Manager

N Plumb
Director of Org Dev
& Corp Affs
S Hubbard
Director of Strategy
and Business
Development
S O’Donnell
Locality Director

Real Increase
in Pension at
Pension Age

Real Increase in
lump sum at
Pension age

Total accrued
pension at
Pension age at
31/03/16

Lump sum at
Pension age related
to accrued pension
at 31/03/16

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV]
at 01/04/15

Real
increase in
CETV

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV]
at 31/03/16

Employers
Contribution to
Stakeholder
Pension

bands of £2,500

bands of £2,500

bands of £5,000

bands of £5,000

Nearest £1,000

Nearest
£1,000

Nearest £1,000

Nearest £1,000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0-2.5

0.00

10-15

35-40

157

10

169

0

2.5-5

10-12.5

15-20

45-50

222

76

301

0

0-2.5

2.5-5

30-35

95-100

676

26

710

0

On 16 March 2016, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a change in the Superannuation Contributions Adjusted for Past Experience (SCAPE)
discount rate from 3.0% to 2.8%. This rate affects the calculation of CETV figures in this report.
Due to the lead time required to perform calculations and prepare annual reports, the CETV figures quoted in this report for members of the NHS Pension
scheme are based on the previous discount rate and have not been recalculated.
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3.3 Staff Report
Introduction
Our ambition is to provide high quality care, first time, every time and this means the Trust
needs a workforce which is empowered to take action for patients,and staff who feel able to
take responsibility for the outcome of the decisions that they make. We want our staff to feel
engaged and well-motivated and able to deliver excellent care because they feel proud
about where they work and passionate about the role they play within the Trust. At the core
of our HR Strategy is the attraction, recruitment and retention of an expert, diverse and
compassionate workforce that is single minded in its patient focus.
Our organising principle is to be Better Every Day and we know we need an empowered
workforce to achieve this. We want to be the employer of choice and for our staff to be proud
of what they do for the people of Dorset.
The HR Strategic Goals are:
Goal 1: To become a recognised employer of choice so that we attract and recruit to meet
our workforce needs.
Goal 2: To retain a compassionate, expert workforce that is proud to work at Dorset
HealthCare, and feels developed and supported to make decisions, innovate and improve
the lives of our patients.
There are five key themes for activity woven throughout our HR strategy - Attraction,
Recruitment, Retention, Recognition and Development - and these support delivery of
our objectives.
Staff engagement is a priority and the corporate induction, workplace induction and
preceptorship programmes have been redesigned to ensure they align with, and embed, the
Trust’s Vision, Values and Behaviour framework. The aim is to ensure staff feel valued from
the day they join the Trust.
We are developing and embedding a diverse portfolio of flexible learning opportunities for
staff to access anytime, any place, and which cater for different learning styles. This will
enhance the knowledge, skills, behaviours and confidence of the existing, new and future
workforce and support the Trust's Better Every Day aspirations. We will build on the patient
voice within learning and development programmes by co-designing and co-delivering
learning activities with patient and carer groups
With well evidenced national shortages in some occupations, and competition from other
employers, we are seeking ever more innovative and unique approaches to recruitment. We
take heed of the reasons why people leave the Trust and, in addition to views gathered
through the annual staff survey, have developed retention measures, such as increased
opportunities for flexible working.
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Staff Profile

Employee Expenses
(information subject to audit)

2016/17

2016/17

2016/17

2015/16

2015/16

2015/16

Total

Permanently
employed

Other total

Total

Permanently
employed

Other

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

Salaries and wages

148,520

139,030

9,490

143,396

137,403

5,993

Social security costs

12,822

12,110

712

9,300

8,724

Pension cost - defined contribution
plans employer's contributions to
NHS pensions

18,752

17,945

807

18,092

17,415

Temporary staff - agency/contract
staff

6,455

6,455

11,993

TOTAL STAFF COSTS

576

677
11,993

186,549

169,085

17,464

182,781

163,542

174

148

26

70

70

184,938

167,500

17,438

181,030

161,791

1,382

1,382

0

1,516

1,516
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55

0

165

165

186,375

168,937

17,438

182,711

163,472

19,239

included within:
Costs capitalised as part of assets
Employee expenses - staff
Employee expenses - executive
directors
Internal audit costs
Total employee benefits excl.
capitalised costs
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19,239

19,239

The tables below provide an overview of the composition of our workforce.
Analysis of average substantive staff numbers (information subject to audit):-

Average monthly number of employees(whole time
equivalent basis)

2016/17
Total

Medical and dental

110

Ambulance staff

2

Administration and estates

1,048

Healthcare assistants and other support staff

344

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff

2,406

Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners

46

Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff

692

Healthcare science staff

19

Agency and contract staff

70

Bank staff

316

Total average numbers

5,053

Of which Number of Employees (WTE) engaged on capital
projects

2

Breakdown of male and female employees
Headcount

Percentage

Female

4852

83.24%

Male

977

16.76%

Grand Total

5829

100.00%
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Management
Executive Directors

Senior Managers

Female

2

12

Male

5

3

Total

7

15

Sickness absence data
The sickness absence rate for the 12 months April 2016-March 2017 was 4.39% (compared
to 4.56 in 2015/16).
Engaging with our Staff
In 2016/17 we have focussed on strengthening our staff engagement activities with specific
emphasis on how we listen and act upon what staff are telling us about their experiences of
Dorset HealthCare.
The 2016 Annual Staff Survey saw a 47% response rate, our best for three years, which we
believe was enhanced by using both email and post to survey staff, and by focussing our
communications activities to demonstrate how we acted on their feedback last year. The
Trust staff engagement score significantly increased in 2016 and independent analysis rated
Dorset HealthCare as the most improved Trust when compared with other combined
community and mental health trusts. More information on the Staff Survey results appears
later in this chapter.
To ensure the engagement and improvement continues, a detailed breakdown of results was
shared with localities and specialist services, and nominated leads in each area were
appointed to lead on local actions. Three staff conferences were held on publication of the
survey results, to share the outcomes and seek staff views. A number of Trust-wide
initiatives were also identified and delivery of these plans will fall into the 2017/18 year.
The Staff Friends and Family Test continued quarterly and all staff were invited to respond
twice during the year. We included five additional questions focussed around staff
perceptions of behaviours across the Trust and this has led to the trial of an organisational
barometer.
The organisational barometer uses a set of 30 existing quantitative measures such as staff
sickness rates, vacancy rates, rates of completed mandatory training, completed appraisals,
numbers of grievances, Staff Friends and Family test, alongside an additional cultural survey
of a randomly selected small number of staff. These measures have been mapped quarterly
across the year allowing the identification of trends and patterns. The barometer tool is being
further developed and enhanced in 2017/18.
A bi-monthly Staff Engagement Review Group brings together the Chief Executive,
organisational development team, staff governors and staff side representatives to review
and steer Trust staff engagement activities. This includes consideration of staff engagement
activities alongside the results of the Friends and Family Test and annual NHS Staff Survey.
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Our Staff Governors are encouraged to share their feedback from staff at our bi-monthly
Staff Engagement Review Group where we share our insights from staff and propose and
agree actions to take forward.
Multiple opportunities are created to bring staff together across functional and professional
boundaries. For the senior leadership team this is achieved through the Leadership Forum,
which meets bi-monthly and provides the space for this group of people to consider a wide
range of strategic and operational matters. Examples of similar arrangements include the
annual Quality Conference and Quality Awards, learning events arranged by the learning
and development team, user forums for administrative and clinical staff to feedback and
develop our key clinical systems, and ‘career cafes’ to offer information and advice.
In addition, a number of formal and informal feedback and action based initiatives have been
undertaken to share information and seek views, supporting us to keep improving staff
experience and levels of staff engagement.
More notable examples include:
•

A programme of engagement from October 2016 to February 2017 for staff to have
their say about Dorset’s Clinical Services Review. More than 40 sessions were held
across Trust sites, with feedback incorporated into the Trust formal response to the
consultation, and staff encouraged to respond as individuals and professional groups.

•

A group of staff interested in health and wellbeing formed a steering group to coproduce a health and wellbeing strategy with around a further 100 staff from across
the Trust. Work streams are being taken forward with small project teams set up from
many areas of the organisation.

•

The Annual Members’ Meeting held in September combined with our annual staff
awards ceremony Dorset HealthCare Heroes.

•

Launch of our own Dragon’s Den initiative to enable individuals and groups of staff to
apply and compete for funding and project support to get their ideas up and running.
‘Space for Growth’ won this year and raised beds have been installed at one of our
mental health hospitals to provide growing space for patients. Three additional
projects which had a wider scope are also being supported as a result of the
initiative.

•

Significant investment in our bank workers, with two conferences held for this staff
group, attracting more than 150 people in total. We have expanded our Heroes
recognition scheme to include a monthly bank worker award and invited all bank
workers to complete an abridged version of the NHS Annual Staff Survey recognising
that they are not surveyed alongside substantive employees during the national NHS
Staff Survey. The feedback from these initiatives is being actioned by the Trust Bank
team.

•

All new staff were invited to attend an optional induction ‘catch-up’ three to six
months after they started, with more than 100 attending a session during the year. As
a result of feedback received, we are developing best practice guidance for local
induction and doing more to support line managers in how we integrate our new staff.

•

Team development programmes introduced to support individual service and team
development needs, recognising the importance of focusing on strengthening
relationships in teams and between teams.
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Supporting Our Staff
The Trust employed 74 people during 2016/17 who had declared a disability in their
application, representing 5.3% of all successful applicants for jobs.
The Equality Objectives were agreed by the Trust Board following consultation and
discussions to ensure the objectives were aligned to the Trust Goals, challenging and would
bring a positive cultural shift for staff, patients and the Board. By achieving the Equality
Objectives the Trust will be in a position to demonstrate that it is achieving its Values, Vision
and Strategic Goals from an equality and diversity perspective.
The Trust recognises that it needs to continue to strengthen control measures to ensure that
all the organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity and human rights legislation are
complied with. The Trust has an improvement plan in place which it is implementing and
monitoring. This is in conjunction with the Equality Delivery System 2 objectives and the
Workplace Race Equality Standard (WRES) reporting.
The Trust has continued to work closely with Bournemouth University and in 2016 launched
a number of videos during World Mental Health Week, developed a programme during
Carers Week, worked together to provide inspirational talks during Black History Month and
co-hosted a regional workshop for NHS South of England and the Equality and Human
Rights Commission on the Public Sector Equality Duty. Dorset HealthCare and
Bournemouth University were also invited to talk on a national stage at an event in
Nottingham in November 2016 to showcase our collaborative working.
In 2016/17 the Trust successfully achieved NHS Employers Partnership Status. The
diversity and inclusion partners programme supports participating Trusts to progress and
develop their equality performance and to build capacity in this area. Organisations are
awarded partner status after they have demonstrated that they are delivering against the
following measurable criteria:
•

Improving patient access and experience

•

Empowered, engaged and well supported staff

•

Inclusive leadership at all levels

•

Better health outcomes for all

•

Demonstration of commitment to the partners programme and benefits the
organisation will receive from taking part

Recruitment training, covering equality and diversity, is delivered for staff involved in
recruitment and interviewing panels. A trained member of staff sits on each interview panel.
The Trust takes a supportive and positive approach with staff whose capability may be
affected as a result of disability in line with the provisions of the Health, Wellbeing and
Attendance Policy and our responsibilities under the Equality Act 2010 to protect staff who
develop health conditions. We recognise that some conditions may not prevent individuals
from working and making a valid contribution, albeit that it may not be in the staff member’s
normal capacity. In these circumstances, the Trust will make all reasonable efforts to support
employees who wish to work in an adjusted way. We know the impact of workplace stress
and acknowledge the importance of preventing, identifying and reducing workplace
stressors. The purpose of the Managing Stress at Work Policy is to promote positive
attitudes towards health at work and recognises the importance of promoting good mental
health of staff for the safe and efficient delivery of quality services.
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Policies applied
The Health, Wellbeing and Attendance Policy and Procedure has been applied during the
financial year for continuing the employment of employees who have become disabled
persons during the period, supported by the Learning and Development Policy and Appraisal
Policy for reviewing, identifying and implementing training needs.
The following policies have been applied during the financial year for the training, career
development and promotion of disabled employees:
Recruitment and Selection Policy and Procedures
Appraisal Policy
Learning and Development Policy
Mandatory Training Policy
The Trust communicates with staff on a regular basis in a variety of ways, including:











Trust Link – a monthly newsletter published on the Intranet and in hard copy
highlighting news and achievements around the Trust
Weekly Roundup – a weekly email bulletin with a focus on information for
staff, including training events, systems upgrades, current vacancies
HR Matters – a monthly email bulletin with the latest employment related
news for line managers
Payroll Bulletin – a periodic bulletin giving staff information on pay matters
Quality Matters – a monthly quality and professional matters newsletter
published on the Intranet
All user emails from the Chief Executive providing important updates on
matters such as CQC inspections, Staff Survey engagement events, etc.
Engagement events
Bi-monthly leadership forum for managers
A weekly induction programme welcoming new staff which provides essential
information about the Trust, its aims and values, mandatory training, etc.
Electronic surveys.

The Trust engages with representatives of trade unions via the Trade Union Partnership
Forum which meets bi-monthly, and the Local Negotiating Consultative Forum for doctors
which meets quarterly. The Trust consults on all matters relating to the employment of staff
and values the input and support provided by its Trade Union colleagues.
Health & Safety
The Trust has continued to develop a ‘Positive H&S Culture’.
Over the course of the year, the Trust has strengthened its health and safety capability
through:
•

Joint partnership working with Trade Union representatives;

•

Developing, reviewing and updating a range of Trust-wide health and safety policies;

•

Reviewing and delivering a range of health, safety and fire training;
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•

Providing an anti-ligature ‘fixtures and fittings’ catalogue to support capital works and
refurbishments;

•

Assessed outpatients/ patient used areas for suitability of access in order to comply
with the requirements of the Equality Act 2010;

•

Developing and on-line intranet based reporting systems for Workplace Assessment
of Safety and Health, Falls and Fire Wardens.

The Trust had an unannounced visit from the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) to confirm
the management arrangements for the planned removal of asbestos from some Trust sites .
The HSE Inspector was satisfied with our preparations and processes.
The Occupational Health and Wellbeing Service (OHWS) provide a comprehensive
occupational health service across Dorset to the Trust and its employees. The service
protects, promotes and improves the health of the workforce with the aim of contributing to
the delivery of the Trust Strategy. The service has an important role to play in the overall
delivery of patient care, safety and outcomes.
The range of services offered by the OHWS includes pre-employment/placement health
assessments, occupational vaccination programmes, fitness for work assessments and
medicals, health surveillance programmes (audiometry, spirometry, skin, hand arm
vibration), workplace and ergonomic assessments, incident management, policy and
procedure development and training.
The OHWS largest customer is the Trust. In addition, the OHWS provides services to over
140 companies annually across Dorset.
Over the course of the year, the service has:
• recruited a further 20 Health and Wellbeing Champions across the organisation to
assist with promoting campaigns and supporting colleagues to improve their health
and wellbeing
• attended a number of conferences to promote health and wellbeing issues directly
with staff
• played a key role in establishing the Staff Wellbeing Steering Group and facilitating a
staff Health and Wellbeing Fair held in February 2017
• encouraged support for a range of health awareness days, e.g. World Mental Health
Day, Stoptober, Dry January, Time to Change, World Health Day (diabetes)
• facilitated health awareness events for staff (measuring blood pressure, heart rate,
etc)
• promoted NHS Health Checks among staff via intranet, Weekly Roundup and
posters, with link to local GPs/pharmacies who will carry out the free check
• continued to raise the profile of staff health and wellbeing in the Weekly Roundup and
Trustlink
• produced a range of posters, to encourage staff to use the stairs at work and to
promote physical activity.
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Equality and Diversity
There are a number of key national and regional initiatives which are driving the Equality and
Diversity agenda. Dorset HealthCare has been mindful to align its work and objectives with
these as well as looking to develop specific objectives around service delivery for the future
challenges to health services in Dorset.
These include:
National




Is Britain Fairer Health and Social Inequalities
Healing a Divided Britain
Gender Equality Pay Gap





Regional
Integrated Services Review
HealthWatch Report
Dorset HealthCare Staff Survey

By analysing the local population data of Dorset from the 2001 and 2011 Census data and
making comparisons with the profile of service users across the Trust, the Trust is in a
position to identify any gaps in service provision based on ethnicity profiling. This will inform
the Trust about which communities are using our services and more importantly which
communities are not using our services. This will also provide supporting evidence for
equality impact analysis for any changes in service provision or the introduction of new
service initiatives which reach into those communities with the aim of;

reducing Health Inequalities

improving Access to Services for all communities in Dorset

improving Health outcomes and reducing long term costs to the NHS
The Trust’s Equality Objectives were agreed by the Trust Board following consultation and
discussions to ensure the objectives were aligned to the Trust Goals, challenging, and would
bring a positive cultural shift for staff, patients and the Board.
By achieving its Equality Objectives the Trust will be in a position to demonstrate that it is
achieving its Values, Vison and Strategic Goals from an equality and diversity perspective.
The objectives are:









Objective 1 - Better Health Outcomes
o Dorset HealthCare will aim to achieve improvements in patient health, public
health and patient safety for all, based on comprehensive evidence of needs
and results
Objective 2 - Improved patient access and experience
o Dorset HealthCare will aim to improve accessibility and information, and
deliver the right services that are targeted, useful, useable and used in order
to improve patient experience.
Objective 3 - A representative and supportive workforce
o Dorset HealthCare will aim to increase the diversity and quality of the

working lives of the paid and non-paid workforce, supporting all staff to
better respond to patients’ and communities’ needs.

Objective 4 - Inclusive leadership
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o

Dorset HealthCare will aim to ensure that equality is everyone’s business,
and everyone is expected to take an active part, supported by the work of
specialist equality leaders and champions

With a national focus on Gender Equality the Trust has already taken steps by carrying out
an equal pay audit and is looking to address the representation of women in leadership roles
by focussing on what can be done to encourage and support women who want to move on
to leadership roles.







New steps include forcing larger employers to publish information about their bonuses
for men and women and extending plan for gender pay gap reporting
announcement is part of wider plan to help women and black and minority ethnic (BME)
groups across Britain as part of this government’s determination to extend opportunity to
all
The National Living Wage will help close the gender pay gap
Companies with more than 250 employees will have to publish their pay gap
New figures show FTSE 100 companies have met target for 25% of board members to
be women.

Dorset HealthCare has made a number of achievements this year which is in recognition of
its commitment to equality and diversity.







NHS Employers Partnership Programme 2016-17
Armed Forces Covenant and Lord Lieutenants Silver Award
Mindful Employer (Mental Health Kite Mark)
Hidden Talents Network (Staff Network)
JobCentre Plus Kite Mark (Disability Kite Mark)
Supporting the Launch of the Dorset LGBT Network

In 2016/17 Dorset HealthCare successfully achieved NHS Employers Partnership Status .
Over the past period of 12 months NHS Employers has worked with the partners to help
progress and develop their diversity and inclusion performance, and to build their capacity in
this area. Support has included five interactive workshops that were designed by the
partners themselves, to help them get the latest on policy and practice as well as provide
opportunities to share good practice and network.
The diversity and inclusion partners programme supports participating trusts to progress and
develop their equality performance and to build capacity in this area. At the same time the
programme provides an opportunity for partners to offer advice, guidance and
demonstrations of good practice in equality and diversity management to the wider NHS.
Partners are supported to achieve this via:







Continuous improvement around equality and diversity within their own organisation.
Raising awareness of what constitutes sustainable, outcome-focused improvement in
managing equality and diversity across their region.
Acting as a thermometer by which NHS Employers can determine the key issues
facing the wider NHS, so that advice and guidance is relevant and up to date.
Contributing to the development of emerging good practice and providing a channel
for collecting case studies from which others can learn, within the wider context of
NHS initiatives.
Contributing to a broader understanding of equality and diversity, across both the
NHS and the wider public sector, in the context of quality, innovation, productivity and
disease prevention.
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Organisations are awarded partner status after they have demonstrated that they are
delivering against six measurable criteria:
improving patient access and experience
empowered, engaged and well supported staff
inclusive leadership at all levels
better health outcomes for all
demonstration of commitment to the partners programme and benefits the
organisation will receive from taking part.







The Trust has applied for the NHS Employers Partnership Programme again in 2017/18. The
results will be announced during Mental Health Awareness Week in May 2017.
What Our Staff Say; The Annual Staff Survey
The survey comprises 98 questions that are grouped into 32 key findings and summarised
in nine key themes:










Appraisals and support for development,
Equality and diversity,
Errors and incidents,
Health & wellbeing
Job satisfaction,
Managers,
Patient care and experience,
Violence, harassment, and bullying
Working patterns.

The 2016 overall survey results build on the improvements made in the last two years.
Against the 2015 results, of 32 key findings:




16 have statistically significant positive improvement,
15 have stayed the same or had changes that are not statistically significant,
One key finding has had statistically significant negative change,

Compared to other combined mental health and community Trusts:




23 are better than average,
Three are average,
Six are below average.

Analysis of the national staff survey results completed by independent organisation
‘Listening into Action’ has placed us second in its league table of results for all combined
mental health and community Trusts.
This is based on the number of key findings that have improved since 2015 combined with
the number of key findings that are above average for similar Trusts.
The analysis also found that Dorset HealthCare is the fastest ‘improver’ on 2015 when
compared to all similar Trusts.
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1. Response rate compared with previous year
Response rate

Response
rate

2015/16
(previous
year)

2016/17 (current year)

Trust improvement/
deterioration

Dorset
HealthCare
University
NHS
Foundation
Trust

Dorset
HealthCare
University
NHS
Foundation
Trust

Combined
MH/LD and
Community
Health Trusts
(Average)

33%

47%

44%

14% point increase

The improvement in response rate in 2016 is attributed to using a targeted, mixed method
approach of paper and online surveys based on staff group and pay banding.
2. Top five ranking scores
2015/16
(previous
year)

2016/17 (current year)

Dorset
HealthCare
University NHS
Foundation
Trust

Dorset
HealthCare
University NHS
Foundation
Trust

KF17 - % staff suffering
work related stress in last
12 months

38%

32%

39%

Decrease /
improvement

KF28 - % staff witnessing
potentially harmful errors,
near misses or incidents
in last month

19%

19%

24%

No change

KF18 - % staff feeling
pressure in the last 3
months to attend work
when feeling unwell

52%

51%

55%

Decrease /
improvement

KF3 - Percentage
agreeing that their role
makes a difference to
patients/ service users

90%

92%

89%

Increase /
improvement

KF14 - Staff satisfaction
with resourcing and
support

3.33

3.45

3.33

Increase /
improvement

68

Trust
improvement/
deterioration

Combined
MH/LD and
Community
Health Trusts
(Average)

3. Bottom five ranking scores
2015/16
(previous
year)

2016/17 (current year)

Trust
improvement/
deterioration

Dorset
HealthCare
University NHS
Foundation
Trust

Dorset
HealthCare
University NHS
Foundation
Trust

Combined MH/LD
and Community
Health Trusts
(Average)

KF29 - % staff reporting
errors, near misses or
incidents witnessed in the
last month

89%

89%

93%

No change

KF15 - % staff satisfied
with the opportunities for
flexible working patterns

53%

56%

58%

Increase /
improvement

KF27 - % staff/colleagues
reporting most recent
experience of
harassment, bullying or
abuse

45%

56%

58%

Increase /
improvement

KF11 - Percentage of
staff appraised in last 12
months

89%

90%

92%

Increase /
improvement

KF24 - % staff/colleagues
reporting most recent
experience of violence

73%

87%

88%

Not
comparable to
2015

4. Key areas of improvement

Appraisals and support for development - The key finding for quality of nonmandatory training (KF13) is one of our five questions with the largest improvement
on 2015, increasing from 4.04 in 2015 to 4.11 in 2016.

Equality and diversity - The scores for staff who believe that we provide equal
opportunities for career progression or promotion (KF21) are better than last year
and higher than the national average for similar Trusts (91% against national average
of 88%), and our score represents the highest achieved across our national
comparators.
 Errors and incidents - The percentage of staff witnessing errors, near misses or
incidents (KF28) in the month prior to completing the 2016 survey (19%) is the lowest
(and best) score of any other similar trust in the country, against an average of 24%.
 Errors and incidents - Staff confidence and security in reporting unsafe clinical
practice has increased from 3.65 in 2015 to 3.71 in 2016 and now equals the national
average for similar Trusts.

Health & wellbeing - Organisational and management interest and action on staff
health and wellbeing (KF19) is our most improved score increasing from 3.59 in 2015
to 3.74 in 2016 and this score now equals the national average for similar Trusts.
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Health & wellbeing - Staff suffering work-related stress in the 12 months prior to
completing the survey (KF17) decreased from 38% in 2015 to 32% in 2016, and is
notably lower than the national average for similar Trusts (39%).
Job satisfaction - The number of staff saying they are satisfied with resources and
support (KF14) is one of the top five ranking scores against similar Trusts and has
increased from 3.33 in 2015 to 3.45 in 2016.
Managers - All three key findings score higher than 2015 and higher than the national
average for similar Trusts. Recognition and value of staff by managers and the
organization (KF5) shows a statistically significant improvement.
Patient care and experience - A specific area of improvement worth noting is the
increase in perception that feedback from patients is used to make informed
decisions (KF32), from 47% in 2015 to 54% in 2016.

5. Summary details of local results












6.

Appraisals and support for development - Staff working in Bands 1-4 show overall
lower satisfaction with the quality of non-mandatory training, learning or development
than those staff working at higher bands
Equality and Diversity - Higher percentages of staff experiencing discrimination are
seen in particular areas: Mental Health Inpatient areas (18%), Offender and Addiction
Services (17%), Poole Central (17%) and the Medical Directorate (16%)
Errors and incidents - The number of staff reporting errors, near misses or incidents
is lower than the national average for similar Trusts (93%) and equals the lowest
score seen nationally
Job satisfaction - Staff working in bands 1-5 reported feeling less enthusiastic about
their job (range 68% - 76%) than those at band 6 and above (range 78% - 90%).
They also feel less involved in deciding on changes introduced that affect their work
area (range 36% - 55%) than those at higher bands (range 74% - 92%).
Job satisfaction - Staff working at bands 5 and above report feeling less able to meet
the conflicting demands on their time at work (range 32% - 43%) than those in bands
1 to 5 (range 56% to 63%)
Violence, harassment, and bullying - The results show that our support worker staff
group are most affected by violence from patients (36% in 2016). Overall 352 staff
state they have experienced violence from patients and 32 staff have experienced
violence from other staff.
Areas of concerns and action plans to address them

The number of staff saying that they report errors, near misses and incidents;
harassment, bullying or abuse; and experience of physical violence, are all lower than
the average for similar Trusts.
A “Speak Up Guardian” as recommended by Sir Robert Francis, following his review and
subsequent report into the failings in Mid-Staffordshire has been appointed and will help to
raise the profile of raising concerns and provide confidential advice and support to staff in
relation to concerns staff have about patient safety and/or the way their concern has been
handled.
Dorset HealthCare in partnership with Thames Valley and Wessex Leadership Academy,
has created a network of trained coaches and is now offering either an internal or external
coach, free of charge, to support staff development, and to help staff to find ways to manage
specific challenges or ideas.
70

Mediators are being trained to help support staff. Mediation can be undertaken to resolve a
situation before a grievance is formally raised. This improves the likelihood of maintaining
good, productive employment relations in the longer term, and has been shown to reduce
levels of grievances.
A small working group is being formed to identify ways in which we can tackle bullying and
harassment in the workplace, linked with our health and wellbeing action plan.
The overall response rate is below half the eligible staff cohort.
Each locality and service area is being provided with detailed results and the opportunity to
discuss and action plan based on the results. Additionally, further work will be undertaken
across the course of the year to help staff make the connection between the staff survey
results and the actions being taken.
The perception of our organisation’s interest and action on health and wellbeing has
improved significantly, but remains at the national average for similar trusts so there
is much more to do.
A health and wellbeing event has been held with 100 key individuals from within the
organisation, which has enabled the co-production of a trust-wide health and wellbeing plan,
which includes 19 areas for action. Task and finish groups have been formed initially to
action the following areas:









Promoting wellbeing and mental health in the workplace
Communication and engagement about health and wellbeing
Development of our wellbeing champions
Support for staff who are carers
Clarifying support for reasonable adjustments at work
Line manager toolkit to promote health and wellbeing
Policies and procedures – sickness, carers leave, flexible working
Bullying and harassment

Updates on progress to the Board will be provided quarterly.
Sustainability
As an NHS organisation, and as a spender of public funds, we have an obligation to work in
a way that has a positive effect on the communities we serve. Sustainability means spending
public money well, the smart and efficient use of natural resources and building healthy,
resilient communities. By making the most of by making the most of social, environmental
and economic assets we can improve health both in the immediate and long term even in
the context of rising cost of natural resources. Demonstrating that we consider the social and
environmental impacts ensures that the legal requirements in the Public Services (Social
Value) Act (2012) are met.
In order to fulfil our responsibilities for the role we play, Dorset Healthcare University NHS
Foundation Trust has a Board approved Sustainable Development Management Plan
(SDMP).
One of the ways in which we measure our impact as an organisation on corporate social
responsibility is through the use of the Good Corporate Citizenship (GCC) tool, our last selfassessment was in July 2016. As an organisation that acknowledges its responsibility
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towards creating a sustainable future, we help achieve that goal by running awareness
campaigns that promote the benefits of sustainability to our staff including “Turn it Off” over
Easter and Christmas breaks and have worked with colleagues to target our highest energy
using sites with a good deal of success.
Climate change brings new challenges to our business both in direct effects to the
healthcare estates, and also to patient health. Examples of recent years include the effects
of heat waves, extreme temperatures and prolonged periods of cold, floods, droughts etc.
Our Estates and Facilities Team works with the Emergency Planning and Capital Teams is
working on effective measures to address and adapt the delivery of the organisation's
activities and infrastructure to climate change and adverse weather events.
The NHS policy framework already sets the scene for commissioners and providers to
operate in a sustainable manner. Strategic partnerships are already established with Dorset
CCG.
Energy
Energy is one of Trust’s largest areas of expenditure. The chart below show’s energy spends
over the last four years. Please note the 2016/17 figures are based upon 11 months data
as at the time of preparing this 12 months were not yet available.
Resource
Use (kWh)
Gas
tCO2e
Use (kWh)
Oil
tCO2e
Use (kWh)
Coal
tCO2e
Use (kWh)
Electricity
tCO2e
Use (kWh)
Green
Electricity tCO2e
Total Energy CO2e
Total Energy Spend

2013/14
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
19,582,844
19,810,463
19,022,112
16,498,875
4,154
4,156
3,981
3,448
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
8,209,536
4,597
0

0
7,827,861
4,848
0

0
9,233,688
5,309
0

0
7,389,160
3,819
0

0

0

0

0

8,751

9,004

9,290

7,267

£ 1,853,483

£ 1,544,853

£ 1,391,948

£ 1,283,981

Whilst we have been able to achieve a steady reduction of gas usage over the last four
years, electricity consumption has increased over the last 12 months which is reflective of
the warmer summers creating a demand for greater cooling that has not been balanced fully
by the milder winters reducing heating demands
We are implementing a programme of work to target our 13 largest energy consuming sites
(which are, in the main, our community hospitals) and so biggest CO2 from energy creators
and we are seeing definite signs of improvement with more works still to be done.
In 2017/18 we will begin to roll out a significant investment in Building Environmental
Management Systems (BEMS) providing greater control of heating, ventilation and air
conditioning systems across the Estate allowing fine tuning and energy reduction. BEMS will
also allow remote monitoring of site systems and avoid the need for site visits thus improving
productivity and reducing engineers mileage. BEMS will also enhance the Trust investment
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in a number of boiler plant replacement schemes during 2016/17 and those are planned this
financial year. These replace old inefficient plant with modern, efficient boilers that are
cleaner and use less energy.
Water
The Trust’s consumption of water has fallen significantly in 2016/2017 through staff
engagement, highlighting the importance of water which is a finite resource and leak
detection, as per the table below. Please note the 2016/17 figures are based upon 11
months data as at the time of preparing this 12 months were not yet available.
Water
Mains

m

2013/14
3

tCO2e
Water & Sewage
Spend

88,211
80

£
334,443

2014/15

2015/16 2016/17

120,506 118,269
110

£
302,317

108

94,076
86

£
£
308,417 233,832

With the deregulation of the water market the Trust will look at any benefits arising from
consolidation of any water supply/sewage contracts.
Waste
We are on course to recycle 50% of our waste in 2017. The community nature of the Trust
creates multiple sites which do not benefit from economies of scale which impacts on costs
for initiatives such as recycling. This has not deterred us from creating waste compounds at
the vast majority of our controlled sites and these will be used to increase recycling over the
coming year.
Health & Wellbeing
The Trust has recently become a member of the Business Travel Network and is creating a
Healthy Travel Plan and examples of this include the provision of a portfolio of walks to staff
so they can enjoy some breaktime exercise in the vicinity of their workplace. We also have a
group of enthusiastic cyclists and during Bike to Work week “goodie packs” were given to
staff who emailed in to say why they cycle to work – some even sending in a picture taken
during their commute. A travel to work survey was also undertaken to highlight where
resources can be targeted to support staff such as car sharing and we are looking at the
implementation of initiatives in 2017/18.
Expenditure on consultancy
The Trust has focussed on reducing consultancy and off-payroll arrangements in 2016/17
alongside work to reduce agency expenditure. In 2015/16, we introduced a Professional
Register of people with a wide range of skills and experience in fields such as operational
management, human resources, and project management, who are able to undertake short
and medium-term assignments as and when required, working within a pay framework
aligned to Agenda for Change rates. Building on this arrangement in 2016/17, total
expenditure on consultancy has reduced to £140k (2015/16 £622k).
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Counter Fraud Service
The Trust’s Local Counter Fraud Specialist undertook 13 investigations in total in 2016/17, of
which
• 3 investigations were carried over from last year
• 10 new investigations raised this year
• 13 investigations closed this year
• No investigations remain open at 31 March 2017
From these investigations there were three disciplinary sanctions and two performance
management outcomes, identified losses on closed cases of £6,214.47 and 23
recommendations made to address system weaknesses.
In addition, 20 fraud awareness presentations have been delivered to 476 employees as part
of the inform, prevention or deterrence activity.
There have been Local ProActive Exercises in the areas of conflicts of interest, agency preemployment checks and invoice fraud.
No material or significant frauds were identified in the year.
Off-payroll engagement
The Trust has conducted a review of all of its off-payroll worker arrangements as part of its
preparation for changes to HMRC regulations relating to new tax and national insurance
requirements for individuals working under sole trader and personal service company
arrangements which came into effect on 6 April 2017. The Trust aims to minimise the
numbers of off-payroll workers by offering work through the Trust Bank and Professional
Register wherever possible. Where workers continue to directly contract with the Trust
through off-payroll contractual arrangements after 6 April 2017, the Trust will be responsible
for, and will ensure the deduction at source of, tax and national insurance contributions in
accordance with statutory requirements.
The data below covers highly paid and / or senior off-payroll engagements between 1 April
2016 and 31 March 2017:
Table 1: For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day
and that last for longer than six months
No. of existing engagements as of 31 Mar 2017
Of which:
Number that have existed for less than one year at the time of reporting
Number that have existed for between one and two years at the time of
reporting
Number that have existed for between two and three years at the time of
reporting
Number that have existed for between three and four years at the time of
reporting
Number that have existed for four or more years at the time of reporting
Confirmation:
Confirmation that all off-payroll arrangements, outlined above, have at some
point been subject to a risk based assessment as to whether assurance is
required that the individual is paying the right amount of tax and, where
necessary, that assurance has been sought.
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35
16
10
6
0
3
Yes

Table 2: For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration,
between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017, for more than £220 per day and that last for
longer than six months:
Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration
between 01 Apr 2016 and 31 Mar 2017

30

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the Trust the
right to request assurance in relation to income tax and national insurance
obligations

30

Number for whom assurance has been requested
Of which:
Number for whom assurance has been received
Number for whom assurance has not been received
Number that have been terminated as a result of assurance not being
received

30
30
0
0

The Trust obtained confirmation that the providers of off-payroll engagements either
deducted tax and national insurance at source for all workers; or where workers are
engaged through a Limited Company, that assurance has been received that the individual
is complying with their tax and national insurance obligations.
Table 3: For any off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or senior officials with
significant responsibility, between 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior
0
officials with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year.
Number of individuals that have been deemed ‘board members and/or senior 18
officials with significant financial responsibility’ during the financial year*
*includes Executive Directors, Associate Directors and Non-Executive Directors
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Exit packages (information subject to audit)
Details of exit packages agreed during the year are as follows:Exit package cost band

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of
other
departures
agreed

Total number of
exit packages by
cost band

<£10,000

6

6

£10,00 – £25,000

6

6

£25,001 – £50,000

2

2

£50,001 – £100,000

1

1

£100,000 – £150,000

1

1

Total number of exit
packages by type

16

16

Total resource cost

425

£150,001 – £200,000
etc.

0

Exit packages: other (non-compulsory)
departure payments - 2016/17

425

Agreements
Number

Total Value
of
Agreements
£000

Voluntary redundancies including early
retirement contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS)
contractual costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of the
service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment
Tribunals or court orders
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT
approval
Total

0

Of which:
non-contractual payments requiring HMT
approval made to individuals where the
payment value was more than 12 months
of their annual salary
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0

3.4 NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation has applied the principles of the
NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance on a comply or explain basis. The NHS
Foundation Trust Code of Governance, most recently revised in July 2014, is based on
the principles of the UK Corporate Code of Governance issues in 2012.
The Trust currently complies with all Code provisions.
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3.5 NHS Improvement Single Oversight Framework
NHS Improvement’s Single Oversight Framework provides the framework for
overseeing providers and identifying potential support needs. The framework looks at
five themes:






Quality of care
Finance and use of resources
Operational performance
Strategic change
Leadership and improvement capability (well-led)

Based on information from these themes, providers are segmented from 1 to 4,
where ‘4’ reflects providers receiving the most support, and ‘1’ reflects providers with
maximum autonomy. A foundation trust will only be in segments 3 or 4 where it has
been found to be in breach or suspected breach of its licence.
The Single Oversight Framework applied from Quarter 3 of 2016/17. Prior to this,
Monitor’s Risk Assessment Framework (RAF) was in place. Information for the prior
year and first two quarters relating to the RAF has not been presented as the basis of
accountability was different. This is in line with NHS Improvement’s guidance for
annual reports.
Segmentation
The Trust is in segment 2.
This segmentation information is the Trust’s position as at 31 March 2017. Current
segmentation information for NHS trusts and foundation trusts is published on the
NHS Improvement website.
Finance and use of resources
The finance and use of resources theme is based on the scoring of five measures
from ‘1’ to ‘4’ where ‘1’ reflects the strongest performance. These scores are then
weighted to give an overall score. Given that finance and use of resources is only
one of the five themes feeding into the Single Oversight Framework, the
segmentation of the trust disclosed above might not be the same as the overall
finance score here.

Area
Financial
sustainability
Financial efficiency
Financial controls
Overall scoring

Metric
Capital service
capacity
Liquidity
I&E margin
Distance from
financial plan
Agency spend

2016/17 Q3 score
1
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2016/17 Q4 score
1

1
1
1

1
1
1

1
1

1
1

80

3.7 Annual Governance Statement
Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement of the NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims and objectives,
whilst safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for
ensuring that the NHS foundation trust is administered prudently and economically and that
resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as
set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.
The purpose of the system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal
control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the
achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of Dorset HealthCare University NHS
Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact
should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control has been in place in Dorset HealthCare University NHS
Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of approval of the
annual report and accounts.
Capacity to handle risk
Risk Management Leadership and Training
The Trust has continued to develop risk management processes in the organisation. These
processes are overseen by coherent and comprehensive management structures and roles.
Non-Executive Directors are aware of their responsibilities in relation to risk management
and chair all Board Committees. All Board Committees and Executive Groups have defined
terms of reference setting out responsibilities for risk management where appropriate.
Two Executive groups-the Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group and the Executive
Performance and Non-Clinical Risk Group-receive details of all risks scoring 10+,
information relating to material changes to the significant risk profile, action plans and
progress made .
A Risk Management Policy is in place, supported by comprehensive training and
communication plans. This, together with the Ulysses electronic risk management system,
enables the Trust to effectively manage its clinical and non-clinical risks.
As Chief Executive I am the Chief Risk Officer ultimately responsible for risk. High level
operational responsibility for risk has been delegated to the Director of Nursing & Quality for
clinical risk and to the Trust Secretary for non-clinical risk.
All Directors have a specific responsibility for the identification and prudent control of risks
within their sphere of responsibility and are responsible, where required, for the provision of
specialist advice to the Board of Directors. This acknowledges that all Directors are subject
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matter experts and have specific responsibilities for interpreting and applying national policy,
legislation and regulations in respect of their specific areas of expertise.
The Head of Patient Safety, reporting to the Director of Nursing and Quality, has day to day
responsibility for the clinical risk management process. This encompasses the development
of risk management policy, administration of risk management systems and oversight of
clinical risk exposures facing the organisation, ensuring the provision of risk management
training, supporting Localities, carrying out checks within and across Localities to monitor the
management of risk and triangulating lessons for learning from clinical risks ensuring defects
alerts or changes in practice are conveyed to front line teams promptly.
The Head of Regulation and Compliance monitors the quality of services against CQC
standards and progress against Quality Priorities, advises on and escalates risks relating to
regulatory standards and patients, monitors risks relating to medical devices and leads on
the implementation of CQUIN targets to improve quality.
The Trust Secretary has day to day responsibility to lead on corporate, ie non-clinical risk
management processes across the Trust and for managing the Board Assurance
Framework.
In addition the capacity to provide leadership to and deliver the risk management function is
underpinned by a number of other key roles including:








Head of Clinical Effectiveness and Audit
Lead managers for safeguarding children and adults
Health and Safety Manager
Local Security Management Specialist
Fire Safety Officer
Caldicott Guardian
Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO)

Staff are provided with guidance on risk management through the Risk Management Policy
which clearly sets out why it is essential to manage risk well and communicate openly with
one another. The Policy sets out a framework that:

Reduces harm for patients, carers, staff, volunteers, contractors, any other
stakeholders and the Trust itself;



Continuously improves patient safety, experience, and quality performance;



Protects everything of value to the Trust (such as reputation, market share,
exemplary clinical outcomes);



Promotes the success of the Trust.

The risk and control framework
The Trust aims to keep patients and staff safe at all times. Risk is therefore anything that is
stopping or might stop it from keeping them safe whilst in its care.
To help identify risks, consideration is given of the Trust’s historical operational performance
and trends, previous events, current challenges, new innovations from inside and outside the
Trust, changes in practice identified by external organisations and the needs of the people
who use the Trust’s services.
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The risk analysis involves estimating risk severity (the impact the risk has on the people in
the Trust’s care and the Trust itself) and likelihood (the probability of that impact happening
within 12 months). The scores are multiplied to give an overall risk rating of between 1-25.
The risk rating is used to determine risk management priorities and monitor acceptable
levels of risk. The Trust actively encourages constructive challenge of assumptions made
regarding severity and likelihood.
To manage these risks, there is a combination of prevention, detection and contingency
controls. Prevention controls are part of a system of internal controls designed to prevent a
risk from occurring at all. They typically involve policies, procedures, standards, guidelines,
training, protective equipment/clothing, pre-procedure checks. Detection controls provide
an early warning of control failure, such as an alarm, incident reports, complaints,
performance reports, audits. They tell the Trust how well the prevention controls are
working. Contingency controls help prepare for an effective reaction in response to a major
control failure, shocks or an overwhelming event. Contingency controls are designed to
maintain resilience. They include reserves of time and money.
The process for managing risk is clearly defined in the Risk Management Policy in six steps
as follows:
Step 1: Determine priorities
Step 2: Identify risk
Step 3: Assess risk
Step 4: Respond to the risk-seek, accept, avoid, transfer, modify
Step 5: Report Risk
Step 6: Review Risk
The framework for reviewing risks, controls, assurances and action plans is through the
submission of reports, generated from Ulysses, as follows:
≥15 – Board of Directors; significant risk report (ie 15+); monthly;
≥15 – Board of Directors; Board assurance framework (BAF) quarterly;
≥15 – Audit Committee and the QGC: Board assurance framework (BAF) quarterly;
≥10 – Executive Quality & Clinical Risk Group monthly;
Executive Performance & Corporate Risk Group monthly;
 ≥8 – Specialty/Locality Management Groups monthly;
 ≥6 – Ward/Departmental Management monthly.





In the event of a significant risk being identified it will be thoroughly assessed, reviewed by
the relevant manager and Executive Director and reported to the Chief Executive within 24
hours of becoming aware of it. The Chief Executive, with support from relevant members of
the Executive Team and advisors, will determine the most appropriate course of action to
manage the risk. He will assign responsibility to a relevant Executive Director for the
management of the risk and the development of mitigation plans. The risk will be formally
reviewed by the Executive Team at their next weekly meeting.
The Board identified six risks to the Trust strategic objectives in 2016/17:




Failures in care;
Failure to recruit, equip, engage and effectively utilise staff;
Failure to deliver the financial plan;
Failure to engage with external partners and the wider community.
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These have been reviewed over the course of the year by the Board, the Quality
Governance Committee, the Audit Committee, the Executive Quality & Clinical Risk Group
and the Executive Performance & Non-Clinical Risk Group.
Reporting of progress in mitigating the likelihood of these risks occurring has developed over
the course of 2016/17 to enhance understanding of key assurances and actions planned
and completed.
Quality Governance Arrangements
The foundation trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality
Commission.
Quality performance is reported to the Directorate Management Groups and the Executive
Quality and Clinical Risk Group on a monthly basis. Scrutiny and assurance is obtained
through the Quality Governance Committee. Quality performance is also monitored by the
Clinical Commissioning Group at the monthly contract review meetings.
With regard to data quality, a sample is checked monthly to ensure that it is accurate and
reliable.
Compliance with Care Quality Commission (CQC) registration has, over the course of the
year, been based around assessment visits by the Regulation and Compliance Team and
the production and review of action plans following the CQC inspection in June 2015 and the
follow-up visit in respect of seven core services in March 2016.
Detailed information on both these visits is set out in section 2.2 and chapter 4 of this
document. In summary, the re-inspection in 2016 resulted in four services moving from a
rating of ‘requires improvement’ to ‘good’. Three remained as ‘requires improvement’.
The re-inspection led to the development of a revised action plan which has been the focus
of Board attention over the second half of 2016/17.
Alongside this, the Trust has continued to implement throughout 2016/17 the action plan
following the 2015 external governance review against the requirements of the Well-Led
Framework.
Data Security Risk process
Staff are encouraged to report all information security incidents, whether suspected or actual
so that they can be investigated, appropriate actions taken to address the incident and
lessons learnt to prevent reoccurrence. They are reported using Ulysses, with the risks
being graded in accordance with the risk matrix in the usual way.
The Information Governance Manager and Caldicott Guardian are alerted of all data security
incidents. All level two incidents will be reported via the IG Toolkit Incident Reporting Tool
which informs the Department of Health, HSCIC and the Information Commissioner’s Office
of data breaches. This would be done within 24 hours of the incident and investigated and
the incident closed within five days.
The Trust has established an Information Governance Group (IGG) to promote a consistent
approach to information governance. This is responsible for developing and sharing good
practice across and ensuring that information governance standards are included in other
work programmes and projects. It co-ordinates the review of the Trust’s information
governance management and accountability arrangements and produces and monitors the
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annual information governance work programme. Any matters of concern are escalated to
the Executive Performance & Corporate Risk Group.
The Trust will, under its duty of candour, inform service users if there has been a breach in
respect of their personal information.
Incident Reporting
The Trust uses an online reporting system, Ulysses, for all types of incidents (clinical and
non-clinical). The system enables real time notifications to be sent to identified people.
These are centrally set up and relate to the type or severity of the incident ensuring that the
correct people are aware when an incident has occurred.
The Trust encourages staff to report incidents and near misses and sees reporting as a sign
of a healthy safety culture. The Trust remains in the top third of the highest reporters to the
National Reporting and Learning System for patient safety incidents in the reporting cluster.
Training in incident reporting is embedded in various training programmes such as the
prevention and management of violence and aggression, induction, health and safety and
clinical risk training. Samples of clinical records are reviewed to see whether incidents
recorded in the clinical record are reported via the incident reporting system.
In 2016/17 there were 11326 incidents reported, broken down by the following levels of
harm: 6938 No harm, 3146 Minor (non-permanent harm), 591 Moderate (Semi-permanent
harm), 8 Major (major permanent harm), 450 Catastrophic (death) and 193 Preventable
harms.
The top five reported types of incident for 2016/17 were:
•
•
•
•
•

Violence/Assault (1904)
Pressure Ulcers (1300)
Slips, Trips And Falls (1283)
Medication (1023)
Self Harm (887)

The lessons learnt from serious incidents are captured in real time on the intranet via the
lessons learnt booklet and details are included monthly in the Quality Matters newsletter and
within the locality quality reports. Learning is also incorporated into clinical training.
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary,
employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme
rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with
the timescales detailed in the Regulations.
Under the pension auto enrolment legislation, we also use NEST as our alternative scheme
for those not eligible to access the NHS Pension scheme.
Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality,
diversity and human rights legislation are complied with. The Trust has a Diversity and
Human Rights implementation Scheme which details the Trust’s commitment to Equality and
Diversity in the provision of services and the support for all staff. Training, communication
and equality impact assessment, consultation and involvement strategies to address health
inequalities and improve equality outcomes are all outlined within the scheme.
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Equality and Diversity Training is carried out by all staff that join the Trust as part of the
Trust’s mandatory induction process. In addition there is a Level 2 Face to Face Equality and
Diversity Course for Front Line Clinical Staff, an online Level 2 course and a Level 3 Course
for managers and leaders which sets out how to carry out Equality Impact Analysis.
Whilst the Trust has undertaken risk assessments currently Carbon Reduction Delivery
Plans are not in place in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency
requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that this organisation’s
obligations under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements are
complied with.
Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness and the use of resources
The Trust has an established system of financial control which is led by the Director of
Finance & Strategic Development. The annual budget setting process for 2016/17 was
approved by the Trust Board before the start of the financial year and was communicated to
all managers in the organisation.
The Director of Finance & Strategic Development and his team have worked closely with
managers throughout the year to ensure robust financial management across the Trust.
All budget managers have a responsibility to manage their budgets and systems of internal
control effectively and efficiently. The processes to achieve this are reviewed on an ongoing
basis by managers themselves and are also examined by internal audit as part of their
annual activities.
The Integrated Corporate Dashboard covers Quality, Operational, Workforce and Financial
performance and is reported to the Trust Board on a monthly basis. It is set against updated
quality metrics as well as overall Trust performance which is tracked with trend analysis over
a 13 month period.
All staff have a responsibility to identify and assess risk and to take action to ensure controls
are in place to reduce and/or mitigate risks, whilst acknowledging the need for economy,
efficiency, and effectiveness of the resources.
The Audit Committee receives reports from Directors of the Trust as well as internal and
external audit and Counter Fraud and Security Management, on the work undertaken to
review the Trust's systems of control including economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the
use of resources. Action plans are agreed from these reports to improve controls where
necessary.
The Trust external auditors give an opinion on the economy, efficiency and effectiveness
and the use of resources. For 2016/17, the external auditors have commented that:“Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report, by exception, if we conclude we
are not satisfied that the Trust has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017. We
draw your attention to the Trust’s Performance Analysis on page 11 which includes further
details on the matters noted below and the Trust’s action to address the issues.
The Trust was subject to a full Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection in June 2015
where they identified a number of issues and gave the Trust an overall rating of “Requires
Improvement”. The Trust put in place a number of actions to address the issues identified
and these actions were still in progress throughout 2015/16 and into 2016/17.
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To ascertain how the Trust had progressed since the full inspection, the CQC performed a
follow up inspection of seven of the Trust’s services in March 2016. The results of this follow
up inspection found that the Trust had made improvements in four of the services resulting in
these services moving from a rating of “Requires Improvement” to “Good” but the remaining
three services remained as “Requires Improvement”. These three areas are communitybased mental health services for older people, community-based mental health services for
adults and mental health crisis services. The CQC therefore concluded that overall rating for
the Trust remained as “Requires Improvement”.
Following this visit, the Trust put in place a number of mitigating actions to address the
issues identified. As at March 2017, the Trust has made progress in addressing the actions,
but there are still a number that remain in progress and are not yet completed.
The above matters suggest that there were weaknesses in proper arrangements for:




Acting in the public interest, through demonstrating and applying the principles and
values of sound governance;
Managing risks effectively and maintaining a sound system of internal control; and
Planning, organising and developing the workforce effectively to deliver strategic
priorities.

Except for the matters noted above, we have no other matters to report in relation to proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources for
the year ended 31 March 2017.’’
Information governance
There was one reportable incident in the year.
The School Nursing Service were contacted by Christchurch Infant School to advise that the
NCMP (National Child Measurement Programme) letters, providing details of their child’s
Height and Weight, were sent to the wrong patient address for all of the Reception Year
children who took part in the programme (114 children).
The ICO advised the Trust that no further action was necessary as the case did not meet the
criteria set out in our Data Protection Regulatory Action Policy. This was because the
personal data was of relatively low sensitivity and its disclosure would appear to be unlikely
to cause significant detriment to the individuals concerned, if compromised. In addition, there
was a process in place which was not followed on this occasion.
Annual Quality Report
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for each
financial year. NHS Improvement (in the exercise of powers conferred on Monitor) has
issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of annual Quality
Reports which incorporate the above legal requirements in the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual.
The Board is able to assure itself that the Quality Report represents a balanced view and
that there are appropriate controls in place to ensure the accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of the data by the process detailed below.
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Progress against the agreed priorities and indicators in the 2016/17 Quality Report have
been reported to the Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group, the Quality Governance
Committee and the Trust Board, quarterly throughout the year.
As part of the consultation for the priorities and indicators for the 2017/18 Quality Report the
Trust consulted with staff and stakeholders including through the Quality Matters Conference
in January 2017 and at the Council of Governors.
Feedback from staff has informed the proposed quality priorities and indicators, which have
been provided to external stakeholders including the Trust’s Commissioners and
Healthwatch for consultation.
In line with guidance, the Trust commissions external auditors to carry out an assurance
review of the Quality Report. This review includes reviewing the content of the Quality
Report for consistency with what has been reported internally to the Trust Board throughout
the year, feedback from Commissioners, Governors and other external stakeholders. The
Trust’s External Auditors have issued an unqualified limited assurance report, which is
included in the final Quality Report.
All policies and procedures are produced in line with the NHS Litigation Authority
requirements, which are still deemed to be best practice, although the formal risk
management assessments do not now take place. The effectiveness of policies in ensuring
quality of care provided is monitored through a variety of mechanisms including:




as part of root cause analysis,
by undertaking audit,
by monitoring incident and complaint data.

Should the Trust wish to explore a particular aspect in the quality of care in more detail a
focussed ‘deep dive’ review will be undertaken.
The Trust wide Clinical Audit programme includes topics from priority areas such as CQC
inspection reports, NICE guidance, and contractual requirements. The Trust audit database
is a key tool in ensuring monitoring of action plans and that audit activity is effective.
During 2016/17 the Board has continued to refine reporting through the integrated corporate
dashboard. The metrics are used to populate team level dashboards. All staff will have
access to the same information and insights as the Board. These metrics will be monitored
by the Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group.
The data used to support the integrated corporate dashboard comes from various sources
including clinical audits, surveys, information management systems, incident reports and
internal and external audits. All of these are used to produce the monthly Integrated
Dashboard. Data in relation to performance and quality is collated and reviewed by the
Directors of Finance, Human Resources and Nursing and Quality. These Directors are
responsible for ensuring reliable information is produced on a timely basis.
Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed
by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the executive managers and clinical
leads within the NHS foundation trust who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on the content of the quality
report attached to this Annual Report and other performance information available to me. My
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review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management
letter and other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of
the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board, the audit committee and a
plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.
There are a number of components which form our system for maintaining and reviewing the
system of internal control
The Trust Board
The Board has overall responsibility for the activity, integrity and strategy of the Trust. Its
role is largely supervisory and strategic and has six key functions:







to set strategic direction, define objectives and agree plans for the Trust
to monitor performance and ensure corrective action
to ensure financial stewardship
to ensure high standards of corporate and clinical governance
to appoint, appraise and remunerate executives
to ensure dialogue with external bodies and the local community.

Audit Committee
The role of the Audit Committee is to provide the Trust Board with the assurance that
adequate processes of corporate governance, risk management, audit and internal control
are in place and working effectively. It oversees the establishment and maintenance of an
effective system of internal control throughout the organisation.
It ensures that there are effective internal audit arrangements in place that meet mandatory
NHS Internal Audit Standards and provides independent assurance to the Trust Board. The
Committee reviews the work and findings of External Audit and provides a conduit through
which their findings can be considered by the Trust Board.
It reviews the Trust's annual statutory accounts before they are presented to the Trust
Board, ensuring that the significance of figures, notes and important changes are fully
understood.
The Committee maintains oversight of the trust's Counter Fraud arrangements. It also
provides assurance over the Trust's risk process ensuring that risk is dealt with consistently
throughout the organisation.
Internal Audit
Internal Audit is currently undertaken by TIAA who produce an annual internal audit plan,
produced in discussion with the Trust to enable high level scrutiny of the effectiveness of the
processes and procedures that the Trust has in place.
The internal auditors carried out 27 reviews in 2016/17. Of these eight returned a finding of
substantial assurance, 18 of reasonable assurance and one of limited assurance (in respect
of community matron care plan recording).
The Trust Internal Auditors have concluded that reasonable assurance can be given as to
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Trust’s risk management, control and governance
processes. The Trust has adequate and effective management, control and governance
processes to manage the achievement of its objectives.
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PART ONE
STATEMENT ON QUALITY OF THE HEALTHCARE SERVICES
PROVIDED FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE TRUST

Across the Trust we continue to have a relentless
focus on making our vision, to lead and inspire
through excellence, compassion and expertise, a
universal reality. This means delivering high
quality care in partnership with patients, carers,
staff and a range of organisations. We all strive to
be Better Every Day.
Dorset HealthCare staff are committed to
ensuring they provide the best possible care
when people are unwell, supporting them in their
recovery and in staying as healthy as possible.
Our staff survey results show that staff believe
that care of patients/service users is the
organisation’s top priority, they are confident
about the quality of care they are able to provide
and they are proud to work for Dorset HealthCare.
We are a learning organisation and invest in developing the skills of our staff. We promote
innovation, research and evidence-based practice and make the most of our partnership
with Bournemouth University to support this.
This Quality Report for 2016/17 is an evaluation of the quality of our services and how we
are seeking to improve them.
We describe progress against our quality priorities - assuring patient safety, improving
clinical effectiveness and to design and improve services based on the experiences of
people using them. The Quality Report showcases innovative practice across our services.
We also set out our priority areas for 2017/18. We continue to evolve our Quality Strategy,
setting out our ambitions and planned activity to consistently deliver high quality services.
Our clear commitment is to put quality improvement at the heart of all we do.
Following a re-inspection in March 2016, (report published in September 2016), the Care
Quality Commission (CQC) upgraded four of our core services from ‘requires improvement’
to ‘good’.
In December 2016 the Substance Misuse Service was inspected and achieved a rating of
good for each of the five domains and an overall rating of ‘Good’.
Overall, the seventeen core services are rated:
o

Two services are Outstanding
4

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK

6

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK

8

PART TWO
PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT AND STATEMENTS OF
ASSURANCE FROM THE BOARD

PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT 2016/17
Lord Darzi established a single definition of quality in his 2008 review High Quality Care for
All. This definition comprises three dimensions of quality, all of which are required for a
high-quality service:


Care that is safe



Care that is clinically effective; and



Care that provides the best possible experience for patients.

Every year we identify a set of priority areas for improving quality. One focuses on patient
experience, one on patient safety and one on clinical effectiveness. The priorities are
selected using a variety of information sources including patient incidents, feedback from
patients and carer’s, complaints, internal performance measures as well as national
initiatives such as the Sign Up to Safety campaign.
National best practice guidance such as that produced by National Institute of Health and
Care Excellence (NICE) also informs the quality priorities. The proposed quality priorities go
through a consultation process with our staff, residents of Dorset and local stakeholders.
The Trust Board finalises the priorities for the next year.
We support each priority with three indicators which set milestones to measure the progress
of our quality improvements over the coming year. These measurements are reported
quarterly to the Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group and the Quality Governance
Committee which monitors the levels of progress and ensures quality improvement is
achieved and sustained. The indicators are identified alongside the priorities as part of the
consultation with our stakeholders.
We start this section by reporting on our achievement against the Trust quality priorities we
set ourselves for 2016/17. We have included a detailed analysis of progress made and
further action to be taken is included further in this section.
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PATIENT EXPERIENCE
Patient and carers are engaged and active participants in care planning and delivery.
We recognise quickly when care goes wrong and talk openly and honestly to
patients and carers.

Rationale for selection
The patient must always be at the centre of what we do, and in recognition of this, patient
engagement became a priority area. The focus was on how the Trust engaged with
patients, families and carers in their care plan and treatment. The rationale behind selecting
this as the 2016/17 patient experience priority was as follows:




“John’s Campaign” calls for families and carers of people with dementia to have the
same rights as the parents of sick children, to be allowed to remain with them in
hospital for as many hours as they are needed and to assist with care. DHC have
signed up to this as it is the right thing to do. It is also in keeping with the outcome of
the Francis Inquiry (Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust), the Keogh Mortality
Review and the Berwick Review into patient safety in concluding that the NHS must
listen to and have patients, families and local people as equal partners in care and in
the design and delivery of services.
The NHS Constitution and Section 242 (duty to involve) of the NHS Act 2006 (as
amended by the 2012 Health Act) includes a duty to involve patients in their care and
the development of services.

Research has also demonstrated a proven association between the engagement of patients
in their health, care and treatment and the outcomes in relation to:
 patient reports of their experiences, and of their satisfaction with care.
 patients’ recall of information, knowledge and confidence to manage their condition.
 the likelihood of patients reporting that the chosen treatment path was appropriate for
them. (Coulters and Ellis, 2016)
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Progress against the Patient Experience Quality Priority
During 2016/17 to ensure steady progress was made towards achieving the outcomes three
work streams were formed:




The development of a carers passport/care plan with carers, giving hospital access
outside of visiting hours, providing vital support to patients with memory problems.
Adopting the Pan Dorset Carers Strategy and developing a local implementation
plan.
Implementing the Quality Mark for Elder-Friendly Hospital Wards programme by the
Royal College of Psychiatrists.

Carers Passport
John’s Campaign is a national initiative founded in late 2014 following the death of Dr John
Gerrard. He had been living with dementia when he went into hospital for an unrelated
condition. During his five-week stay, visits from his family were severely restricted by
hospital policy and he suffered a catastrophic and irreversible decline. His daughter began
campaigning for more access for carers, a move backed by NHS England.
We piloted the carers passport in three of our Community Hospitals (Westhaven Hospital,
Portland Community Hospital and St Leonards Community Hospital) who trialled a twelve
week period of ‘open visiting’ for carers.
Feedback questionnaires confirmed that ‘open visiting’ improved the experience for both the
patient and their carers and in most cases open visiting was positively received.
We provided the wards with specific support materials, John’s Campaign resource pack and
training in the underlying principles of the campaign. The Carers Coordinator supported and
engaged staff to successfully embrace and embed the campaign. This was supported by
marketing and communicating the Carers Passport to patients, carers and their families.
Carers Strategy
During 2016/17 we engaged with the pan Dorset Carers Strategy. As a partner we signed
up to the Joint Pan Dorset Carers Strategic Vision 2016 - 2020 which was produced in
collaboration with carers and published in March 2016. This strategic vision supports the
creation of a single health and social care framework that will help to deliver improved
services across Dorset for carers. The strategy is available via the following link:
http://www.bournemouth.gov.uk/AdultSocialCare/Carers/CarersDocuments/valuing-carersin-dorset-brochure.pdf
Elder-Friendly Hospital Wards
The Trust has signed up to The Quality Mark for Elder-Friendly Hospital Wards Programme.
This quality improvement programme supported by the Royal College of Psychiatrists is
designed for physical health wards and focuses on the care provided for people over the age
of 65.
Nine of our fourteen physical health wards have signed up to this initiative and, after
establishing a baseline measurement for each ward, they took part in observational
assessments of each other using methodology designed by the Royal College of
Psychiatrists. The findings of these observational assessments have been fed back to staff
and the Royal College of Psychiatrists to determine further improvements.
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Being Open
Continuing the work from 2015/16 we are committed to making sure that staff are skilled and
able to have open and honest conversations with patients, families and carers. This forms
part of our ‘Sign up to Safety’ campaign pledge; “Be transparent with people about our
progress to tackle patient safety issues and support staff to be candid with patients and their
families if something goes wrong”. We did this by:





Providing staff with support and guidance to enable them to be open with patients
and carers throughout contact with our services in line with the duty of candour
principles through training and line manager supervision.
Talking with and apologising to patients/families and carers following a patient safety
incident that resulted in harm when our care was found to be deficient.
Welcoming the involvement of patients and families either in writing or by face to face
meetings as part of any investigation into incidents or complaints.
Inviting patient and carers to be videoed sharing their experience with staff across
the Trust to facilitate learning across services and teams.

Going forward






Now tested we will embrace and embed the Carers Passport across all our physical
wards with support from the Carers Coordinator. We will continue to use resource
materials from ‘John’s Campaign’ programme adapted to meet the needs of people
for whom we provide care.
Build on work undertaken to develop a Carers Pathway.
Develop a dedicated carers page with the launch of the Trusts’ new website.
Continue to work with community hospital wards to achieve The Quality Mark for
Elder-Friendly Hospital Wards programme accreditation and recruit wards to the next
cohort of The Quality Mark for Elder-Friendly Hospital Wards programme
commencing in September 2017.

PATIENT SAFETY
To reduce the number of patients using our service who experience an unexpected
deterioration in their physical condition which results in an admission to an acute
general hospital.
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Rationale for selection
When patients come into hospital they put their trust in the professionals caring for them.
They expect that their physical health is being monitored and that any deterioration in their
condition will be detected and acted on quickly. The rationale behind selecting this as the
2016/17 patient safety priority is as follows:
There had been cases highlighted from incident investigations and audit findings where
monitoring of physical health care and rapid awareness of a deteriorating patient was
delayed as staff failed to spot or act on changes in their condition.
The Wessex Academic Health Science Network (AHSN) also identified the deteriorating
patient as key priority for 2016/17 and there were opportunities to share and develop
practice in this area at regional learning events.
The outcomes identified from clinical audit and project work completed in 2015/16 helped the
Trust and its partner organisations to improve communication and working practices on the
effective and efficient transfer of patients from the acute to community setting and vice
versa.
Progress against the Patient Safety Quality Priority
We focussed on three aspects of our care to progress this priority:




Reducing the number of unnecessary emergency transfers from inpatient settings to
acute hospitals.
Use of the National Early Warning Scores (NEWS) for all physical health inpatient
wards.
Development of both a Trust and pan Dorset mortality reporting and review process.

Deteriorating Patient
Work was undertaken to analyse data from South Western Ambulance Service NHS
Foundation Trust about the conditions of our patients they had been called to transfer to an
acute hospital and incidents reported by staff. From this analysis we were able to identify six
conditions where transfer was considered as potentially unnecessary and avoidable:







Pain management
Catheter issues
Requiring intravenous fluids
Dizziness
Vertigo
Sickness and diarrhoea.

The Deteriorating Patient Steering Group identified training as a major factor in the
prevention of unnecessary transfers and hence has revised and improved the training for
clinically registered staff in the management of the deteriorating patient and unwell patient.
Work is continuing via our deteriorating patient Sign up to Safety work stream to improve
training for staff in the management of the deteriorating or unwell patient.
National Early Warning Scores (NEWS)
NEWS can be used to monitor all patients in hospital to allow early detection of clinical
deterioration and potential need for higher level of care. This is an important indicator to
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inform and identify any changes in a patient’s physiological condition and needs to be
communicated at the point of transfer to all those involved in their care.
Situation, Background, Assessment, Recommendations (SBAR) is an internationally
recognised framework which provides an effective and efficient way to communicate
important information. We developed a ten minute tool box talk which included the
standards on how to use the National Early Warning Scores (NEWS) and its use with the
SBAR methodology when transferring deteriorating patients to further improve the
communications between care providers.
Mortality Reporting
The third aspect we focussed on was to develop our mortality reporting and review
processes and engagement with the pan Dorset mortality review process. We are active
participants in the pan Dorset Mortality Review meeting established by Dorset Clinical
Commissioning Group. This group reviews mortality across the county and identifies any
learning to be shared.
Alongside the pan Dorset group we have established our own internal Mortality Review
Group which has reviewed our reporting processes and put in the following improvement
measures:




How the Trust is alerted to an inpatient death, using incident reporting.
A weekly review of inpatient deaths to agree the level of investigation required.
Introduction of the After Death Analysis (ADA) reviews. Learning from the ADAs are
reported by themes to the Trust Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group and
actions are taken to resolve any ongoing issues.

Going forward
We are committed to improving our services to ensure our patients receive the best possible
care. We will continue to engage with NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
Mortality Review process.






Developing a deteriorating patient Root Cause Analysis (RCA) tool to determine
specific local factors leading to the deterioration of an inpatient’s physical health.
Continue with the trial of the new transfer document on the Trust electronic patient
records system (SystmOne™) which includes patient demographics and specific
information required by clinicians at the point of transfer.
Poster presentation relating to the National Early Warning Score (NEWS) work by the
Trust being displayed in June 2017 at the Wessex AHSN Annual Conference.
Implementing the Plan, Do, Study, Act (PDSA) quality improvement cycles to
measure the impact of changes and use the Life Platform (Quality Improvement
Information Platform) to review and share learning.
Continue to disseminate the outcomes of the After Death Analysis (ADA) and reviews
of the Dorset Mortality Review meetings. Themes include; improving communication
about care delivered between providers where care spans more than one trust, and
appropriate recording of the cause of death, particularly for patients with a learning
disability.
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CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS
Support staff to implement National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE)
quality standards of care to enable the provision of high quality evidence based care
to our patients.

Rationale for selection
The Trust is committed to delivering high quality
care, first time, every time. We recognise that
robust and effective policies, guidelines and
standard operating procedures are key to
supporting our staff to achieve this. The
Morecombe Bay investigation, led by Dr Kirkup
published in March 2015 highlighted a key
failing in that Trust in that “clinical competence
of a proportion of staff fell significantly below the
standard for a safe, effective service. Essential
knowledge was lacking, guidelines not
followed”.

The rationale behind selecting this as the 2016/17 clinical effectiveness priority is as follows:





We established a NICE Assurance Group to review NICE Guidance and Quality
Standards alongside our clinical policies in 2015/16 and want to embed this in
practice.
All local clinical audits need to be aligned to NICE guidance in order to provide
assurance that best practice is being followed.
Over the past year we had not been performing well against the Venous
Thromboembolism (VTE) assessment standards.
To address the variation and inconsistency in services for End of Life care across
Dorset highlighted by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) Inspection Report
published in September 2016.

Progress against the Clinical Effectiveness Priority
During 2016/17 to ensure steady progress was made towards achieving outcomes three
work streams were formed:




Improving Venous Thromboembolism (VTE) preventative management
Improving end of life care through driving out unwarranted variation in service
delivery
Supporting staff to align clinical audit to national standards to bring about quality
improvements.

VTE Preventive Management
We developed an e-learning interactive training module. The module also includes an
assessment page so that individual learning is evaluated. We identified a cohort of staff to
receive the training. Following roll out of this training the number of incidents of VTE has
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increased which suggests that our staff are able to recognise the symptoms earlier and
intervene with the right care and treatment.
End of Life Care
The National Gold Standards Framework Centre (GSF) help doctors, nurses and care
assistants provide the highest possible standard of care for all patients who may be in the
last months of life.
During 2016/17 we have supported nine of our eleven Community Hospitals to either
achieve the accreditation or be working towards it.
Five Community Hospitals, The
Willows Unit at Yeatman,
Sherborne, Castletown Ward,
Portland; Saxon Ward
Wareham, and Stanley Purser
Ward, Swanage, received their
GSF awards at a ceremony in
London in September 2016.
Tarrant Ward, Blandford
achieved GSF accreditation in
2015.
For those hospitals who have
achieved the accreditation
patients, carers and staff are
reporting much improved
communication which also
assists with the care planning
for patients in the end stages of
life.
National Standards
Quality Standards published by the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)
set out the priority areas for quality improvements in health and social care covering areas
where there is variation in care.
During 2016/17 we selected two standards to support staff to undertake clinical audit to
identify any improvements needed;



Quality Standard: 8 Depression in adults.
Quality Standard: 90 Urinary Tract Infections in adults.

During 2016/17 quality improvements for depression in adults included the development of
a unipolar depression pathway covering initial assessment, structured assessment, and
therapeutic and enabling interventions.
The clinical audit for urinary tract infections in adults highlighted two areas that required
improvement:



to ensure that all patients have a full assessment prior to a diagnosis of urinary tract
infection, and
dipstick testing should not be used in isolation but as part of a full assessment of the
patient’s condition.
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Going forward





Continue to raise the profile of VTE e-hub module with both physical and mental
health teams.
Strive to ensure all our community hospitals are Gold Standard Framework (GSF)
accredited.
The Clinical Audit group will continue to encourage clinicians to use any published
Quality Standards from NICE as templates for future audits.
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QUALITY IMPROVEMENT PRIORITIES 2017/18
We are committed to providing the highest standard of care. To determine our quality
priorities for the forthcoming year we have listened to the views of our patients, our staff, our
commissioners and other stakeholders to ensure we continue to deliver improvements.
Internally we triangulate information from many sources including patient and service users,
staff feedback, incidents, compliments, complaints, and performance against our key quality
indicators. We also look at recommendations from external inspections including the Care
Quality Commission, NHS England, NHS Improvement and national reports and
recommendations.
Progress against our priorities is reported quarterly to the Executive Quality and Clinical Risk
Group. This group reports into the Quality Governance Committee a sub-committee of the
Trust Board.
Using this information we draft our proposed quality priorities and carry out a wide
consultation with our staff, public, stakeholders and Governors.
As a new initiative this year we conducted our consultation using Survey Monkey™. We
launched the consultation with our staff at our Quality Matters Conference on 27 January
2017. We wrote to 21 of our stakeholders who have been engaged with the Trust over the
previous year, signposting them to the survey on our website and included a link for ease of
access.
Respondents were asked to select their preferred option from a choice of three, for each
priority, and provide some dialogue as to their reason for choosing it. We also asked people
to include any other areas they felt we should consider for a quality priority.
Patient Experience Priority
102 people answered this section and the results were evenly spread across the three
options:




People who access our services will be treated with dignity and respect and have
their rights protected.
We will introduce the ‘Triangle of Care’1 across our mental health inpatients.
We will develop innovative ways to seek views from our patients and their carers
in real time.

Comments included:





1

“Because it enables us to look at supporting the whole family and also in future
years rolls out to cover community services too”
“Having been involved in the Triangle of Care Learning Sets, I understand and
can see the value in involving patients, carers and clinicians in a holistic way of
treating patients - in order to see the whole picture and not just part of it”
“I feel that facilitating greater input from patients and their families will help to
enhance the care we can give”
“In my opinion, dignity and respect are as meaningful and important as good
healthcare and this option sounds like it will create more accountability in the
Trust”.

Triangle of Care is further explained on page 20
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Whilst the results were evenly spread across the 3 options, the comments favoured the
Triangle of Care. People who access our services will be treated with dignity and respect
and have their rights protected will be progressed as part of our work linked to the acute care
pathway development and work within the Mental Health Act Committee. Developing
innovative ways to seek views from our patients and their carers in real time will progress
with the work undertaken by the Patient Experience Team.
Patient Safety Priority
92 people answered this section with 54 people indicating one priority in particular. The
options were:




We will support our staff to provide effective medicines management at all times.
We will review how we engage staff and service users to reduce the use
restrictive interventions in all inpatient settings.
Identify areas where we can upskill our workforce to bring care to the patient
rather than transferring the patient to another care provider in order to receive
treatment.

Comments included:







“Up-skilling can increase staff satisfaction”
“Good for patients, too”
“I believe that the up-skilling of current staff will provide a relatively easy way of
creating a multi-skilled workforce that is able to adapt faster to the needs of the
local community and alleviate the pressure on Emergency Departments and
GP's”
“Because I think up-skilling the workforce is important and this option is more
relevant to my work within the Trust”
“Necessary to really put patients at the centre of our services and develop new
ways of working/break away from old habits”.

The preferred option is to upskill our workforce to bring care to the patient rather than
transferring the patient to another care provider in order to receive treatment. Effective
medicines management will be taken forward by the Medicines Safety Officer as part of their
improvement programme. Engaging staff and services users to reduce the use of restrictive
interventions will continue as part of our Sign up to Safety Campaign work.
Clinical Effectiveness Priority
90 responses were received for this section and the options were:




Support our staff to be more effective in the assessment, treatment and
management of patients with Dementia
To have an effective pathway for the transition of Children and Young People into
adult mental health services which will follow best practice guidance
To support staff to use NICE or other national evidence to effectively change
practice and achieve sustainable quality improvement. Support our staff to use
quality improvement principles to drive up patient care.

Comments included:


“Dementia affects so many more people than just the dementia patient and we
should build on the current levels of awareness to carry forward the work already
being done”
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“We are seeing more patients with dementia within physical services and we
need to improve their experience of their time in hospital”
“Dementia is on the increase in an increasingly elderly population”
“I feel that Dementia care is a growing area of concern and care professionals
need regular and timely training so that they can offer the best possible care to
patients, their families and carers.”

We will take forward dementia care as the clinical effectiveness priority for 2017/18. Work
started this year with the introduction of a Carers Passport and our physical health inpatient
wards working toward the Quality Mark for Elderly Friendly Hospital Wards and will be
continued during 2017/18.
The Clinical Effectiveness Team will continue to support teams to use NICE or other national
evidence to effectively change practice and achieve sustainable quality improvement.
PATIENT EXPERIENCE
We will introduce the ‘Triangle of Care’ across our Mental Health Inpatients
The Triangle of Care guide was launched in July 2010 as a
joint piece of work between Carers Trust and the National
Mental Health Development Unit, emphasizing the need for
better local strategic involvement of carers and families in the
care planning and treatment of people with mental ill-health.
The Triangle of Care Membership Scheme is designed for
mental health providers to evidence their commitment to
changing the culture of their organisation to one that is carer
inclusive.
It seeks to challenge the traditional treatment approach of a primary focus on the individual
accessing the service, to that of a partnership between the person, their supporters and
professionals.
The Carers Trust is a charity for, with and about carers. They work to improve, support
services for anyone living with the challenges of caring, unpaid for a family member. In a
statement they said “A number of organisations have acknowledged that one of the key
improvements they are seeing is in staff attitude to carers, and carer and staff engagement.
This shift in cultural practice and attitudes is proving to be a slow process but feedback is
positive.”
DHC has had previous involvement with the Triangle of Care and re-registered as a member
in March 2016. This project is being jointly led by the Participation Team and Mental Health
Services Carers Participation Lead and Lead for Recovery and Social Inclusion supported by
Rethink Mental Illness, Dorset Mental Health Forum and Dorset Mental Health Carers
Project.
The reason for signing up to the Triangle of Care is to shift the culture of DHC to continue
our focus on carers and supporters, the patient and the staff who support and care for them.
Whilst there are positive steps being taken in working with carers and supporters in DHC
such as the development of peer carer roles, carers officers, Recovery Education Centre
courses for carers and family work, the Triangle of Care provides the opportunity to make
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this much more consistent and robust and enable DHC to evidence systematic, sustainable
progress.
PATIENT SAFETY
Identify areas where we can upskill our workforce to bring care to the patient rather
than transferring the patient to another care provider in order to receive treatment

In 2017/18 we aim to build on the work completed last year in reducing the number of
patients using our service who experience an unexpected deterioration in their physical
condition resulting in an admission to an acute general hospital.
We will identify where we can upskill our workforce to bring care to the patient rather than
transferring the patient to another provider in order to receive the right care. Given the
increasing integration of health and social care services, it is essential that the patient's
journey along the care pathway is as smooth as possible, particularly when moving from a
hospital ward back into the community.
Patient’s report frustration and reduced satisfaction when they are referred to a variety of
services in order to meet their needs which means they have to repeat their stories. Points
of transfer between people or services can increase risk if communication is not robust and
can lead to the patient having to re- tell their story, especially when information recording
systems differ between services.
This priority will provide a way of creating a multi-skilled workforce that is able to adapt faster
to the needs of the local community and alleviate the pressure on Emergency Departments
and GP's.
CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS
Support our staff to be more effective in the assessment, treatment and management
of patients with dementia across our physical and mental health services

As reported by the NHS Confederation, dementia affects
about 3% of people aged 65 in the UK, and over 20% of
those aged over 80. As the population ages these numbers
are expected to increase and alongside national strategies
aimed at improving diagnosis of dementia means a greater
proportion will be identified. It is also likely that these people
will have healthcare needs unrelated to their dementia due to
their age and will come into contact with healthcare
professionals in different clinical settings.
Having commenced John’s Campaign carer’s passport in our community hospitals as part of
our patient experience quality priority last year, we will continue to focus on rolling out this
initiative in all our inpatient units.
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We are committed to ensure that all our staff have the right knowledge and skills to support
patients with dementia who access our services. This will require training and support from
within the Trust to ensure that patients’ mental health needs can be met whilst they are
being treated for a physical condition and vice versa.
Finally we are committed to continuing our work, started in 2016/17, to support wards to
focus on delivery of high quality care for older people. We will work with the Royal College
of Psychiatrists and the six wards who have achieved stage 1 to achieve full accreditation of
The Quality Mark for Elder-Friendly Hospital Wards Programme during 2017/18. We will
also recruit and support a second cohort of wards from our community hospitals through
stage one.

QUALITY IMPROVEMENT - SIGN UP TO SAFETY CAMPAIGN
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust pledged a commitment to the three
year NHS England ‘Sign Up to Safety’ campaign in November 2014 and has made the
following five pledges.
Put safety first

A commitment to reduce avoidable harm.

Continually learn

Acting on the feedback from patients and constantly measuring
and monitoring how safe services are.

Honest

Be transparent with people about our progress to tackle patient
safety issues and support staff to be candid with patients and their
families if something goes wrong.

Collaborative

Take a leading role in supporting local collaborative learning, so
that improvements are made across all of the local services that
patients use.

Supportive

Help people understand why things go wrong and how to put them
right. Give staff the time and support to improve and celebrate the
progress.

In 2015/16 nine work streams were identified as part of this three year plan focussing on
reducing avoidable harm and are as follows:










Pressure Ulcers
Sepsis
Care Planning
Suicide prevention
Deteriorating patients
Medicine errors
Safe transfers of care
Falls
Reducing restrictive interventions

The Director of Nursing and Quality chairs the Safe Care steering group which meets
quarterly to monitor progress against the campaign action plan.
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CAMPAIGN PROGRESS
In 2016/17, 124 staff have attended one of the Safe Care steering groups/learning events.
Staff are integral to the success of the campaign as they support and empower front-line
staff to be innovative and improve patient safety.
We continue to share progress on the campaign at the Patient and Public Quality
Improvement Group. While there is involvement from patient representatives within the
Falls, Reducing Restrictive Interventions and Suicide Prevention Groups, there is a need to
develop engagement in the other six work streams.
Consultants and team leaders attending the Trust’s Empowering Leaders:Empowering
Teams (EL:ET) leadership pathway are being taught the quality improvement methods which
include the Institute of Health Improvement (IHI) methodology. They are encouraged to
empower teams to make small changes in practice to improve the quality of care delivered.
To date 344 delegates have attended the EL:ET pathway and some of their associated
assignments have focused on a quality improvement related to one of the nine work
streams.
Progress to date from the work streams includes:
Pressure Ulcers
Reduce avoidable Pressure Ulcers by 50% in hospital and community by 2018.
The data from pressure ulcers experienced by patients in 2014 was used to calculate a
trajectory for a 50% reduction over a three year period. In year one (2015/16) a reduction of
33% was achieved. January 2017 data is indicating a rise in avoidable community acquired
pressure ulcers. The current trend suggests that we will not meet our end of year trajectory
as there are a number of pressure ulcers that are still under review. Data as at February
2017 is showing that we have still made a significant reduction in the number of avoidable
pressure ulcers since we began our Sign Up to Safety campaign in 2014.
Baseline
2014/15

Year 1
15/16

Year 2
16/17

Year 3
17/18 = 50%
reduction
25

Trajectory Total

51

43

34

DHC actual total of
avoidable pressure
ulcers
% reduction achieved
against three year
planned trajectory.

51

38

27 (as at Feb
2017)

N/A

N/A

33 % reduction
year one

47 %
reduction
year two (as
at Feb 2017)

N/A

We are currently reviewing our data to determine whether there is any correlation between
the increase in incidents and the number of patients seen within our services this year
compared to our baseline figures. A quality improvement plan for 2017/18 has been revised
and submitted to NHS Improvement.
Key successes to date:



Framework for the reporting of pressure ulcers, grade 2 and above established and
embedded in practice within the organisation.
Root Cause Analysis (RCA) process for grade 3 and above implemented and
established.
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Established a level of engagement and attendance at the pressure ulcer review panel
by frontline staff. At present this is variable and is a key area for improvement in our
action plan.
Learning from incidents is identified at panel and fed back to teams. We recognise
that there is further work required to give assurance that lessons learnt have been
actioned, shared and embedded in practice.
Initial skin assessment within 4 hours implemented, we are now focusing on
standardising the assessment tool across inpatient and community services.
Tissue Viability team has a triage system in place to deal efficiently with referrals to
the team. Clinical staff are able to access this telephone service and receive
immediate advice.
Pressure ulcer training is now widely accessible; three courses are available aimed
at different staff groups. Non-attendance has been identified as an issue and a
method for addressing this is incorporated in the action plan.
The Tissue Viability team have been reorganised to ensure that each locality has a
named Tissue Viability Nurse who visits all areas on a monthly basis to provide
timely support and advice.
Production of a new prevention and pressure ulcer management information leaflet
for patients and carers.
Tissue Viability Link Nurses identified in all areas and quarterly meetings have been
established across Dorset.
All staff, both inpatient and community, have been issued with long handled mirrors
to facilitate skin inspections to aid viewing areas which are not readily accessible
Guidelines are in place for the recommendation and usage of heel protectors.

Going forward
There is an ongoing improvement plan in place for the reduction of pressures ulcers which
includes the following areas:






Staff and service user engagement.
Risk assessment and care planning.
Equipment.
Training.
Extending incident reviews to include all aspects of the patient pathway by jointly
reviewing incidents with primary care and acute hospitals.

Sepsis
To improve the recognition and timely management of adult sepsis within Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust.
Key successes to date:






Establishment of a task and finish group.
Review of national Sepsis Screening Tools and development of local screening tools
for inpatient and community settings that were launched at the Sepsis Training Event
on 8 February 2017 attended by 120 clinical staff.
Development of sepsis pathways tools to support staff.
Development of other resources: simple signs of sepsis, escalation tool, situation,
background, assessment and recommendations (SBAR) reporting tool.
Working to align this work stream with the Deteriorating Patient work stream and the
promotion of the National Early Warning Score (NEWS) and SBAR tool.
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Antibiotic protocol in initial stages of development with collaboration from the Trust’s
Professional Lead for Minor Injury Unit (MIU)/Urgent Care Centre (UCC),
microbiologist, pharmacy and sepsis leads.
Baseline assessment against NICE sepsis guidelines and development of an action
plan.
‘Impact of sepsis’ podcast included on intravenous and cannulation training sessions
Public Health England (PHE) campaign for sepsis recognition in the under 4’s
promoted with health visitors and school nurses.
Sepsis lead working with Learning and Development (L&D) to implement the
recommendations from the Health Education England (HEE) report “Getting it Right”
Development of the sepsis page on the Trust intranet.

Going forward







Sepsis training events to take place every quarter.
Further implementation of the sepsis screening tools.
Actions from the NICE guidance to be completed.
Recommendations from “Getting it Right” report to be completed.
Development of more resources for the e-hub on the Trust intranet.

Falls
To reduce the number of falls resulting in harm by 10% by June 2018.
During 2016/17 there have been 1117 falls on inpatient wards. Of these 279 resulted in
minor harm and 22 in moderate harm with a fracture. This equates to a total of 301 falls
resulting in harm and 816 resulting in no harm.
Key successes to date:
We have carried out a deep dive review of falls reported in 2016/17. Findings indicated that:







The Trust wide fall rate per 1000 occupied bed days is reducing which suggests an
improvement in the implementation of falls prevention measures.
Whilst falls with fracture have increased; this may reflect the increasing age of the
population and the higher prevalence of one or more long-term conditions in people
over 60 years of age. These conditions will predispose older, frailer people to higher
risks of injury including fractures.
Reporting of incidents is high throughout the Trust and indicates a good patient
safety culture. Trust data concurs with data available nationally regarding the age of
patients who fall most, the location and time of falls. This suggests that clinical
practice in the Trust is consistent with the national picture.
DHC areas requiring improvement are consistent with national results from the
National Audit of Inpatient Falls (NAIF, Royal College of Physicians 2015) which
identified the assessment of lying standing blood pressure, risk factors for
osteoporosis and bedside visual tests are not routinely conducted.

Going Forward


There will be collaborative working with South Western Ambulance Service NHS
Foundation Trust to develop an assessment protocol for qualified staff including a
short educational film.
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Royal College of Physicians published national guidance on bedside visual testing in
January 2017. Adoption of bedside visual testing to be introduced to clinical practice
and then audited in line with NICE CG 161 (2013) and NAIF (RCP 2015).
Further work is required in the development of the pathway within the Multifactorial
Falls Assessment.
A review of the community Better Balance Groups. Findings indicate a variance in
services in relation to referral to the service, course length, group and individual
sessions, content and outcome measures. Work is ongoing to enable
standardisation of the service.
The Trust is reviewing the level of therapy provision to inpatient wards
Investigate the possibility of a flag system to alert all service providers about a
patient’s history of falls.

Reducing Restrictive Interventions
Reduce the use of avoidable prone restraint by 50% by December 2017.
Prone restraint is when someone is restrained in a face down position and is a last resort
intervention in managing violence and aggression. The work stream is looking to reduce the
use of restraint, be it prone restraint, rapid tranquilisation (an injection of medication to calm
or sedate) or the use of seclusion, which involves separating a patient from their peers.
Key successes to date:




A number of learning events have been held which look at care planning, care
delivery and reducing the use of restrictive practice
Additional training has been completed by all inpatient mental health staff on
alternative injection sites for the administration of medication for rapid tranquilisation
to reduce the use of the prone restraint
Pilot underway on post incident reviews being carried out with peer specialists to help
identify ways in which incidents may be prevented.

Going forward




Roll out peer review process following the learning from the pilot ward.
Peer specialist lived experience input into induction and other relevant training
sessions.
Embedding the ‘Safewards Model’ programme which contains a range of
interventions known to help reduce violence and aggression into all inpatient wards.

Care Planning
To improve quality of patient care plans by increasing collaboration and shared
decision making within care planning and risk assessment and management.
Care planning and risk assessment continued to be highlighted as an area for improvement
from the findings of serious incident investigations and an area where there is variation in
practice across the organisation.
Key successes to date:



Community hospital inpatient wards personalised care plan now reportable from
the clinical record on SystmOne™.
‘My Crisis Plan’ available on RiO™, the Trust’s electronic patient record, used by
inpatient mental health wards.
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88% compliance of patients on Care Programme Approach who have a My Crisis
Plan in their electronic documentation.
Further development of the personalised care planning using ‘My Crisis Plan’.
Supporting material developed with ‘My Crisis Plan’ booklet.
‘My Recovery’ workbook piloted in Weymouth feedback will inform changes.
Co-produced behavioural support plan training is now complete.
End of Life Community Personalised Care Plan available to community teams for
use within homes.
Community My End of Life Care Plan and community My End of Life Care Plan
daily assessment has been uploaded onto SystmOne™.

Going forward



We are continuing to work on personalised care planning and encouraging staff
to use their risk assessments to inform their care plans.
Community ‘My End of Life Care Plan’ training for Integrated Community
Rehabilitations Therapy teams.

Medication Errors
To minimise missed doses of medication in inpatient settings across the Trust.
Medication incident reports are those which actually caused harm or had the potential to
cause harm involving an error in the process of prescribing, dispensing, preparing,
administering, monitoring or providing medicines advice.
Over 90 per cent of incidents reported to the National Reporting and Learning System are
associated with no harm or low harm.
The most frequently reported types of medication incidents involve:




wrong dose
omitted or delayed medicines
wrong medicine.

Number of Errors (% of total)

A Graph to show the top 3 reported errors, shown as
a percentage of the total reported errors for 2014,
2015 and 2016
30
25
20
15
10
5
0

2014
2015
2016
Delay, Difficulty Obtaining
Medication

Missed Dose
Types of Error
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Record Omitted/ Incorrect

The graph above shows that the number of missed doses reported (shown as a percentage
of the total number of errors reported) has reduced from 25% in 2014 to 18% in 2015 to 13%
in 2016. This is a 46% decrease from 2014-2016.
The numerical values are shown in the table below:
Type of Error

2014

2015

2016

Delay, Difficulty Obtaining Medication

132

120

235

Missed Dose

200

157

197

Record Omitted/ Incorrect

130

129

183

All other types of medication errors

366

473

701

Total

828

879

13162

Key successes to date:








Medicines safety bulletins to communicate medicines safety issues, including missed
doses.
‘Reach for the charts’ lyrics devised by the Medication Safety Project team set to a
well-known pop song, recorded and videoed. A novel, fun and imaginative way of
communicating the issue of missed doses.
Medicines Safety Officer (MSO) working with a number of ward managers on
medicine safety issues.
New community drug chart being piloted in two district nursing teams.
Medicines Safety Thermometer adapted for use in DHC is now being undertaken
every month by the pharmacy team.
Core medicines management training uploaded to e-Hub.
A new competency assessment for medicines administration has been developed
and is now being used in practice.

Going forward
To continue with the success of 2016/17 the Trust will focus on the following:







A Medicines Safety Week for April 2017 to raise awareness of medicines safety
issues across the Trust, including missed doses.
Review the use of the new community drug chart following the pilot (March – May
2017) before initiation of the chart Trust wide.
Renal function/Acute Kidney Injury (AKI) status to be recorded on all inpatient drug
charts by medical/pharmacy team to improve prescribing in renal impairment.
Continue to disseminate national and local medication safety information across the
Trust.
Development of face to face medicines management study day to complement the ehub training on the Trust intranet.
Arrange for medicines administration competency assessment to be linked to
appraisal.

Safe Transfers of Care

2

The increase in incidents reported is due to the introduction of a Medicine Safety Officer and the
work they have taken forward in the Trust to raise the awareness of reporting with our clinical teams.
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Ensure that communication at the time of admission/transfer/discharge is safe and
timely 90% of the time (90% standard is a national standard).
Points of transfer in any patient’s care introduce potential for risk and focus on
communication and appropriate information sharing is key in mitigating potential harm.
Key successes to date:






Development of Transfer System on SystmOne™, the Trust electronic patient record
system.
72hr post discharge phone call service was developed and piloted in one area; this
has received very positive feedback from both patients and staff.
A pilot project began in January 2017 with an In-Reach Nurse being integrated within
DHC Discharge Team. The emphasis for the project is to promote a “home first”
approach to discharge which aligns with the national “discharge to assess”
programme.
Handover sheets and safety briefings on inpatients areas are being reviewed by ward
sisters to standardise the process and identify risks.

Going forward




Focus on the discharge process from Acute Trusts.
Support locality initiatives working on the national drive for ‘discharge to assess’.
We will strive to achieve 100%.

Suicide Prevention
The strategic aims for suicide prevention are centred on the six key areas for action
set out in the national strategy Preventing Suicide in England (2012).
Key successes to date:
Trends from suicide reviews have been mapped against the national suicide prevention aims
and National Confidential Inquiry into Suicides and Homicide findings.
The improvement plan looks at following areas:










Safer wards - ward environment, observations.
Dual diagnosis - assessment and treatment.
Staff turnover - staff support following a death.
Outreach teams - Assertive Outreach and working with people who may be difficult to
engage.
Personalised risk management - coproduced safety plans.
Guidance on depression.
Family involvement in learning lessons.
Crisis Home Treatment teams - brief intervention training.
Discharge planning and follow up.
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Financial
Year

Coroner
Conclusion
Suicide
21
28
37
26

Total
Suicides/Open
Conclusions
24
30
38
29

Prison
Deaths

Total

2012-13
2013-14
2014-15
2015-16

Coroner
Conclusion
Open Death
3
2
1
3

2
12
12
24

26
42
50
53

2016-17

0

73

7

20

27

Total

9

119

128

70

198

Going forward






Align Trust and local suicide data with the National Confidential Inquiry Suicides and
Homicides.
Review how national and local findings are incorporated into the clinical risk training
for staff.
Engage in Pan Dorset Suicide Prevention group.
Develop family and staff support post suicide.
Develop family involvement in investigation process.

Deteriorating Patient
All inpatients on our community hospital wards will have a baseline National Early
Warning Score (NEWS) recorded on clinical systems on initial assessment.
The Trust will use SBAR (Situation, Background, Assessment, Recommendations)
tool for all inpatients in our community hospital wards that deteriorate and require a
response.
National hospital
mortality statistics reveal
that a disturbing
numbers of patient’s
conditions go
unrecognised simply
because staff fail to spot
or act upon deterioration
in their condition.

Key successes to date:



3

Developed a 10 minute tool box training package to improve NEWS scoring, when
and how to escalate using SBAR. This will ensure that the patient and carers wishes
are respected when there are signs of deterioration.
Clinical staff actively participating in the auditing of NEWS improving understanding
and raising awareness of the deteriorating patient.

Apparent reduction in numbers due to inquests not yet concluded.
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In Quarter 3 the NEWS audit results showed 100% compliance for the standard
action implemented when indicated by NEWS score.

Going forward






Focus on development of Treatment Escalation Plans (TEP) a document that
supports the early recognitions of patient wishes and needs to support end of life
decisions.
Continue to support the development of clinical skills.
Aim to reduce the number of inappropriate transfers from the community to an Acute
Trust.
Continue to work with GPs to roll out the Dorset Care Plan to ensure patients and
carers wishes are respected when there are signs of deterioration.
Continue to support staff to audit NEWS.

CELEBRATING ACHIEVEMENT
Joint Advisory Group on Gastrointestinal Endoscopy
Swanage Hospital Day Surgery
and Endoscopy Unit have been
awarded accreditation for 2017
after achieving endoscopy
standards.
The Joint Advisory Group on
Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (JAG)
accreditation quality assurance
standards provides a framework of
requirements to support the
assessment of endoscopy
services.
Swanage and Wimborne
Community Hospitals have both
been accredited.
The standards cover:




Clinical quality (Leadership and Organisation, Safety, Comfort, Quality,
Appropriateness, Results).
Quality of the patient experience (respect and dignity, consent process and patient
information, patient environment and equipment, access and booking, planning and
productivity, aftercare, patient involvement).
Workforce (team work, workforce delivery, professional development).

Swanage Hospital achieved accreditation following on-site inspection in June 2014. They
were the first endoscopy unit to gain this status in the Trust. For 2015 and 2016 submission
of a report card in October was required to verify that standards continue to be achieved.
The report card, signed by Chief Executive Ron Shields, accompanies evidence that
Swanage Hospital meets national standards for waiting times and patients were seen within
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six weeks of referral from their GP. Submission of patient feedback and staff surveys were
also required. Five years after our initial inspection we will be required to undergo a further
site visit.
There is an enormous amount of work involved in achieving the standards in addition to
ongoing process reviews and improvement, particularly this year as the standards
themselves were revised for 2017. The staff in the unit are all committed to providing a high
standard of care and treat patients as they would wish to be treated themselves. This is
reflected in the positive and pleasing feedback received in the local patient survey
responses.
As an accredited unit, for the past year Swanage has been able to support the National
Bowel Scope Programme which offers a one off screening to all people as they turn 55 years
and 3 months. The screening team from Poole Hospital attends for this with the Swanage
team supporting them.
With the Clinical Services Review underway we look forward to continuing our endoscopy
services in the future.

Advancing Clinical Practice in Dorset Healthcare

Health Education England defines advanced practice as “delivered by experienced
registered healthcare practitioners. It is a level of practice characterised by a high level of
autonomy and complex decision-making. This is underpinned by a masters level award or
equivalent that encompasses the four pillars of clinical practice, management and
leadership, education and research, with demonstration of core and area specific clinical
competence.”
The Trust Advanced Practice Group has developed a Framework of three clinical career
pathways; Clinical Practice, Management / Leadership, and Education / Research.
A suite of generic job descriptions and person specifications for all clinical roles on the
career pathways have been agreed and are in use for recruitment ensuring consistency and
contributing to a reduction in the time to hire. Existing staff are able to adopt these job
descriptions if they wish as part of their usual management supervision discussions.
Core skills and competencies identified in developing the job descriptions and person
specifications will form the underpinning for the future development of role specific
competencies.
Supporting generic learning pathways have been identified; the Advanced Practice Masters
programme has been revised through collaboration with Bournemouth University and has
been sent for validation in readiness for September 2017 enrolments. Role specific learning
pathways aligned to university modules are in development.
The Group has welcomed the opportunity to work with partner organisations, acute trusts,
the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), and has, through the Advanced Practice
Reference Group at Health Education England (Wessex), contributed to the Wessex
regional framework and subsequently, the national forum on advanced clinical practice. This
extended scope has resulted in support for the ongoing development of Advanced Practice
in the Trust and agreement that Advanced Practice should be aligned across acute trusts
and primary care.
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The project has funded a total of 16 staff in 22 advanced practice masters modules at
Bournemouth University, and action learning sets for Consultant Practitioners and Advanced
Practitioners respectively.
The career framework will be formally launched at an event to celebrate advancing and
advanced practice on Friday 19 May 2017 to coincide with the Trust’s Learning week.
The Trust presented at a national conference on Reducing the Use of Restrictive
Interventions in London on 19th April 2016 and was invited to present again in January 2017.
It has also presented at the Non-Medical Prescribers’ conference.
We have developed Coroner Court information, staff support pack and training programme
which includes testimonials from staff and input from Trust Solicitor and local Coroner’s
office.
Our use of videos capturing carers’ stories and experiences following serious incidents was
sighted as good practice by Care Quality Commission (CQC).
We have reviewed how we capture and monitor our mortality data and developed a software
system to support the management of the inquest process to support staff and families
where there are ongoing cases.

Memory Assessment Service

At the Clinical Research Network Wessex
Awards Ceremony held on the 14 March
2017 the Memory Assessment Service
(MAS) was awarded runner up in the
category of Outstanding Engagement in a
Clinical Team.
The MAS have demonstrated not only an
openesss to engage in research, they
have supported senior staff to have time
to act as Principal Investiagtors enabling
the Trust to participate in a number of
studies
The MAS team has reviewed their referral processes to ensure research can be shared with
patients and carers. In summary the MAS team demonstrate outstanding engagement with
research because:






There is an engaged team leader who has allocated resources for research,
promoted recruitment to and delivery of portfolio research and enabled discussions
about research at team meetings and away days.
The team leader acts as Principal Investigator for the dementia trials.
The senior Occupational Therapist’s plays a key part in dementia trials.
The service works across different teams in order to run studies efficiently reducing
barriers to recruitment and thereby maximise recruitment opportunities.
The Consultant actively refers to and discusses research opportunities during
appointments.
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The service works closely with the Research and Development team on how to
engage collaboratively and in consultation around different recruitment strategies.

Patients and carers of the service have a much greater opportunity to participate in research;
staff have increased confidence and capability in delivering research; the development of a
consent to contact form with patients and carers that can be used elsewhere in the Trust;
increased recruitment to portfolio research studies within the clinical area and consequently
across the Trust.

Quality Matters Awards

Our Quality Matters Conference was held on Friday 27 January 2017. The event brought
more than 100 staff together to celebrate quality improvement initiatives and unveiled the
winners of the clinical audit, research project and service improvement project of the year for
2016. The awards were presented by the Trust Deputy Chair Lynne Hunt and Professor
Jane Reid, Clinical Lead Wessex Patient Safety Collaborative, Regional Lead (South of
England) for Sign up to Safety.
Clinical Audit Award
Paula Beesley – Theatre Sister and Julie
Lloyd – Theatre Senior Sister
Accuracy of Completion of Consent Form
Audit
To evaluate the accuracy and competence of
consent form completion for endoscopy
patients after Nurse Consent was introduced
in the Day Surgery Unit in 2015.

Research Project Award

Sue Southam – Occupational Therapist
Exploring the relationship between
functional ability and scores on the
Adolescent/Adult Sensory Profile for
people with mild to moderate dementia
(pilot study for MRes submission, NIHR
studentship, University of Southampton)
To explore the relationship between the way
an individual with dementia processes
sensory information and how this affects their
functional ability. Observations from clinical
practice suggest that there may be an
influence but little published evidence
currently exists.
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Service Improvement Award

Mark Smith – Business and Development
Manager Mental Health Services and Emily
Diment, - Senior Public Health Intelligence
Analyst
The Smokefree Trust
Around 70% of patients discharged from
psychiatric care are smokers. People with a
mental illness who smoke are more likely to
be heavier smokers and more tobacco
dependent than smokers in the general
population. As a NHS Trust we have a duty to
support our patients to live longer and
healthier lives. We introduced the Smoke
Free Trust to Dorset HealthCare from 1 April
2017.

Duty Of Candour

Health professionals must be open and honest with patients when things go wrong. This is
also known as the Duty of Candour. Candour is defined in Robert Francis’ report as: “The
volunteering of all relevant information to persons who have or may have been harmed by
the provision of services, whether or not the information has been requested and whether or
not a complaint or a report about that provision has been made.”
The Duty of Candour is a legal duty on hospital, community and mental health trusts to
inform and apologise to patients if there have been mistakes in their care that have led to
significant harm. The Duty of Candour aims to help patients receive accurate, truthful
information from health providers. All NHS provider bodies registered with the Care Quality
Commission (CQC) have to comply with a new statutory Duty of Candour.
The Trust has implemented the Duty of Candour requirements and advises staff in section 8
of the Trust’s policy for Reporting and Management of Incidents and section 6 of the Trust’s
Being Open policy. These policies have been reviewed and updated following the CQC
publication in December 2016 Learning, Candour and Accountability.
As a Trust we are committed to being open with patients and carers when events such as
these occur so that we gain a shared understanding of what happened, and what we can do
to prevent it from happening again.
The table below shows the number of incidents where the formal Duty of Candour process
has been actioned during the period February 2016 to January 2017.4

4

Duty of Candour figures are counted on the date of the Panel Hearing and not the date of the
incident.
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Cause Group
Pressure Ulcers
Slips, Trips And
Falls
Violence/Assault
Total

Month Duty of candour identified
Jun- Jul- Aug- Sep- Oct- Nov16
16
16
16
16
16
0
5
4
3
3
2

Feb16
5

Mar16
3

Apr16
2

May16
2

2

0

0

1

1

0

0

0

0

1
8

0
3

0
2

0
3

0
1

0
5

0
4

0
3

0
3

Dec16
6

Jan17
8

Total

0

1

0

5

0
2

0
7

0
8

1
49

All patient safety incidents reported that result in moderate harm or above are investigated
and the investigation process includes involvement of the patient and carers where possible.
In those incidents where Duty of Candour has been identified due to an act or omission by
the Trust, the locality managers have a responsibility to manage the Duty of Candour
process and ensure the process is carried out in line with the prescribed steps. They are
also responsible for liaising with patients/service users and their family and confirming what
action is being taken.
The Medical Director and Director of Nursing and Quality are also available to families and
their carers to discuss the care and treatment of their family member.
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STATEMENTS OF ASSURANCE FROM THE BOARD
Review of Services
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust is responsible for community and
mental health services across Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset. The Trust also provides
Steps to Wellbeing services in Southampton and until 31 March 2017 provided prison
healthcare in Dorset and Devon. The Trust serves a population in excess of 787,000 people,
employing some 5,793 substantive staff with an income of £260,882,000.

Mandatory Statement One
During 2016/17 the Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust provided
and/or sub-contracted 104 relevant health services.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the data
available to them on the quality of care in 104 of these relevant health services.
The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2016/17
represents 93.71 percent of the total income generated from the provision of
relevant health services by the Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust
for 2016/17.

Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust provides 104 services and has
reviewed them in the following ways:
The Board
The Board receives a monthly integrated corporate dashboard which sets out performance
across a range of quality metrics under the domains of safe, effective, caring, well-led and
responsive. The dashboard includes exception reports where further information is provided
to explain performance and actions being taken to improve the position.
The Board also receives annual reports in respect of patient experience, complaints,
safeguarding and infection prevention and control.
The Board receives a patient story at each meeting.
The Quality Governance Committee
The Quality Governance Committee, which meets quarterly, receives reports on:




Serious incidents requiring investigation
Progress with recommendations following review of serious incidents requiring
investigation
Inpatient staffing assurance.

The Audit Committee
The purpose of the Committee is to acquire and scrutinise assurances during the year as to
37

the integrity of the Trust’s principal disclosure statements, including financial statements.
This is carried out by scrutinising assurances on the design and operation of controls. The
Committee will acquire and scrutinise assurances relating to the following:






Annual Governance Statement relating to the system of internal control, which may
include letters of representation;
Annual Report and Accounts, with accounting policies, and Notes to the Accounts;
Compliance with the Monitor Licence and, in particular, the Corporate Governance
Statement;
Annual disclosures in relation to the Code of Governance for NHS Foundation Trusts;
To set and agree the internal audit plan and review the findings and
recommendations of the reports received.

Mental Health Legislation Assurance Committee
The Committee, which meets quarterly, is the specialist arm of the Quality Governance
Committee. The Committee receives a quarterly dashboard on Mental Health Act
compliance metrics.
Executive Quality & Clinical Risk Group
The monthly meeting of the Group receives reports on:








Moderate, major and catastrophic incidents
A summary of reviewed serious incidents, falls and pressure ulcers
Screening incidents and reports
A staffing assurance report
Clinical Risks
Mortality / End of Life
Clinical audit plan progress.

Director Visits
Underpinning the formal reporting to groups is a system of Director visits to Trust services
and sites.
Information relating to patient experience
Regular performance reports to the Trust Board incorporating measures on patient
experience including: percentage of patients that felt safe, Friends and Family Test (FFT)
scores, compliments and complaints.
Reports to the Board, Quality Governance Committee, Executive Quality and Clinical Risk
Group:






National and local service user survey results
Real time feedback
Quarterly Patient Experience report
Quarterly Complaints Board report (available on the Trust Website)
Annual compliments and complaints reporting including lessons learnt (available on
the Trust website).

In addition the Trust Non-Executive Directors have undertaken a combination of announced
and unannounced visits to the wards and units.
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The Trust continues to use Quality of Interaction Schedule (QUIS) (Dean, Proudfoot &
Lindesay 1993), a well-regarded observational technique to capture patient experience.
QUIS pioneered by the Patient Association is a systematic way of observing the quality of
interactions of care between staff and patients. It is an additional way of capturing patient
experience, pioneered to understand the care experiences of people who are unable to tell
us themselves. Observations are recorded if the interaction was positive, basic care/neutral
care or negative care. Feedback is given directly to the manager at the time of observation.
The observations are carried out for a forty minute period. Feedback overall is collated and
a written account is produced to share with staff and wider to see if there is any further
learning.
Information relating to patient safety
A range of reports are sent to the Board, Quality Governance Committee, Executive Quality
and Clinical Risk Group, including;











Incident report included within the monthly directorate reports
Moderate Harm and Above Incidents monthly report
Early Warning Trigger Tool and Quality, Effectiveness and Safety Trigger Tool
reports
Central Alerting System compliance reports
Safety Thermometer reports
Quarterly report of serious incident recommendations and progress
Quarterly safeguarding children and vulnerable adult report
Six-monthly National Reporting and Learning Service Cluster Report
Quarterly and Annual Sign Up To Safety reports
Clinical Risks.

Information relating to clinical effectiveness
Regular performance reports to the Board incorporating measures on clinical effectiveness
include:





The number of inpatients having an annual physical health check
The percentage of patients screened for malnutrition
The percentage of patients screened for Venous Thromboembolism (within 24 hours)
The number of falls that have resulted in harm to a patient.

Reports to the Board, Quality Governance Committee and, Executive Quality and Clinical
Risk Group, include:





Monthly reporting on compliance with NICE Technology Appraisals and Guidelines
Report on the annual clinical audit programme
Quarterly Mortality Report
Monthly report on Care Quality Commission action plans.

While the Trust has reviewed information across the three domains of quality, we recognise
that reporting and reviewing data at a more granular level i.e. team / ward is required. We
took this forward throughout 2016/17 and have implemented the following actions:



Weekly automated complaint reports providing information on all open complaints
shared with all locality leads and directors
Online real-time reports available for all inpatient and community teams which
provide a Friends and Family Test (FFT) breakdown for their team
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Quality notice boards on all inpatient wards summarising compliments, complaints,
‘You said…we did’ (response to patient feedback) and patient experience survey
results for the Quarter
Team-based outcome reports which provide an overview of quality indicators
including: patient safety, staffing, early warning indicators, and patient and staff
experience, along with a section on how the service has been improved through
patient involvement events or partnership working. These are available at a team
super-locality and Board level
Audit reports are given to teams, providing information on how clinical practice is
complying with standards
Internal quality assurance visits which help services evidence compliance with
CQC regulation.

PARTICIPATION IN CLINICAL AUDITS AND NATIONAL CONFIDENTIAL
ENQUIRES

Mandatory Statement Two
During 2016/17, four national clinical
audits and two national confidential
enquiries covered relevant health services
that Dorset HealthCare University NHS
Foundation Trust provides.
During that period Dorset HealthCare
University
NHS
Foundation
Trust
participated in 100% national clinical
audits and 100% national confidential
enquiries of the national clinical audits
and national confidential enquiries which
it was eligible to participate in.
The national clinical audits and national
confidential
enquiries
that
Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation
Trust was eligible to participate in during
2016/17 are as follows:
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National Confidential Enquiries 2016/17
National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People with Mental Illness

National Clinical Audits 2016/17
Prescribing in Mental Health Services (POMH)
 Prescribing for Rapid Tranquilisation (Topic 16a)
 Monitoring of patients prescribed Lithium (Topic 7e)
 Prescribing high-dose and combined antipsychotics (Topic 1g & 3d)
Elective Surgery (National PROMs Programme)
Royal College of Psychiatry
 Mental Health Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) 2015/16 and
2016/17(Indicator 3a)
 Early Intervention in Psychosis Audit
Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP)
National Confidential Enquiry into Young People and Mental Health

Mandatory Statement Two continued
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust participated in during 2016/17 are as
follows:

National Clinical Audits 2016/17
Prescribing in Mental Health Services (POMH)
 Prescribing for Rapid Tranquilisation (Topic 16a)
 Monitoring of patients prescribed Lithium (Topic 7e)
 Prescribing high-dose and combined antipsychotics (Topic 1g & 3d)
Elective Surgery (National PROMs Programme)
Royal College of Psychiatry
 Mental Health CQUIN 2015/16 and 2016/17(Indicator 3a)
 Early Intervention in Psychosis Audit
Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP)
National Confidential Enquiries 2016/17
National Confidential Inquiry into Suicide and Homicide by People with Mental Illness
National Confidential Enquiry into Young People and Mental Health
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Mandatory Statement Two continued
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust participated in, and for which data
collection was completed during 2016/17, are listed below alongside the number of
cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a percentage of the number of
registered cases required by the terms of that audit or enquiry.

National Clinical Audits 2016/17

Participation

Prescribing in mental health services (POMH):
Prescribing for Rapid Tranquilisation

(Topic 16a)
Prescribing for Lithium (Topic 7e)

Prescribing high-dose and combined
antipsychotics (Topic 1g & 3d)
Elective Surgery (National PROMs
Programme)
National Clinical Audits 2016/17

Number of
cases
submitted

% cases
submitted

8 Teams 185

100%

16 Teams 80

100%



In progress



71 to Q3

100%

Participation

Number of
cases
submitted

% cases
submitted



100

100%



100

100%

126 to Q3

100%

Royal College of Psychiatry
Mental Health CQUIN 2016/17
(Indicator 3a)
Early Intervention in Psychosis Audit
Sentinel Stroke National Audit
Programme
National Confidential Inquiry into
Suicide and homicide by people with
mental illness




29

90%

National Confidential Enquiry into
Young People and Mental Health



18

100%

Mandatory Statement Two continued
The reports of three national clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2016/17
and Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following
actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided:


The EQ5D system (a standardised tool to measure health outcomes) used in patient
reported outcome measures provides two measures of pre- and post-operative
health; the EQ5D (a descriptive system) and the EQ-VAS (a visual analogue scale).
The Trust’s EQ5D index average adjusted health gain (the rate by which patient’s
feel their condition has improved following surgery) was 0.088, which matched the
national average of 0.088. The Trust’s EQ5D VAS average adjusted health gain was
-0.678 against an average of -0.80 (a negative score would indicate that a patient felt
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their condition had worsened following surgery), these results are discussed with the
surgeons to inform how they manage the expectations they set with patients.


The Early Intervention in Psychosis (EIP) element of the CQUIN changed mid-year
from a national mandated audit to a locally led exercise. This requires that providers
demonstrate progress towards the aims of the CQUIN in EIP teams to
commissioners through a locally led exercise with reporting of findings to be assured
by locally agreed governance arrangements. The CQUIN timescales asks providers
to demonstrate improvements with this area by the end of September 2016. The
service successfully met the locally agreed 80% target by the end of September with
compliance reported as 81%. It is therefore proposed that this reporting mechanism
is used as the ‘locally led exercise’ for the purpose of the CQUIN; this scorecard is
included within the CCG Contractual Performance report and is discussed at the
monthly contract meetings which form part of the locally agreed governance
arrangements.

It is also noted that:


The results from the Sentinel Stroke audit, which compares provision of therapy
services, in the Early Supported Discharge (ESD) team, show above average
incidences of daily therapy treatments given when compared with the national
average. The demand on this service is growing and there is work occurring to
improve the pathway of care for this patient group as they are discharged to the
integrated community rehabilitation teams. This aligns with the national focus of this
audit.

Mandatory Statement Two – continued
The reports of five local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in 2016/17 and
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following
actions to improve the quality of healthcare provided:

Audit
Discharge

Action

Date Due

This audit reviews the planning of discharge from
community hospitals and the information/documentation
shared with patients, carers and GP’s. The improvement
of compliance over the year is mainly due to the
successful implementation of a new discharge checklist
(standard 5); completion of this form has helped provide
evidence that other standards are being met.
The discharge checklist is the most sensible place to
provide evidence of this information and reinforcing its
use will help to standardise documentation across the
Trust.

43

June 2017

Audit

Action

Date Due

Transition from
Child
Adolescent
Mental Health
Service
(CAMHS) to
Adult Mental
Health Service

A transition task and finish group has been set up which
includes representatives from CAMHS, Adult Mental
Health, Steps to Wellbeing, Learning Disability Service,
Adult Asperger Service, Business and Performance and
Clinical Effectiveness.
Members of the task and finish group have obtained
feedback on what the current transition process feels like
to a young person and what it feels like for their parent.
This was achieved by attending support groups with
specific sessions to discuss transition and one to one
feedback from service users.
Draft transition pathways have been developed, that take
into consideration the recent NICE guidance and the
feedback obtained from the groups.

Bi annually

Physical health
checks for
patients with
psychosis

Weekly team based performance reports are created to
provide feedback showing compliance on the proportion
of eligible patients who have had the relevant health
checks. These reports have been used successfully to
improve local processes and identify areas of good
practice.
A physical health offer has been developed and agreed
by the Medical Advisory Committee and Mental Health
Managers outlining the Physical Health Pathway and
interventions. Good practice that has been identified has
shaped improvement and training plans going forward.
The launch event on 7 December 2016 included training
on Physical Health Awareness, Good Practice
Interventions and Pathways.

June 2017

Care Plans
/Record
keeping

Many teams are using the Excel work books for regular
clinical audit of their record keeping. We are collating
Trust wide results for the following teams; community
hospitals, Community Mental Health Teams, Children’s
Mental Health Services, Community Matrons, District
Nurses, Health Visitors, Integrated Community
Rehabilitation Teams and Physiotherapy, so that
quarterly compliance and improvement can be mapped.
The Health Records Policy has been rewritten to
encompass both paper and electronic health records
standards for clinical record keeping.

June 2017

National Early
Warning Score
(NEWS)

The 2016/17 audit tool was developed by the Clinical
Audit team to include more detailed deterioration of
patient standards. The audit results show that over the
last two years there has been a steady improvement in
the action implemented when indicated by NEWS score,
reaching 100% in Quarter 3. The deteriorating patient
Sign up to Safety work stream has been instrumental in
driving this quality improvement.

June 2017
(re-audit)
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PARTICIPATION IN CLINICAL RESEARCH

Mandatory Statement Three Participation
in clinical research
The number of patients receiving relevant
health services provided or subcontracted
by
Dorset
HealthCare
University NHS Foundation Trust in
2016/17 that were recruited during that
period to participate in research approved
by a Research Ethics Committee was 279.

DHC’s research and development function has continued to promote participation in clinical
research in 2016/17, expanding the number of people participating and the areas of the
Trust engaging in research activity. Research helps the NHS to improve the quality of care
and the future health of the population. The continued participation in clinical research
demonstrates DHC’s commitment to improve the quality of care that the Trust offers users of
the services it provides.
This year the Trust has developed its research activity expanding into a number of new
areas including rehabilitation following surgery, services for adults with autism and genetic
counselling in psychiatric care. The Trust’s Memory Assessment Service has been
shortlisted by National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) for the Wessex research awards
in the category of clinical engagement in research for 2016/17. The Trust hosted Principal
Investigators (PI) training for staff which has enabled a number to take on PI roles. The
Trust has developed its capacity to host commercial research and has been selected as a
site for its first study by inVentiv Health5 in dementia which will commence shortly.
Alongside the studies adopted on to the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR)
portfolio the Trust has supported non-portfolio research led by its own staff. The topic areas
for all types of research include:











5

Dementia and neuro-degenerative illness
Rehabilitation following knee surgery
Motivation to attend assessment in eating disorders
Evaluation of liaison diversion schemes
Peri-natal mental health
Mapping and evaluating services for adults with autism
Improving balance in those with dementia using Tai Chi
Evaluating support for carers of those with dementia and sufferers in
improving quality of life
Evaluation of peer supported self-management for relatives of those with bipolar disorder
Evaluation of the treatment pathway for those with psychosis
Investigation into burnout within Improved Access to Psychological Therapies
(IAPT) services

inVentiv Health are a global company which supports research programmes and drug development.
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This expansion has been supported by the increase in staff resources to assist clinicians /
researchers in the delivery of research in particular the development of strong research
governance systems within the Trust making us self-supporting in this area.
Collaborative Working
The Trust works in collaboration with other NHS Trusts within Dorset and this led to
participation in a new study on rehabilitation after knee surgery between the Trust and
Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. The Trust maintained its links with national
research centres such as Kings College London and the Maudsley Hospital expanding the
range of research that can be accessed by those who use our services. The Trust also
ensures regular participation in and support of the National Institute for Health Research
(NHIR) Wessex team and its functions supporting research across the Wessex region.
Trust staff collaborate in research with staff at Bournemouth and Southampton Universities an example is Evaluation of Prognostic Factors in Plantar Fasciitis, whilst collaborations with
other universities, such as, York, Sheffield, Bristol and East London have been set up this
year. Staff also collaborate on grant applications seeking funding to support research, for
example in the areas of dementia and eating disorders. The Trust is a member of the Dorset
Research Group hosted by Bournemouth University with an aim to enhance collaboration
across the health sector in Dorset. The Trust continues its support of a NIHR fellow
research development programme looking into falls reduction in dementia with Bournemouth
University and Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust.
Research studies
During 2016/17 the Trust participated in 39 research studies both portfolio and non-portfolio
studies. The Trust publishes its performance in research on its website quarterly in line with
Government guidance. The Trust has recruited 279 participants into NIHR research studies
which surpasses the target set by the NIHR for the Trust by over 100 people. The Trust has
successfully increased its recruitment figures year on year and this has led to increased
investment from the NIHR into the Trust to support capacity to deliver research.
Going forward
As this report shows, the Trust has maintained momentum and enthusiasm for clinical
research and the plan is to continue to develop its clinical research activity and capacity.
This is supported by the capacity to deliver commercial research activity in selected areas of
the Trust where experience exists within our staff teams and the selection of the Trust as a
site for its first commercial research trial in the area of dementia this year. The income
generated from this development will hasten the growth of the research capacity of the Trust
and greatly increase the opportunity for patients and carers to participate in clinical research
within our services.
The Research Strategy agreed by the Trust Board covering the years 2016-2019 sets out
the aims and the objectives of the Trust for the coming years with a focus on increasing
research activity across more services by more Trust staff. In support of this strategy the
Trust will enable the development of its staff in the delivery of portfolio research and in the
creation of their own research activities to promote, quality, innovation and participation.
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COMMISSIONING FOR QUALITY AND INNOVATION (CQUIN) FRAMEWORK

Mandatory Statement Four - Commissioning for quality and innovation (CQUIN)
framework
A proportion of Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust income in
2016/17 was conditional upon achieving quality improvement and innovation goals
agreed between Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust and any
person or body they entered into a contract, agreement or arrangement with for the
provision of relevant health services, through the Commissioning for Quality and
Innovation payment framework. Further details of the agreed goals for 2016/17 and
for the following twelve month period are available electronically at:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/nhs-standard-contract/cquin/cquin-16-17/

The amount of income in 2016/17 conditional upon achieving quality improvement and
innovation goals is £4,767,000. The Trust did not achieve the target related to the uptake of
the flu vaccination. However, our commissioners are reviewing the progress we have made
and our plans to improve year on year. Early indications are that payment will not be
withheld.
The progress of the CQUIN targets is monitored on a monthly basis to the Executive
Performance and Corporate Risk Group, and quarterly to the Trust Board. As at the end of
Quarter 4 the position was the amount of income in 2016/17 conditional upon achieving
quality improvement and innovation goals is £4,767,000. The outcome of this year’s
CQUIN programme is currently under consideration by Dorset CCG and the Trust will be
notified of this by the end of May 2017.
As well as the flu CQUIN there are two other areas we have rated amber:



Healthy food for NHS staff, visitors and patients – we have taken forward various
initiatives to meet this CQUIN and are awaiting confirmation from Dorset CCG that
we have made sufficient progress to achieve compliance.
Improving physical healthcare to reduce premature mortality in people with serious
mental illness (SMI) – we have achieved 96% compliance and are awaiting
confirmation from Dorset CCG that we have achieved the milestone for this CQUIN
indicator.
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Deliverable

RAG
Rating

1. NHS Staff health and wellbeing
1a Introduction of health and wellbeing initiatives (Two options only one to
be selected) option B selected

G

1b Healthy food for NHS staff, visitors and patients

A

1c Improving the uptake of flu vaccinations for frontline staff within
Providers

R

2. Cardio and metabolic assessment and treatment for patients with psychoses
2a Improving Physical healthcare to reduce premature mortality in people
with SMI: Cardio Metabolic Assessment and treatment for Patients with
Psychoses
2b Communication with General Practitioners

A

A/G

3. Mortality Governance Framework
To develop and maintain a robust process for mortality reviews across the
Trust including Learning Disabilitiy mortality reviews

G

4. Improving Transfer and Discharge of Care
Support improvements in patient flow and improve the quality and safety of
care for patients requiring hospital care

A/G

5. Frailty identification and care planning
Promote a system of timely identification and proactive management of
frailty in community providers

G

NHSE Specialised
Reducing the Length of Stay (LoS) in Specialised Mental Health services
(Medium and Low Secure version)

A/G

Reducing the Length of Stay (LoS) in Specialised Mental Health services
(CAMHS services)

A/G

MH4 Improving CAMHS Care Pathway Journeys by Enhancing the
Experience of Family/Carer

G

NHSE Dental
Managed Clinical Networks

A/G

Data Reporting Standards (A)

G

Data Reporting Standards (B)

G

Met - G

Partially met –A/G

In progress - A
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Not met - R

REGISTRATION WITH THE CARE QUALITY COMMISSION (CQC)

Mandatory Statement Five – Registration with the Care Quality Commission
(CQC)
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with
the Care Quality Commission and its current registration status is ‘without
restrictive conditions’.
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust has the following
conditions on registration ‘licensed to provide the following regulated
activities’:









Personal care
Termination of pregnancies
Nursing care
Family planning
Treatment of disease, disorder or injury
Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained under the Mental
Health Act 1983
Surgical procedures
Diagnostic and screening procedures

The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust during 2016/17.

Meeting Care Quality Commission Fundamental Standards
The Trusts overall rating by CQC is ‘requires improvement’. The CQC award ratings based
on a combination of what they find at inspection, what people tell them, data they collect and
local information provided by the Trust. The ratings are awarded on a four point scale;

CQC Ratings
Outstanding

The service is performing exceptionally well.

Good

The service is performing well and meeting our
expectations.

Requires
improvement

The service isn't performing as well as it should and
we have told the service how it must improve.

Inadequate

The service is performing badly and we've taken
action against the person or organisation that runs it.
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CQC use five key questions in their assessment of quality each one having equal weight. A
rating is awarded for each question and our overall rating for each one is shown below.
Domain

Overall Rating

RAG

Are services safe?

Requires improvement

Are services effective?

Requires improvement

Are services caring?

Good

Are services responsive

Requires improvement

Are services well-led?

Requires improvement

In March 2016 the CQC carried out a focused inspection of seven core service services
which were rated as required improvement within the Trust. The CQC visited the following
services:








Community Mental Health teams
Crisis Teams and Health Based Place of Safety
Older people mental health wards
Long stay rehabilitation wards
Community Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service
Older people mental health community
Minor Injury Units/urgent care.

The purpose of this inspection was to evaluate the progress being made by the Trust against
the Quality Improvement Plans for these core services from the CQC Comprehensive
inspection in June 2015.
Four of the core services moved from a rating of ‘requires improvement’ to a rating of ‘good’.
These are:





Wards for older people with mental health problems
Long stay rehabilitation wards
Specialist community mental health services for children and young people (CAMHS
Community)
Urgent Care Services.

Three core services are still rated as ‘requires improvement’:




Community based mental health services for adults
Community based services for older people with mental health problems
Crisis and health based places of safety.

The reports indicate that progress has been made across all the services re-inspected;
however, the three services where the rating did not change did not demonstrate that
improvements had been made across all areas at the pace expected. The report states:
“The Trust had made considerable progress since our last inspection however the
lack of progress in community mental health services meant that although four
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services had their ratings changed to Good, the overall Trust rating of Requires
Improvement remains the same.”
The table below highlights the changes to the rating since the comprehensive inspection in
June 2015. The Substance Misuse Services was inspected in December 2016 as had not
been previously inspected. The service was rated as ‘good’ across the five domains and
received and overall rating of ‘good’, across 17 core services from December.
Oct 2015

Sept 2016

Dec 2016

Core Service Areas

16

16

17

Outstanding

2

2

2

Good

4

8

9

Requires
Improvement

10

6

6

Inadequate

0

0

0

Areas of good practice highlighted in the reports
Urgent care services, which consists the minor injuries units, had improved greatly. Staff felt
engaged with the improvements and felt that leadership had improved.
Child and adolescent mental health services now considered risk at every point in the child’s
pathway through services. Waiting lists were monitored and staff were enthusiastic about
the changes and fully engaged in the improvements to the service.
The Trust had addressed concerns around privacy and dignity in older people’s mental
health wards. This included addressing culture on the wards as well as environmental
challenges. Staff were warm, kind and respectful when interacting with patients.
CQC found a full and comprehensive programme of therapeutic, recovery focussed activities
across the long stay rehabilitation wards of Nightingale Court, Nightingale House and
Glendinning Ward.
Glendinning Ward had created a new arts and crafts room and had audited the success of
its patient led activities program. Activity plans were patient led and designed around
personal needs and choices.
Areas Requiring Improvement
The Community Mental Health Teams and Crisis Team still had challenges with staffing and
relationships between the teams still needs to be improved.
Record keeping still had gaps. There was an action plan by the Trust in place to address
this and the Trust has kept CQC informed of further progress since their visit.
There had been progress in some areas including the introduction of a new crisis line and a
staffing review which identified shortfalls in team sizes which was being addressed.
Community Mental Health Teams for older people also had inconsistent record keeping.
CQC were concerned that application of the Mental Capacity Act was not embedded in
practice. Teams still worked in isolation and practice and e-learning was not shared.
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However, a strategic review of older people’s mental health services was being undertaken
and caseload sizes had been reduced.
Actions in response to the CQC findings
Areas identified for improvement following the CQC inspections in 2015 were formed into a
CQC Action Plan with priorities specified “must do” and “should do”. The plan was updated
for the seven core services re-inspected in March 2016. This plan is monitored by the
Programme Management Office (PMO) and evidence of delivery is reviewed by the Quality
Assurance team. For each of the 17 core services, a single business owner is charged with
providing to the PMO a consolidated update against action plans for reporting purposes.
The PMO maintains a dashboard on delivery against plan, reporting monthly to the Trust’s
executive team and escalating issues when appropriate. The Quality Assurance team
reviews evidence provided, re-inspects where appropriate, shares lessons learned and
reports findings to the quality executive.
Must Do Actions
As at 31 March 2017 a total of 40 ‘must do’ actions have been identified through the
inspection process. 27 of the must do actions are within the mental health core service areas
(67%) with 13 (33%) attributed to the community core service areas.
Should Do Actions
Across the core service reports there are a total of 64 ‘should do’ actions. As at 31 March
2017 27 of these actions are within the mental health core services (42%) and 37 (58%)
within the community core services.
Progress with the actions as at 31 March 2017 is shown below;

Must Do Actions
1

17

13

9

Amber

Amber green

Green

Complete

Should Do Actions
1 4
32

Red

Amber

8
19

Amber green
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Green

Complete

Progress is reported monthly to the Trust Executive Board and the latest reports can be
accessed via the Trust’s website https://dorsethealthcare.nhs.uk/
CQC were unable to rate the core service Mental Health Crisis Services and health based
places of Safety for the Safe domain because they were unable to collect sufficient
evidence. As a matter of good governance the Trust commissioned Professor Hilary
McCallion to undertake a review of this service with a focus on the aspects highlighted in the
CQC report. The report states that ‘We have concluded that these services would be
considered as “safe” with a possible CQC rating of “Good.” (February 2017).
Twynham Ward
Following the Mental Health Act (MHA) visit to Twynham Low Secure Ward on 23 January
2017 where initial feedback identified a number of concerns, the CQC carried out a
responsive unannounced compliance inspection. This inspection took place on 24 January
2017.
The purpose of the inspection was to follow up the concerns raised at the MHA scheduled
visit of Twynham ward by MHA Reviewers.
The concern raised with CQC Inspectors from the MHA visit was that patients who failed to
attend the 9.00 am meeting or groups held on the ward lost all or parts of their Section 17
leave, and that patients perceived the withholding of leave as punitive. Other concerns
included that patient’s risk assessments and care plans were not up to date and did not
reflect the known plans for patients.
Staff members interviewed by the inspectors were not clear about the link between the
attendance at groups and leave, and the decision making process. They reported that they
completed risk assessments about a patient’s current state of mental health if they did not
attend groups, and if they attended the morning meeting, and whilst in the groups. However,
the inspectors could find no evidence in the care notes of risk assessments or rationale to
rescind leave.
In light of concerns raised, the CQC required the Trust to implement a policy that clearly
identified how patients are assessed and when and for what reasons leave will be rescinded.
If there is any link between restricting leave and attendance at meetings this must have a
clear rationale and all staff and patients must understand this. All staff must receive training
in how to apply the policy and who can make the decisions about restricting leave.
The Trust was required to forward the policy and provide assurance that all staff have an
understanding of the policy and are applying it appropriately and assurance that all patients
know of the policy and have an understanding of how it will be applied and in what
circumstances by 24 February 2017.
In response to the concerns raised, the Trust reviewed the Section 17 Leave Policy and
developed a local protocol for Twynham Ward which specifically links allocation of leave with
engaging in the group activities.
This was supported by information and support sessions for staff and patients delivered by
one of the medical staff on the ward.
A full review of all care plans and risk assessments was undertaken to ensure reflection of
leave restrictions addressing any issues that may arise.
The Trusts overall rating for the five key questions by each core service is shown below.
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TRUST OVERALL RATING
Acute wards for adults of working age and
psychiatric intensive care units (PICU's)
Long stay/rehabilitation mental health wards for
working age adults
Forensic inpatient / secure wards
Child and adolescent mental health wards
Wards for older people with mental health problems
Community-based mental health services for adults
of working age
Mental health crisis services and health based places
of safety
Specialist community mental health services for
children and young people
Community-based mental health services for older
people
Community mental health services for people with a
learning disability or autism

Effective

Caring

Responsive

Well-led

Overall

Good

Good

Outstanding

Outstanding

Good

Outstanding

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement
Good
Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement
not rated6

Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement

Good
Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Forensic Community

Good

Community health services for adults

Good
Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Good

Outstanding

Outstanding

Good

Good

Outstanding

Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Substance misuse services

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Community health services for children, young
people and families

Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement

Good

End of life care

Good

Good

Good

Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement

Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement
Requires
Improvement

Urgent Care Services

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Good

Community health inpatient services

6

Safe

CQC did not collect sufficient evidence to make a rating on the key question of Safe
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Mandatory Statement Seven – Registration with the Care Quality Commission (CQC)
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust has not participated in any
special reviews or investigations by the Care Quality Commission during the
reporting period.

Thematic Reviews
Learning, Candour and Accountability
In August 2016 DHC participated in the thematic review on mortality across health care
services. The review looked at the way NHS Trusts review and investigate deaths of
patients in England. The Trust participation in this review was centred on how we manage
and respond to deaths of mental health patients and did not look at any other service group
user.
The review was based on evidence gathered during visits to a sample of 12 NHS Trusts, a
national survey of all NHS Trusts providing acute, mental health and community services
and interviews and discussions with over 100 families and carers, as well as information
from charities and NHS professionals.
In order to understand what problems exist and what improvements are required, CQC
looked at five different aspects of the processes and systems NHS Trusts need to have in
place in order to learn from the death of a patient.
Involvement of families and carers: How are families and carers treated? Are they
meaningfully involved and how do organisations learn from their experiences?
Identification and reporting: How are the deaths of people who use services identified and
reported, including to other organisations involved in a patient's care, by NHS clinicians and
staff, particularly when people die but are not an inpatient at the time of death?
Decision to review or investigate: Are there clear responsibilities and expectations to
support the decision to review or investigate?
Reviews and investigations: Is there evidence that investigations are undertaken properly
and in a way that is likely to identify missed opportunities for prevention of death and
improving services?
Governance and learning: Do NHS Trust Boards have effective governance arrangements
to drive quality and learning from the deaths of patients in receipt of care?
The report was published on 14 December 2016 and highlights the key finding under each
aspect. The full report can be found at:
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/learning-candour-and-accountability.
In response to the recommendations in the report we have developed our mortality reporting
and review processes and engage with the pan-Dorset mortality review process. We carry
out a weekly review of inpatient deaths reported to agree the level of investigation needed
for each one and the introduction of the after death analysis reviews. This had been part of
our quality priorities for 2016/17 and further detail can be found on page 14 of this report.
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Further work is required in the light of the recent publication by the National Quality Board –
National Guidance on Learning from Deaths: A Framework for Trusts and NHS Foundation
Trusts on Identifying, Reporting, Investigating and Learning from Deaths in Care (First
edition March 2017). This continuous improvement work will be driven forward by the Trust
Board to ensure we have robust governance processes in place and continue to learn from
incidents with full involvement and engagement from patients and families affected.
Special Educational Needs and Disability in Dorset
The Department for Education has asked Ofsted and the Care Quality Commission (CQC) to
inspect local areas on their effectiveness in fulfilling their duties towards disabled children
and young people and those who have special educational needs.
In January 2017 DHC took part in the joint CQC and Ofsted inspection of Dorset County
Council and its partners to look at local arrangements for special educational needs and
disability.
The inspection included focus groups from
 Education.
 Health and Social Care.
 Parents and Carers, and
 Children and Young People.
The team also visited a variety of settings such as:
 Schools Mainstream and Specialist Provision.
 Children Centres.
 Child Development Centre.
 Residential Care Provision.
The joint inspection held eleven focus groups between 23 January 2017 and 26 January
2017 involving staff from Dorset County Council, Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation
Trust, Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group and Dorset HealthCare University NHS
Foundation Trust.
We are working with colleagues from Dorset County Council as a steering group to address
the findings from this review.
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STAFF SURVEY
Each year NHS Staff are offered the opportunity to give their views on the range of their
experience at work by completing a staff survey questionnaire. This year the questions are
grouped around nine key themes, which include 32 key findings, summarised from 98
questions. The nine themes are:










Appraisals and support for development
Equality and diversity
Errors and incidents
Health and wellbeing
Job satisfaction
Managers
Patient care and experience
Violence, harassment and bullying
Working patterns.

Overall in the 2016 staff survey, there is an improvement across 78% of key findings; a
decline across 9% of key findings and 13% of key findings remained the same. Our overall
staff engagement score has improved significantly from 3.81 in 2015 to 3.88 in 2016. Our
response rate in 2016 has also improved to 47% from 33% in 2015, due to a mixed method
approach of paper and online forms based on staff job roles.
Improvements of 5% or more for specific questions, compared to 2015 scores, are where
staff:













Feel able to do their job to a standard they are pleased with
Are able to meet conflicting demands
Are able to deliver the patient care they aspire to
Feel that communication between senior management and staff is effective
Feel that senior managers act on staff feedback
Say our organisation is taking positive action on health and wellbeing
Have felt unwell as a result of work related stress (percentage decreased)
Are working additional unpaid hours (percentage decreased)
Are given feedback about changes made in response to reported errors, near
misses and incidents
Are reporting incidents of harassment, bullying or abuse
Would recommend our organisation as a place to work
Agree that feedback from patients is used to make informed decisions within their
department/directorate.

Key finding areas which demonstrate further action needed to be taken are:




Percentage of staff appraised in the last 12 months (90%) was lower than the
national average for similar Trusts (92%).
Percentage of staff experiencing discrimination at work (9% in 2016, compared to
8% in 2015).
Staff reporting errors, near misses or incidents witnessed in the month prior to
completing the survey (89% compared to the national average for similar Trusts
of 93%).
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A specific reporting requirement is our performance against two particular indicators detailed
below:

Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in the last
12 months

20% of our staff expressed that they had experienced harassment, bullying or abuse from
other staff during the 12 months prior to completing the survey, a decrease from the previous
year’s score of 22%. The national average for similar Trusts is 21%.
The highest incidence was amongst ‘other scientific and technical’ staff (34% of 29
responses) and adult/general nurses (26% of 240 responses). The Joint Nursing and Allied
Health Professionals Forum will consider the survey outcomes for these professional groups.
Those who identified themselves as being disabled, also showed a higher level of
experience of harassment, bullying or abuse (34%) and this will be considered by the
Equality and Diversity Steering Group.
We are working to continue to improve this indicator, with a series of actions to further
embed our Trust Behaviours Framework, building on the NHS values, setting out what we
should expect of ourselves and each other.
Our five behaviours are:






Supportive
Reliable and trustworthy
Positive
Proactive
Respectful.

These behaviours are currently being integrated into our recruitment processes, all elements
of training and leadership development, and development of a managers toolkit to support
our line managers to help us to create an environment where people feel valued and where
everyone is proud to work for DHC, and enable us to challenge such behaviours which can
be perceived as bullying, harassment or abuse from other staff.

Percentage of staff believing that the Trust provides equal opportunities for career
progression or promotion

The Trust’s score for staff believing we provide equal opportunities for career progression or
promotion is 91%, which has increased on our score for 2015 (88%). The national average
for similar trusts for this indicator is 88%. The highest score for similar Trusts is also 91% so
we match or set the highest level for a Trust of our type.
Overall, the survey shows improvements in some areas, but it also highlights important
areas where staff want the Trust to be much better. It is really important for staff to feel that
DHC is a great place to work if we are to achieve our ambitions for delivering the best
possible care to the people of Dorset. Individual staff and teams are at their best when they
feel valued and supported and it is clear that we still have much more to do before all staff
feel so positive.
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Our Organisational Development Team are providing specific local reports for every
directorate and locality/service area, which will be discussed with each of the teams and
local action plans developed.
Staff views are important and the 2016 Staff Survey reports have been published on the
Trust’s intranet and publicised in the Weekly Roundup. Throughout 2017 communications
will periodically publish “You said - we did” bulletins to share with staff the actions the Trust
is taking on the survey findings.
The survey results have been sent to directors to enable them to carry out staff briefings and
to consider actions for specific groups and directorates.
The Equality and Diversity Group will be considering equality areas. A particular area of
concern and for attention is how staff with a disability have a less favourable experience of
work compared with staff without a disability. The Equality and Diversity steering group have
set up a support group for employees experiencing disability issues to try and improve
experiences.
In addition, the survey results will receive attention at the Trade Union Partnership Forum,
the Health and Safety Committee, and Security Advisory Group, and the Trust Board, where
they will receive the full results at the end of March 2017, and a follow up report in May 2017
to describe the actions so far.
In March 2017 the Picker Institute reviewed and analysed the 32 key findings from the staff
survey and have produced and published a league table of how each Trust has performed
with a comparison from last year to this year. The Trusts in blue are Foundation Trusts,
those in yellow are non-Foundation Trusts. The trend is the number of ranking points
moved; green indicates a positive movement and red a negative one. The table shows that
we have made the most improvement having been ranked 19th last year and are now the
second ranking Trust this year.
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QUALITY OF DATA

Mandatory Statement Eight - Quality of data
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust submitted records during
2016/17 to the Secondary Uses service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode
Statistics which are included in the latest published data. The percentage of
records in the published data:
Which included the patient’s valid NHS Number was:
99.79% for admitted patient care;
99.88% for outpatient care; and
98.40% for accident and emergency care.





Which included the patient’s valid General Medical Practice Code was:




100% for admitted patient care;
100% for outpatient care; and
100% for accident and emergency care.
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INFORMATION GOVERNANCE

Mandatory Statement Nine – Information Governance (IG)
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust Information Governance
Assessment Report overall score for 2016/17 was 68% and was graded ‘Green’
(satisfactory) from the Information Governance Toolkit Grading Scheme.

The Trust is required to achieve level two for each of the 45 standards; each standard
contains criteria which must be satisfied to achieve each of the levels. The levels range
from zero (insufficient evidence) to level one, level two and up to level three – processes
are in place to monitor implementation of the standard. The criteria are specific to each
standard.

INFORMATION ON PAYMENT BY RESULTS

Mandatory Statement Ten- Payment by results
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust was not subject to the
Payment by Results clinical coding audit during the reporting period by the
Audit Commission.

The Trust’s Clinical Coding Department was audited by D&A Clinical Coding Consultancy
Limited between the 7th and 9th February 2017. The Trust achieved a score of level 3
which is the highest that can be scored in the audit.
Mental Health
Primary Diagnosis
Secondary Diagnosis
Primary Procedures
Secondary Procedures

94%
95.7%
n/a
n/a

Community Health
99%
98.6%
94.9%
98.1%

Fifty episodes of care were audited for mental health and one hundred episodes of care for
community health. The one hundred episodes for community health included patients
admitted for rehabilitation as well as the specialities General Surgery, Oral Surgery, Trauma
and Orthopaedics, Gynaecology, Urology, General Medicine and Gastroenterology.
The quality of information found on the system for both specialities was of a high standard.
The documentation provided by the clinicians on the discharge letters was excellent, timely
and included definitive primary diagnostic information, active co-morbidities and other
conditions treated during the inpatient care. The number of co-morbidities being coded has
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vastly improved and there are only seven omitted mandatory and relevant co-morbidities as
per Coding Clinic reference 88.
The coding for the community health services was of a high standard. The coding of primary
and secondary diagnoses has improved as has the coding of secondary procedures.

Mandatory Statement Eleven - Payment by Results
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust will be taking the
following actions to improve data quality:




Revision will be done to ensure that the coders are coding relevant and treated
conditions as per the Standards and Coding Clinic
Training to ensure that the coders are not coding irrelevant symptoms that are
part of a confirmed diagnosis
Ensure that the coders are reading the theatre documents in the medical
records and extracting all the relevant procedures and then sequence them in
the correct order.
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST THE KEY NATIONAL PRIORITIES – QUALITY INDICATORS 2016/17

The following table provides an overview of the Trust performance against a core set of indicators set by the Department of Health and Monitor.
Data relates to the end of 2015/16 and the end of 2016/17 as published on the Health and Social Care Information Centre website.
Prescribed Indicator+
The data made available to the NHS
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
regard to the percentage of patients
on Care Programme Approach who
were followed up within 7 days after
discharge from psychiatric inpatient
care during the reporting period.
(the year end position for this
indicator has been reviewed by PWC

National
average
2015/16
72.5%
(based on
national
submission
data as at
November
2015)

Comparison
with other
Trusts

National
average
2016/17

DHC 2016/17

Q1: 95.82%

Highest – 100%

Q1: 97.8%

Q2: 97.27%

Lowest – 0%

Not Yet
available

DHC 2015/16
Position

Position

Q2: 99.0%

Q3. 97.32%

Q3: 97.5%

Q4. 97.63%

Q4: 97.9%

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Not Yet
available

Year
end.
Year end 98.1%
97.01%
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
This data is taken directly from the RIO (electronic patient records) and is audited daily to check accuracy.
The Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to improve this percentage, and so the quality of its
services, by continuing to follow up patients within seven days of discharge.
The breach recording tool is still in use and identifies any electronic patient record that is potentially in breach. The record is then investigated against
the criteria and appropriate action taken. The reported indicator performance has been calculated based on all adult patients discharged from an
inpatient setting followed up within 7 days of said discharge. Completeness of this information is therefore dependent on the complete and accurate
entry of data at source by the clinician who carries out the follow up appointment. Exemptions to this indicator are – clients who have died within 7
days of discharge, Patients discharged to another NHS psychiatric inpatient ward. Therefore, the data is, to the best of our knowledge, complete.
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Prescribed Indicator+
The data made available to the NHS
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
regard to the percentage of
admissions to acute wards for which
the Crisis Resolution Home Treatment
Team acted as a gatekeeper during
the reporting period.

National
average
2015/16
At the time of
reporting,
national data
is unavailable

DHC 2015/16
Position
Q1: 96.85%
Q2: 97.37%
Q3: 96.38%
Q4: 97.45%

Comparison
with other
Trusts

National
average
2016/17

Comparison data
with other Trusts
is not available

At the time of
reporting,
national data is
unavailable

DHC 2016/17
Position
Q1: 98.32%
Q2: 98.92%
Q3: 100%

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Comparison
data with other
Trusts is not
available

Q4: 98.26%

The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
This is being regularly monitored and staff have been reminded of the requirements to involve the crisis service in assessments prior to a
person being offered a hospital bed to help decide if an admission may be avoided through additional support at home.
Clinical staff are continuously reminded of how to record in a consistent manner.
The Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation has taken the following action to improve this percentage, and so the quality of its
services, by:
Reinforcing the requirement of gatekeeping via the Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Team including Section 136 assessments.
Providing clear guidance to staff regarding the crisis admission process, specifically recording a declaration when non face to face assessment was
not clinically appropriate.
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Prescribed Indicators

(i)
(ii)

The data made available to the NHS
Foundation Trust by the NHS Digital
with regard to the percentage of
patients aged –
0 to 157; and
16 or over,
readmitted to a hospital which forms
part of the trust within 28 days of being
discharged from a hospital which
forms part of the trust during the
reporting period.

National
average
2015/16
10.45%

DHC 2015/16
Position
14% (Monthly
position as at
March 2016)

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Highest - 40%

National
average
2016/17
Not Yet
Available

DHC 2016/17
Position
4% (Monthly
position as at
March 2017)

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Not Yet
Available

Lowest – 0%

The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
Readmission information is routinely reported at Board level and is consequently part of the Trust’s Data Quality Assurance Framework (DQAF). Being
part of the framework ensures robust measures to test the quality through sample checking, with samples rising in number as confidence rises.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the quality of
its services, by:
Continuing to ensure effective discharge planning to minimise the risk of re-admission.
Information is available at ward level to inform decision makers connected with service improvement.

7

The Trust does not report for patients under the age of 18, this does not form part of the current compliance or risk assessment framework

guidance for Foundation Trust’s.
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Prescribed Indicators

National
average
2015/16

Comparison
with other
Trusts

DHC 2015/16
Position

National
average
2016/17

DHC 2016/17
Position

Comparison
with other
Trusts

The data made available to the NHS
National
7.8
Highest: 8.2
National
7.3
Highest: 8.1
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
average data
average data
Lowest: 6.8
Lowest: 6.9
regard to The Trust’s ‘Patient
is not
not available
experience of community mental
available
health services’ indicator score with
regard to a patient’s experience of
contact with a health or social care
worker during the reporting period.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
Data are provided by the CQC.
The Trust has seen a decrease of 0.5 in the health and social care worker key theme of the survey in 2016/17; decreasing from 7.8 in 2015/16 to 7.3 in
2016/17 on a 10 point scale. The Trust continues to perform on a par (about the same8) with other trusts which took part in the survey.
The Health and social care worker section score of 7.3 is made up of the following, a comparison against last year’s score and national information is
included below. Whilst
Question

Did the person or people you saw listen carefully to you?

2016 Scores for
Dorset HealthCare

7.9

Lowest trust score

7.3

Highest trust
score

8.6

2015 Results for
Dorset HealthCare

8.4

Were you given enough time to discuss your needs and
7.4
6.8
8.2
7.9
treatment?
Did the person or people you saw understand how your mental
6.7
6.2
7.8
7.1
health needs affect other areas of your life?
The Trust results show a decrease in scores across all questions compared to the previous report, although remaining within the ‘about the same’
range when compared to other trusts nationally. The CQC’s statistical release report, published in November 2016, notes that due to the relatively
large number of respondents, small changes in results may be statistically significant; and, results from the last three surveys may not necessarily
indicate the emergence of a longer-term trend. Therefore, results do not necessarily indicate a pattern of decline in people’s experiences of services.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this score, and so the quality of its
services, by: Continuing to work closely with Dorset CCG and their review of MH services across Dorset. This review is looking at what
services are currently provided and how they can be improved.

8

‘About the same’ is the wording used by the CQC. It is based on a statistic called the 'expected range' which determines the range within which the trust's score could fall
without differing significantly from the average, taking into account the number of respondents for each trust and the scores for all other trusts.
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Prescribed Indicators
The data made available to the NHS
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
regard to the number and, where
available, rate of patient safety
incidents reported within the Trust
during the reporting period, and the
number and percentage of such
patient safety incidents that resulted in
severe harm or death.

National
average
2015/16
1.1% from
NRLS cluster
data from
October 1
2015 to
March 31
2016 (most
up to date
data
available)

DHC 2015/16
Position
5987 patient
safety
incidents
reported (58%
of all incidents)
47 incidents
(0.78%)
resulted in
severe harm
(10) or death
(37)
From internal
incident
reporting
data April 1
2015 –
March 31
2016.

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Below average
for the rate of
patient safety
incidents that
resulted in
severe harm or
death

National
average
2016/17
1.1% from
NRLS cluster
data from April
1 2016 to
September 30
2016

DHC 2016/17
Position
6451 patient
safety incidents
reported year to
date (46.4% of all
incidents).
38 patient safety
incidents (0.58%)
resulted in severe
harm (4) or death
(34) from internal
incident reporting
data April 1 2016
- March 31 2017.

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Below average
for the rate of
patient safety
incident that
resulted in
severe harm or
death.

(Data extracted
21/04/17)

The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
The Trust reported the highest rate of incidents per 1000 occupied bed days. Levels of severe harm or death continue to be below the comparison
data provided by the NRLS report for this period. There has also been a continued reduction in the percentage of incidents reporting severe harm or
death from 2014/15, 2015/16, 2016/17, within the Trust’s internal reporting data.
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The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust has taken / intends to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so the quality
of its services, by:
The Trust has continued to hold a series of ‘Learning Events’ across 2016/17 to share lessons learned from significant events and Root Cause
Analysis investigations. Work to reduce deaths from suicides is driven by the Suicide Prevention Sign up to Safety work stream. Work includes:







To participate in the NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) Pan Dorset Suicide Prevention Strategy development.
To continue to develop carer involvement in the work stream.
To review impact of Samaritan time spent in A&E and local acute hospital
Further work on process of bed allocation.
To review January 2017 Publication – Preventing Suicide in England – third progress report and Government response to the Five year
forward view for Mental Health and updated Suicide Prevention Strategy.
To expand the ligature management group to consider broader environmental safety issues and clinical management patients who use
ligatures and other items for self-harm.

Trends from suicide reviews are being incorporated into the suicide prevention work stream and have been mapped against the national suicide
prevention aims and National Confidential Inquiry into Suicides and Homicide findings. The improvement plan looks at following areas:










Safer wards - ward environment, observations
Dual Diagnosis - assessment and treatment
Staff Turnover - staff support following a death
Outreach teams - Assertive Outreach and working with people who may be difficult to engage
Personalised risk management - coproduced safety plans
Guidance on depression
Family involvement in learning lessons
Crisis Home Treatment teams - brief intervention training
Discharge planning and follow up
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Prescribed Indicators
The data made available to the
National Health Service Trust or NHS
Foundation Trust by NHS Digital with
regard to the Trust’s patient reported
outcome measures scores for
(i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

Groin hernia
Varicose vein surgery
Hip replacement surgery, and
Knee replacement surgery,

During the reporting period.

National
average
2015/16

DHC 2015/16
Position

Comparison
with other
Trusts

National
average
2016/17

DHC 2016/17
Position

EQ-5D Index
Average
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2014): 0.088

EQ-5D Index
Average
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2015): 0.071

EQ-5D Index
Lowest
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2015): -0.000

EQ-5D Index
Average
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2016): 0.089

EQ-5D Index
Average
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2016): 0.087

EQ-5D Index
Lowest adjusted
health gain (AprilSept 2016): 0.016

EQ-5D VAS
Average
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2014): -1.232

EQ-5D VAS
Average
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2015): -3.941

EQ-5D Index
Highest
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2015): 0.149

EQ-5D VAS
Average
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2016): -0.116

EQ-5D VAS
Average
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2016): 0.266

EQ-5D Index
Highest adjusted
health gain (AprilSept 2016): 0.162

EQ Visual Analogue Scale (EQ VAS) is a
thermometer style scale. Patients are
asked to indicate their general health on
the scale with 0 being the worst and 100
being the best.

EQ-5D VAS
Lowest
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2015): -7.460

The average adjusted health gain is the
difference between the patients’ pre and
post-operative scores, a negative score
would denote that an individual’s health
has deteriorated.

Highest
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2015): 3.067

The EQ-5D health questionnaire asks
patients to classify their health based on
self-assessed levels of problems (“no”,
“some”, “extreme” in the following five
areas: mobility, self- care, usual activities,
pain/discomfort and anxiety/depression.
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Comparison with
other Trusts

EQ-5D VAS Lowest
adjusted health
gain (April-Sept
2016): -4.646
Highest adjusted
health gain (AprilSept 2016): 3.115

The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
The Trust undertakes a relatively small number of operations at three of its Community Hospitals.
The patients are carefully screened for surgery in a community hospital and are therefore relatively otherwise healthy individuals whose scores for
health state are generally high on the first assessment. The Trust continues to monitor all PROMS data on an ongoing basis.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this score, and so the quality of its services,
by continuing to regularly review detailed patient level data to identify issues/trends which may impact on patients’ health following surgery and take
action if issues are identified.
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PART THREE
REVIEW OF QUALITY PERFORMANCE

QUALITY INDICATORS 2016/17
This section of our Quality Report highlights how we have performed as a Trust against a
core set of national quality indicators and indicators of quality agreed by the Trust Board.
Our indicators have changed from those used in 2015/16 and the following table provides
an overview of the reasons for these changes.
QUALITY DOMAIN

INDICATOR

REASON FOR CHANGE

Introduce innovative methods and
new ways of sharing learning

Patient Experience

All teams across the organisation
will be aware of and learn from
lessons that have arisen outside of
their own service

Dorset HealthCare achieved
these indicators in 2015/16 and
will continue to embed processes
going forward

Evidence of changes in practice as
a result of lessons learned

Patient Safety

Review activity and caseloads
within community nursing teams
(physical and mental health)

Dorset HealthCare achieved this
indicator in 2015/16 and this
work will continue as part of the
Acute Care Pathway being
developed by Dorset Clinical
Commissioning Group

There is a reduction in avoidable,
community acquired pressure
ulcers, grade three or above

This work will continue as part of
our Sign up to Safety Campaign
work streams

There is a reduction in the number
of patients committing suicide, with
the aspiration to achieving zero
tolerance
Review existing clinical policies
and guidelines to ensure they are
evidence based and support
excellence in practice
Local clinical audits will be aligned
to NICE guidance.
Clinical Effectiveness

All actions arising from
NICE guidance and
quality standard
baseline assessments
will be implemented
within the agreed
timescales.

71

Dorset HealthCare achieved
these indicators in 2015/16 and
this work is part of our new
indicator to support staff to
undertake robust Clinical Audit
aligned to National Standards, as
a quality improvement initiative,
to drive up the quality of care

Progress with our Quality Indicators 2016/17
We selected our quality indicators using a variety of information sources including patient
incidents, feedback from patients and carers, complaints, and internal performance
measures as well as national initiatives such as the Sign Up to Safety campaign. We
aligned our indicators to our quality priorities and this year we introduced new initiatives to
improve the care people receive from our services. To that end there is no historical data,
limited or no benchmarked data. Our data sources are derived from a baseline position and
the progress made during the year.

PATIENT EXPERIENCE
Develop a carer passport with carers in three different services across the
organisation
A trial of the carers passport took place in three of our community hospitals. The trial aimed
to support carers to spend more time alongside loved ones. The hospitals who took part
were Westhaven Hospital, Portland Community Hospital and St Leonards Community
Hospital who piloted ‘open visiting’ for a period of twelve weeks.
Feedback questionnaires were distributed during the trial to staff, carers and patients to
determine if ‘open visiting’ improved the patient and carers experience. Despite a low return
rate, the responses confirmed that open visiting has been in most cases received positively.
Discussion with the wards involved suggested more questionnaire responses were needed
to gain a more rounded view of people’s experience and more time was required to get a
complete overview. Questionnaire collection continued to capture and build on the feedback
received to date.
Whilst the questionnaire continued we provided the wards with specific support materials,
John’s Campaign resource pack and training in the underlying principles of the campaign.
The Carers Coordinator supported and engaged staff to successfully embrace and embed
the campaign. This was supported by marketing and communicating the Carers Passport to
patients, carers and their families.
As a partner agency we will adopt the Pan Dorset Carers Strategy

The Better Together Programme consists of the following organisations working in
partnership towards integrated health and social care services.








Borough of Poole
Bournemouth Borough Council
Dorset County Council
Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
Dorset County Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
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The Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust.

As a partner we signed up to the Joint Pan Dorset Carers Strategic Vision 2016 - 2020 which
was produced in collaboration with carers and published in March 2016.
Dorset Carers Steering Group, under the chairmanship of the Joint Commissioning Manager
and Joint Commissioning Board, Bournemouth, Dorset and Poole developed the pan Dorset
Implementation Plan. To ensure the views of local carers informed the pan Dorset plan, the
Trust’s Carers Coordinator worked in partnership with carers locally to develop the local
implementation plan. Carers Leads and Carers Groups attended a series of co-development
sessions to review each of the nine objectives from the pan Dorset Carers Strategy. The
views of carers and staff against each of the nine objectives was captured and used to
inform the local implementation plan.
Sign up to the Quality Mark for Elder-Friendly Hospital Wards Programme
Participation in this programme ensures a continuous focus on the care provided for people
over the age of 65. This demonstrates the commitment made by the hospital, the ward and
the staff to identify and carry out improvements, and to achieve a consistent quality of care
for older people.
The Quality Mark process aims to support wards to focus on delivery of good quality care for
older people by:
 Engaging patients, ward staff, hospital management and governors in assessing
the quality of care provided
 Providing training to ward staff in Person, Interaction and Environment
observations of care
 Producing a detailed local report that identifies areas of achievement and areas
for improvement, enabling targeted action planning
 Encouraging ward team reflection on their ability to provide elder-friendly care with
the training and resources available to them
 Awarding and recognising the achievement of elder-friendly wards
 Encouraging focus on continuous improvement through iterative data collection.
The nine wards participating are listed in the table below:
Ward

Community Hospital

Castletown

Portland

Fayrewood

St Leonards

Tarrant

Blandford

Jersey

Alderney

Radipole

Westhaven

Saxon

Wareham

Stanley Purser

Swanage

Langdon
Ryeberry

Bridport
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Stage 1: Assessing quality commenced in September 2016, with data gathering to establish
a baseline measurement for each ward. Data was gathered by the participating teams
through patient and staff questionnaires until the 12th December 2016.
Aspects of the environments were assessed using a Ward Leaders questionnaire and from
feedback received from two Governors (or equivalent patient representatives engaged with
the hospital). This included the patient representatives spending a minimum of two hours
together on the ward which included a meal time.
A key component of the programme includes Person, Interactions and Environment
Observation Method (PIE) training, and two representatives from each of the participating
wards attended this on 28th October 2016. PIE was developed for the National Audit of
Dementia which is commissioned and funded by the Healthcare Quality Improvement
Partnership, by the Academic Unit of Elderly Care and Rehabilitation, part of Bradford
Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and the University of Leeds. PIE is a qualitative
observational method capable of describing the care experience of patients with dementia
and identifying specific changes required in staff practices and systems so that they become
more person-centred.
The training provided a step-by-step method for undertaking observational assessment of a
ward to determine whether the culture is person-centred. The tool provides teams with
enough information to help teams reflect on the quality of care for people who may have
dementia.
During Quarter 3, following PIE training two staff members (matron, senior sister or staff
nurse) from the participating wards, spent a minimum of four hours carrying out PIE
observation on a ward they had no connection with. The findings from the observation were
fed back to members of the ward team with at least one area of achievement and an area of
action identified to improve patients experience of person-centred care.
During Quarter 4 the wards, using the detailed information reports collated by the Royal
College of Psychiatrists and learning gathered during Stage 1 have developed action plans
which they own. The actions are themed around Care Experience, Experience of the Care
Environment and Working on the Ward. Teams will work on these actions over the next few
weeks, before re-auditing in September 2017 for Stage 2 of the programme.
This is a new indicator and there is no historical data and limited or no benchmarked data

PATIENT SAFETY
Reduce the number of unnecessary emergency transfers from inpatient settings to
acute hospitals
Work took place to define the conditions which constitute an unnecessary transfer. This
included a review of data from South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust,
where the primary ‘Complaint Coding’ relates to a patient transferred to an acute hospital.
We also reviewed information from the analysis of thirty incidents reported on Ulysses our
risk management database, pertaining to transfer from Dorset HealthCare University NHS
Foundation Trust inpatient wards to an acute hospital over the last six months. From this we
were able to identify the following conditions / complaints where a transfer was deemed
unnecessary.
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Pain management
Catheter issues
Patients who required intravenous fluids
Dizziness
Vertigo
Vomiting and diarrhoea

Of the thirty Ulysses incidents reviewed, five were from the above list of conditions and
hence transfer to an acute hospital should not have been warranted.
The Deteriorating Patient Steering Group identified training as a major factor in the
prevention of unnecessary transfers and has revised and improved training for clinically
qualified staff in the management of the deteriorating patient and the unwell patient.
The Trust’s Treatment Escalation Plan (TEP) document previously used by some wards has
been reviewed, reformatted and made more readily available on SystmOne our electronic
patient record system.
Work is continuing to develop a deteriorating patient Root Cause Analysis (RCA) tool to
determine specific local factors leading to the deterioration of an inpatient’s physical health.
This is a new indicator and there is no historical data and limited or no benchmarked data.
Communicate vital signs and National Early Warning Score (NEWS) at the point of
transfer to other care setting following deterioration
Under the Sign up to Safety Campaign there is a Safer Transfer work stream which has
been set up to look at ways of improving various types of transfer that occur within the Trust
and with external services. The group reviewed the referral form that is used when patients
transfer from DHC to an acute hospital.
The National Early Warning Score (NEWS) was added to this documentation alongside
standardised transfer information. The documentation was approved in July 2016 by Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust, Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, The
Royal Bournemouth and Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and South Western
Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust.
We developed a ten minute tool box talk which included the standards on how to use
National Early Warning Scores (NEWS) and its use with the Situation, Background,
Assessment, Recommendations (SBAR) methodology when transferring deteriorating
patients. SBAR is an internationally recognised framework which provides an effective and
efficient way to communicate important information.
We undertook a trial of a new transfer document on SystmOne as an alternative to the
lengthy discharge summary which included patient demographics and specific information
required by clinicians at the point of transfer. Examples include a patient’s Do Not Attempt
Resuscitation (DNAR) status, SBAR questionnaire, NEWS. Following the success of the
trial all community hospitals now have access to the finalised electronic document for use
with emergency transfers and this has significantly improved the quality of the handover to
Ambulance and Acute Trust clinical staff.
This is a new indicator and there is no historical data and limited or no benchmarked data
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Development of a Trust and Pan Dorset mortality reporting and review process
Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group set up a pan Dorset Mortality Review meeting
attended by the Medical Directors of the acute trusts. Dorset HealthCare University NHS
Foundation Trust representatives include the Specialist Nurse Lead for Learning Disabilities,
Head of Patient Safety and Risk and Head of Clinical Effectiveness and Audit. The group is
chaired by the Deputy Director of Nursing and Quality with Dorset CCG. Alongside this we
set up our own internal Mortality Governance Group.
Learning from the cases reviewed by the pan Dorset meeting includes:





improved communication about the care delivered between providers was
occurring where care spanned more than one Trust
improvements in the clarity of treatment plan on admission
the cause of death being recorded for people with learning disability, was not
always appropriate
an opportunity to share information between community hospitals and acute
hospitals for deaths occurring within 30 days of transfer.

Learning from our internal mortality group includes:




To improve prescribing for pain control, by using pain assessments and symptom
control
To introduce Gold Standard Framework (GSF) further by sending ‘Out of Hours’
messages when patients are for End of Life Care
To use End of Life care plans and save them in the correct place on SystmOne.

A review of DHC mortality processes was carried out and changes to processes include:
 the reporting of all inpatient deaths via the incident reporting system
 a weekly summary of all deaths reported via the incident reporting system by the
Director of Nursing, Medical Director and Head of Patient Safety to agree the
investigation process for each incident
 the inclusion of inpatient deaths from natural causes and findings from the After
Death Analysis Reviews within the monthly and quarterly reports to the Executive
Quality and Clinical Risk Group and Quality Governance Committees.
This is a new indicator and there is no historical data and limited or no benchmarked data.

CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS

Reduce risk to patients by ensuring all inpatients receive timely venous
thromboembolism (VTE) preventative management (prophylaxis)
Patients, who are identified through risk assessment as being at risk of developing a
venous thromboembolism, should be offered one of the following methods of prophylaxis;
 Mechanical
 Anti-embolic stockings
 Foot impulse device and intermittent pneumatic compression device
 Pharmacological.
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We developed an e-learning module on the Learning and Development hub which was
aligned to the Trust’s VTE Policy and NICE Guidance.
We identified the cohort of staff to receive training in the use of prophylaxis and these were
all community hospital and Older People’s Mental Health inpatient staff. Registered staff
were required to complete the full e-hub module which included an assessment of their
learning. The non-registered and Allied Health Professional staff completed a designated
package including a YouTube™ video on anti-embolic stockings.
In Quarter two we rolled out the training and by Quarter four 194 staff had completed the
training.
The total number of VTEs reported by Community Hospitals for the last two years can be
seen in the table below.
Quarter

1

2

3

4

Totals

2015/16
Deep Vein Thrombosis

1

Pulmonary Embolism

1
1

1

2016/17
Deep Vein Thrombosis

3

Pulmonary Embolism

1

Totals

4

1

2

4

1

2

3

2

9

The results show an increase in the number of reported incidents year on year. Root Cause
Analysis for cases reported in 2016/17 indicated complex patients with co-morbidities where
clinical judgement and patient preference influenced prescribing decisions.
The e-hub training module, although it may be too soon to link directly to the training has
improved the detection of DVT and PE. Currently the Trust has promoted the training with
nursing teams, consideration going forward needs to be given to medical and non-medical
prescribers carrying out the risk assessments and the timing of the assessment and
prescribing.
It is important that in order to be able to ensure the correct prophylaxis for patients at risk of
VTE, that the risk assessment is completed in a timely manner. The risk assessment should
be completed within 24 hours of admission. During the course of the year we had 3529
patients who required VTE risk assessment, of which 15 were not completed within 24
hours. The reasons these were not completed within 24 hours are investigated at the time,
but is generally due to the admission occurring out of hours.
This is a new indicator and there is no historical data and limited or no benchmarked data.
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Support staff to provide optimal end of life care, by the right person, in the right place
and at the right time
The National Gold Standards Framework
Centre (GSF) help doctors, nurses and
care assistants provide the highest possible
standard of care for all patients who may
be in the last years of life. It does this by
providing these key health and social care
professionals with the training they need to
provide co-ordinated, joined up care, so
that no matter what stage of illness, or
where care is being provided, everyone
involved in the care knows about the
patient’s wishes and is best prepared to ensure they are fulfilled. GSF helps link together
all of the people who provide this care and enables them to ensure that the care is “cross
boundary”, preventing people from falling through the cracks.
Four of our community hospitals gained Gold Standard Framework (GSF) accreditation in
Quarter one and the learning was shared with those working towards accreditation. By
Quarter three a further five wards were working towards submitting their completed
portfolios. DHC currently has five accredited wards out a total of fourteen physical health
wards.
Care planning with accurate assessment of the patient’s GSF coding is assisting teams
caring for patients. Patients, carers and staff are reporting much improved communication
which also assists with the care planning for patients in the end stages of life.
This is a new indicator and there is no historical data and limited or no benchmarked data
Support staff to undertake robust Clinical Audit aligned to National Standards, as a
quality improvement initiative, to drive up the quality of care

Quality Standards set out the priority areas for quality improvements in health and social
care covering areas where there is variation in care. Each standard contains a set of
statements to help improve quality as well as information on how to measure progress.
For 2016/17 we chose two NICE Quality Standards, initial clinical audits were completed
and the findings disseminated to allow quality improvements prior to the re-audit.


Quality Standard 8: Depression in adults
Over the year the Trust worked with senior clinicians to revise the Trust’s
Depression Clinical Tool which was piloted in a small audit before a larger pilot
during Quarter 2. The findings of this pilot led to the development of a unipolar
depression pathway, covering initial assessment, structured assessment,
therapeutic and enabling interventions, review, sustained improvement and
discharge. The pathway uses the Patient Health Questionnaire PHQ9 as a clinical
assessment tool for under 70s service users in Community Mental Health Teams
(CMHT). This approach complements the ‘Steps to Wellbeing’ pathway as the
screening tool is used in both pathways. Full roll out of the guidance is planned
from May 2017. Best practice dictates the use of electronic forms; in the light of this
the Patient Health Questionnaire PHQ9 clinical assessment has been moved to the
‘Outcome’ folder in RiO. Clinical teams are being encouraged to complete the
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electronic rather than paper forms which in turn will support structured reporting of
all parts of the pathway


Quality Standard 90: Urinary Tract Infections in adults
Following an initial pilot of the Urinary Tract Infection clinical audit tool during
Quarter 1 the tool was revised and sent to clinicians using Survey Monkey™. The
Trusts decision to move from SNAP™ to Survey Monkey™ extended the data
collection period; however Survey Monkey is an easier tool for the user and
provided a more comprehensive analysis of the responses. The results from the
survey obtained during Quarter 3 showed the Trust is fully compliant against the
recommendations for questions 3, 4, 5 and 6 contained in the Quality Standard.
Work is being undertaken in Quarter 4 against recommendation for questions 1 and
2 to ensure that all patients have a full assessment prior to a diagnosis of urinary
tract infection and dipstick testing is not used in isolation

SUMMARY FOR QUALITY INDICATORS 2016/17
Our quality indicators support and demonstrate our continued commitment to improving the
quality and safety of the care we provide to our patients, service users and their carers.
The introduction of the Carers Passport and adoption of the pan Dorset Carers Strategy is
making a real difference to the way we support our patients and their carers requiring an
inpatient stay in one of our Community Hospitals. Participation in the Elder-friendly Hospital
Wards programme demonstrates the commitment made by Dorset HealthCare to identify
and carry out improvements, and to achieve a consistent quality of care for older people.
Wards who have achieved Gold Standard Framework accreditation are making a real
difference to patients at the end of life. We are committed to supporting all our wards
towards accreditation and will continue to develop a Trust and pan Dorset mortality review
process ensuring lessons are learnt from the After Death Analysis (ADA).
Over the past year we have continued to embed the use of the National Early Warning
(NEWS) score, Treatment Escalation Plans (TEPs) and use of the SBAR tool which is
improving the handover at transfer and early recognition of the deteriorating patient.
A real and genuine impact has been made this year on improving services, quality of care
and the patient and carer experience.
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92% <18 weeks

97.73%

98.13%

97.51%

98.59%

98.52%

97.36%

98.04%

Year End
Position

Q4 March
17 Position

Q3 Dec 16
Position

Q2 Sept 16
Position

Monitor
performance
indicator:

Q1 June 16
Position

Referral to treatment
waiting times (patients on
an incomplete pathway)
(the year end position
for this indicator has been
reviewed by PwC
)

Q4 March
16 Position

Target threshold
values

March 15
position

Monitor Mandatory
Service Targets –
Compliance framework

March 14
Position

Performance against key national quality indicators

98.12%

The reported indicator performance has been calculated based on all patients having an RTT clock started for each consultant led pathway. Controls
are in place at each site to ensure that all referrals that come into a consultant led service have an RTT clock started, regardless of referral method, on
relevant systems. Therefore, the data is, to the best of our knowledge, complete
A&E maximum waiting
time of 4 hours from
arrival to admission /
transfer / discharge

Monitor
performance
indicator:

Care Programme
Approach (CPA) patients
receiving follow up
contact within seven days
of discharge from
hospital. (The year end
position for this indicator
has been reviewed by
PwC
)

Monitor
performance

100%

99.98%

99.96%

99.97%

95.28%

96.92%

97.63%

97.8%

96.71%

96.63%

95.80%

97.30%

99.83%

99.85%

n/a

n/a

99.0%

97.5%

97.9%

98.1%

95.40%

95.8%

95.5%

95.5%

95% <4 hours

indicator 95%
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Year End
Position

Q4 March
17 Position

Q3 Dec 16
Position

Q2 Sept 16
Position

Q1 June 16
Position

Q4 March
16 Position

March 15
position

Target threshold
values

March 14
Position

Monitor Mandatory
Service Targets –
Compliance framework
CPA patients having
formal review within 12
months

The reported indicator performance has been calculated based on all adult patients discharged from an inpatient setting followed up within 7 days of
said discharge. Completeness of this information is therefore dependent on the complete and accurate entry of data at source by the clinician who
carries out the follow up appointment. Exemptions to this indicator are – clients who have died within 7 days of discharge, Patients discharged to
another NHS psychiatric inpatient ward. Therefore, the data is, to the best of our knowledge, complete.
Admissions to inpatient
services had access to
Crisis Resolution /
Home Treatment Teams

Monitor
performance
indicator 95%

C.difficile –meeting the
C.difficile objective

Monitor
performance
indicator: 0

Early intervention in
Psychosis (EIP): People
experiencing a first
episode of psychosis
treated with a NICE
approved care package
within two weeks of
referral

Monitor
performance
indicator 50%

Not
available

1

99.12%

97.45%

1

Indicator introduced
part year and reported
in Q4
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98.32%

98.92%

100%

98.26%

98.90%

2

3

5

0

1

9

71.67%

54.55%

62.71%

63.00%

96.88%

87%

Improving access to
psychological therapies
(IAPT):




People with common
mental health
conditions referred to
IAPT programme will
be treated within 6
weeks of referral
People with common
mental health
conditions referred to
IAPT programme will
be treated within 18
weeks of referral

Monitor
performance
indicator 75%

Monitor
performance
indicator 95%

Year End
Position

Q4 March
17 Position

Q3 Dec 16
Position

Q2 Sept 16
Position

Q1 June 16
Position

Q4 March
16 Position

March 15
position

Target threshold
values

March 14
Position

Monitor Mandatory
Service Targets –
Compliance framework

Indicator introduced
part year and reported
in Q3

90.98%

90.36%

87.68%

85.74%

84.42%

87.03%

Indicator introduced
part year and reported
in Q3

99.87%

100.00%

99.79%

99.81%

99.97%

99.68%
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HOW TO CONTACT US

LET US KNOW WHAT YOU THINK
We hope that our Quality Report has been informative and interesting to you. We welcome
feedback, along with any suggestions you may have for next year’s publication. Please get
in touch with:
The Director of Nursing and Quality
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust
Trust Headquarters
Sentinel House
4-6 Nuffield Industrial Estate Nuffield Road
Poole Dorset
BH17 RB
Email: fiona.haughey@nhs.net
JOIN US AS A MEMBER AND HAVE YOUR SAY IN OUR FUTURE PLANS
A representative and meaningful membership is important to the success of the Trust and
gives members of our local communities the opportunity to be involved in how the Trust
and its services are developed and improved. Membership is free and the extent to which
our members are involved is entirely up to them. Some are simply happy to receive a
newsletter four times a year, while others are keen to be involved in consultations and
come along to meetings. Some have even become members of our Council of Governors.
For further information please contact our Membership Office on:
0808 100 3318 or email: dhc.membership@nhs.net
CHECK OUT OUR WEBSITE
Our website provides comprehensive details of the Trust’s services and where they are
provided, including information about mental health, learning disabilities and community
health services, what to do in a crisis, updates on Trust initiatives and links to other useful
websites.
There is also a section about Foundation Trust membership under the ‘About the
Trust/Membership’ heading, where there is an opportunity to sign up online. One of the
benefits of becoming a member is that you have a vote when elections for public governors
are held and thereby a say in who represents you.
Visit: http://www.dorsethealthcare.nhs.uk/
This Quality Report can be found on the NHS Choices website at www.nhs.uk. This report
can be made available in a variety of formats, available on request.
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ANNEX 1

FEEDBACK FROM OUR STAKEHOLDERS

Comments from the Council of Governors on the Trust Quality Report 2016/17

1. The Council of Governors welcomes the opportunity to comment on the Trust Quality
Report for 2016/17.
2. The Council holds the view that the quality of the services delivered must be the
measure by which the Trust is judged. The Quality Report is, therefore, an important
element of our overall approach to holding the Board, through the Non-Executive
Directors, to account for the performance of the Trust.
3. The Council is satisfied with the progress being made by the Trust in maintaining and
improving the quality of the services delivered to our community and beyond. The
commitment of the Board and our staff to deliver nothing less than services of the
highest quality is something which continues to impress, and is a source of great pride to
the Council. The Council considers that the Board leads by example in this area.
4. The Care Quality Commission (CQC) re-inspection in March 2016 was an important test
of the quality of services provided. The Council is pleased with the positive comments
made by the CQC and the fact that four of the services improved their rating from
‘requires improvement’ to ‘good’. The Council was disappointed that, despite the length
of time since the June 2015 inspection, three of the services had not made sufficient
progress to improve their rating frequently due to staff shortages. The Council remains
disappointed with the overall rating of ‘requires improvement’. The Council would urge
the Board to implement, at the earliest opportunity, the actions necessary to achieve a
‘good rating’ and to develop a clear and timetabled plan for the Trust to be rated as
‘outstanding’.
5. Public understanding of the quality of Trust services is key. The Quality Report, given
the mandated content, does not lend itself to review by the public at large. A shorter,
publicly focused and more accessible document should be produced to provide a
summary of the progress being made by the Trust, the issues to be addressed, the
priorities for the year and the achievements and ambitions of the organisation.
6. The Council fully supports the Trust in taking forward its commitment to participation and
engagement. The Council encourages the Trust to continue to engage with patients and
the public to deepen the understanding of what quality means to our patients.
7. The Council also comments that:
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The Board should be congratulated on the progress made in respect of each of
the quality priorities for 2016/17 and the fact that all three have been achieved in
the year;



The selection of the priorities for 2017/18 is supported by Governors;



Governors are aware from Council of Governors meetings and from our staff
members that the recruitment of nurses continues to be a challenge for the Trust.
Continued emphasis must be exerted to meet the staffing challenge. The Council
hopes to see further emphasis being given to this in the coming year.

8. In conclusion, the Council recognises the progress being made by the Trust, the
commendable attitude and the effort being displayed by staff, and the results being
achieved in improving the quality of services delivered to the community.
May 2017

Comments from Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group

Thank you for asking NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to review and
comment on your Quality Accounts for 2016/17. Please find below the statement for
inclusion in the final document:
“The CCG has been working closely with the Trust during the year, gaining assurance of the
delivery of safe and effective services. The contract between the Trust and CCG requires
Trust submission of regular reports as evidence that indicators in relation to quality, safety
and performance are being maintained. This information is presented and discussed at
regular meetings between the Trust and CCG. The information presented within the quality
accounts is consistent with information supplied to the commissioner throughout the year.
We can confirm that we have no reason to believe this Quality Account is not an accurate
representation of the performance of the organisation during 2016/17.
The CQC rating for the Trust reflects the areas identified for improvements within an
improvement action plan and the CCG is pleased to note the four service areas that have
moved from a “requires improvement” to “good” rating within the last year. Members of CCG
staff have undertaken commissioner led visits during the year and feedback from CQC
aligns to our own observations.
The focus and progress in improving patient experience in 2016/17 is noted for the broad
scope and ambition of the work undertaken, which incorporated service users, staff and
carers.
There is noted progress in relation to the completion of NEWS (National Early Warning
Score) and the development of mortality review processes across the Trust. There is
acknowledgment of the further work required in relation to the management of people whose
condition deteriorates, which is reflected in the priorities for 2017/18.
The areas of focus in relation to Clinical Effectiveness have shown progress in relation to
Venous Thromboembolism prevention, End of Life Care and Clinical Audit and again it is
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assuring to note the continued focus on the principles identified in this area that will be
continued in 2017/18.
The CCG is supportive of the maintained focus of quality priorities for 2017/18 and will work
with the Trust over the coming year to ensure all quality standards are monitored as set out
in the reporting requirements of the NHS Contract and local quality schedules.”
Comments from Healthwatch Dorset
Healthwatch Dorset comment on Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust
Quality Account 2016/17
As the independent voice for patients and the public, Healthwatch Dorset is committed to
ensuring local people are involved in the improvement and development of health and social
care services.
For several years now, local Healthwatch across the country have been asked to read,
digest and comment on the Quality Accounts, which are produced by every NHS Provider
(excluding primary care and Continuing Healthcare providers). In Dorset, this translates to
Quality Accounts from five NHS Trusts.
Each document is lengthy and each year we spend many hours reading the draft Accounts
and giving suggestions on how they could be improved to make them meaningful for the
public. Each year we comment on what each Trust is doing to involve patients and the public
and how it might improve the ways in which it engages and listens to all the communities it
serves. But continually and continuously through the year we are already, in our day-to-day
work, monitoring and commenting on the quality of services of our local NHS providers.
This year we have decided not to spend the hours necessary to read each Quality Account
and compose a special commentary on it. Whilst we appreciate that the process of Quality
Accounts is imposed on the Trusts, we do not believe it is a process that is accessible to
patients or their families, friends or carers, in its current format. We have limited resources
and we want to focus them on standing up for and promoting the rights of patients and the
public and on supporting and holding Trusts to account for the ways in which they involve
patients and the public.
We will continue to provide feedback to the Trust, as appropriate, throughout the year
through a variety of channels to improve the quality, experience and safety of its patients,
their families and the wider population of Dorset.
Healthwatch Dorset 2017

Comments from Dorset Health Scrutiny Committee
Three Members of the Dorset Health Scrutiny Committee are appointed annually to form a
Task and Finish Group which meets twice per year with representatives of the Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust on an informal basis, to discuss the progress
being made in improving quality and performance. The annual Quality Account and Report
for 2016/17 shared with the Group demonstrates a positive year for the Trust, and the
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Committee’s representatives offer the following comments on items of particular interest or
note:











Members are pleased to find that recommendations and findings resulting from
inspections by the Care Quality Commission (CQC) have been viewed positively and
constructively by the Trust and that improvements have been implemented as a
result;
The progress regarding actions arising from CQC inspections seems to be well
monitored, and Members praise the thorough approach to this;
The outcomes of the Clinical Audits highlighted under Mandatory Statement Two
were encouraging, but Members queried whether care planning and recording (an
issue which has been raised in previous years) had improved. It is reassuring to
hear that work is ongoing in this area;
Members note that use of the National Early Warning Score (NEWS) audit tool has
led to an improvement in practice, and welcome this;
The growth of the Trust’s capacity to host commercial research is seen as beneficial,
given the potential for income generation, staff learning and development and staff
recruitment;
The outcome of the national staff survey (with Dorset HealthCare rising up the
rankings) is very positive, and the Trust are to be commended for this;
The Trust’s higher than average rate of readmissions to hospital, highlighted in the
Quality Indicator section of the report, is of some concern. Members welcome an
offer by the Trust to provide further information on this in due course;
Reported performance against key national quality indicators seems to be good in
general, and Members commend the Trust for this.

Overall, the Dorset Health Scrutiny Committee has found Dorset HealthCare University NHS
Foundation Trust to be open and cooperative in its meetings and communications with the
Committee, and Members look forward to a continuation of the constructive relationship that
has been developed in recent years.

Comments from Borough of Poole’s Health & Social Care Overview and Scrutiny
Committee
Members of Borough of Poole’s P(HSC)OSC would like to thank the Trust for enabling
representatives of the committee to meet with yourselves to discuss quality issues over the
last year and also to comment on this draft Quality Account for 2016/17. The Report gives a
clear outline of how the Trust is endeavouring to deliver high quality care and the activities
undertaken during the financial year to improve services.
The P(HSC)OSC are encouraged to note that the Trust has continued to consult with it’s
staff, residents and stakeholders to establish the three priorities for improvement. With
regard to the priority areas for 2016/17 we commend the Trust in achieving the majority of
what it had planned in relation to:
Patient Experience- to ensure that patients and carers are engaged and active participants
in care planning and delivery. Representatives from the committee were interested to hear
about the impact of “John’s Campaign” which calls for the families and carers of people with
dementia to have the same rights as the patients of sick children, and to be allowed to
remain with them in hospital for as many hours as they are needed, and as they are able to
give. It is encouraging to note that the feedback from the pilot has indicated that the ‘open
87

visiting’ improves the patient and carers experience and that the Trust will join other NHS
Trusts across England with the implementation of the Carers Passport, during the end of the
16/17 financial year.
Patient Safety- to reduce the number of patients using the service who experience an
unexpected deterioration in their physical condition which results in admission to an acute
general hospital. Representatives from the committee were encouraged to note that 6 key
conditions were identified where a transfer may have been unnecessary if staff were
upskilled to manage these conditions outside of an acute setting.
Clinical Effectiveness- Implementing NICE quality standards- The Trust identified areas such
as treatment of Venous Thromboembolism (VTE) and support to staff delivering End of Life
Services needed improving through use of NICE quality standards. Representatives of the
committee were glad to learn that progress had been made in developing a VTE Training
Module which has been rolled out and training delivered to appropriate staff. It is also
encouraging to note that 9 out of 11 community hospitals had achieved or were working
towards the Gold Standards Framework accreditation for end of life care. Members of the
committee were also encouraged to note substantial progress made in reducing avoidable
pressure ulcers.
Moving forward to 17/18 the committee note that priority improvement areas build on and
expand on those from 16/17. Of particular interest over the next year will be understanding
how the triangle of care approach shifts culture; alongside upskilling of staff to bring care to
the patient rather than transfer them to another provider and also ensuring that the carers
passport continues to be rolled out along with achieving the Quality Mark for Elderly Friendly
Hospital Wards.
Thank you for the opportunity to comment on an interesting Quality Account. We look
forward to reading the published version but please take this letter as Borough of Poole’s
response to the draft version sent to the Council on 7th April 2017.

Comments from Bournemouth Borough Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Considering the journey the trust has taken over the last few years this quality account
paints a picture of an organisation making improvements, open to examine itself honestly,
listening to patients and seeking to improve further. This is little short of transformational and
though the Care Quality Commission report gives areas of focus for those improvements,
many services are now in much better shape than before.
It is encouraging to see focus on not allowing deterioration in patients be that transfers to
acute hospitals, infections, falls, Sepsis, pressure ulcers etc. Some of these can have a
major impact on some of the more frail patients and extend the time over which they need
care.
The account generally shows an improving position with a healthy focus on the patient and
patient experience. The January 2017 survey has shown a clear set of priorities that the trust
can now work to improve. We look forward to seeing the result of this at the end of the year.
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Changes Made as a Result of Feedback from our Stakeholders.

Following receipt of these written statements, there are no significant changes to our Quality
Account required from the feedback and therefore no changes were necessary.
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ANNEX 2

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service
(Quality Accounts) Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.
NHS Improvement has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and
content of annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on
the arrangements that NHS foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data
quality for the preparation of the quality report.
In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves
that:




the content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS
Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2016/17 and supporting guidance;
the content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources
of information including:
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o
o





board minutes and papers for the period April 2016 to April 2017;
papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2016 to April
2017;
feedback from commissioners; NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group dated 19
April 2017
feedback from governors dated 16 May 2017;
feedback from Healthwatch Dorset dated 7 April 2017;
feedback from Dorset Health Scrutiny Committee dated 8 May 2017.
feedback from the Borough of Poole Health and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny
Committee dated 3 May 2017;
feedback from Bournemouth Borough Council Overview and Scrutiny Committee
dated 2 May 2017;
the Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority
Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, Annual Compliments,
Complaints and PALS Report, dated 18 May 2017;
the national patient survey dated 25 October 2016
the national staff survey dated February 2017;
the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment
dated April 2017;
Care Quality Commission inspection reports dated 7 September 2016 and February
2017

the Quality Report presents a balanced picture of the NHS Foundation Trust’s
performance over the period covered;
the performance information reported in the Quality Report is reliable and accurate;
there are proper internal controls over the collection and reporting of the measures of
performance included in the Quality Report, and these controls are subject to review to
confirm that they are working effectively in practice;
90

THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY BLANK

92

ANNEX 3
DEFINITION OF INDICATORS
These are the detailed definitions for the indicators tested by external audit and are the
subject of their Limited Assurance report on page 95 of this quality report.
INDICATOR

DEFINITION

Percentage of
incomplete pathways
within 18 weeks for
patients on
incomplete pathways
at the end of the
reporting period
(relates to consultant
led)

Percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for
patients on incomplete pathways
Source of indicator definition and detailed guidance
The indicator is defined within the technical definitions that
accompany Everyone counts: planning for patients 2014/15 2018/19 and can be found at www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf
Detailed rules and guidance for measuring referral to treatment
(RTT) standards can be found at
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/rttwaiting-times/rtt-guidance/
Detailed descriptor
E.B.3: The percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks
for patients on incomplete pathways at the end of the period
Numerator
The number of patients on an incomplete pathway at the end of
the reporting period who have been waiting no more than 18
weeks
Denominator
The total number of patients on an incomplete pathway at the end
of the reporting period
Accountability
Performance is to be sustained at or above the published
operational standard. Details of current operational standards are
available at: www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid-wa.pdf (see Annex
B: NHS Constitution Measures).
Indicator format
Reported as a percentage
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INDICATOR

DEFINITION

Patients on Care
Programme
Approach (CPA)
followed up within 7
days of discharge
from psychiatric
inpatient stay.

Percentage of patients on Care Programme Approach who
were followed up within 7 days after discharge from
psychiatric in-patient care
Detailed descriptor
The proportion of those patients on a CPA, discharged from
inpatient care who are followed up within seven days.
Date definition
All patients discharged to their place of residence, care home,
residential accommodation, or to non-psychiatric care must be
followed up within seven days of discharge. All possibilities need to
be exploited to ensure patients are followed up within seven days
of discharge. Where a patient has been discharged to prison,
contact should be made via the prison in-reach team.





Exemption:
Patients who die within seven days of discharge may be excluded.
Where legal precedence has forced the removal of the patient from
the country.
Patients transferred to NHS psychiatric inpatient.
CAMHS (children and adolescent mental health services) are not
included
The seven-day period should be measured in days not hours and
should start on the day after discharge.
Accountability
Achieving at least a 95% rate of patients followed up after
discharge each Quarter.
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Independent Auditors’ Limited Assurance Report to the Council of Governors of Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust on the Annual Quality Report

We have been engaged by the Council of Governors of Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation
Trust to perform an independent assurance engagement in respect of Dorset HealthCare University
NHS Foundation Trust’s Quality Report for the year ended 31 March 2017 (the ‘Quality Report’) and
specified performance indicators contained therein.
Scope and subject matter

The indicators for the year ended 31 March

2017

subject to limited assurance (the “specified indicators”)

in the Quality Report, consist of the following national priority indicators
marked with the symbol
as mandated by Monitor (operating as NHS Improvement) (“NHSI”):
SpecWed Indicators

Specified indicators criteria (exact page number
where criteria can be found)

Percentage of incomplete pathways within i8
weeks for patients on incomplete pathways at the
end of the reporting period

Page g

100% enhanced Care Programme Approach
patients receiving follow-up contact within seven
days of discharge from hospital

Page 94

Respective responsibilities of the Directors and auditors

The Directors are responsible for the content and the preparation of the Quality Report in accordance
with the specified indicators criteria referred to on pages of the Quality Report as listed above (the
“Criteria’). The Directors are also responsible for the conformity of their Criteria withthe assessment
criteria set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual (“FT ARM”) and the “Detailed
requirements for external asstirance for quality reports for foundation trusts 2016/17” issued by Monitor
(operating as NHS Improvement) (“NHSI”).
Our responsibility is to form a conclusion, based on limited assurance procedures, on whether anyi:hing
has come to our attention that causes us to believe that:
..

•
•

The Quality Report does not incorporate the matters required to be reported on as, specified in
the FT ARM and the “Detailed requirements for quality reports for foundation trusts 2016/17”;
The Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the sources specified below;.
and
The specified indicators have not been prepared in all material respects in accordance with the
Criteria set out in the FT ARM and the “Detailed requirements for external assurance for quality
reports for foundation trusts 2016/17”.

We read the Quality Report and consider whether it addresses the content requirements of the FT ARM
and the “Detailed requirements for quality reports for foundation trusts 2016/17”; and considerthe
implications for our report if we become aware of any material omissions.
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We read the other information contained in the Quality Report and consider whether it is materially

inconsistent with the following documents:
•

Board minutes for the financial year, April
report (the period);

•

Papers relating to quality report reported to the Board over the period April
signing this limited assurance report;

2016

and up to the date of signing this limited assurance
2016

to the date of

Feedback from the Commissioner, NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group dated
..

19

April

2017;

Feedback from Governors dated i6 May 2017;

•

Feedback from HealthWatch Dorset dated 7 April

•

Feedback from Dorset Health Scrutiny Committee dated 8 May 2017;

•

Feedback from the Borough of Poole Health and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee
dated 3 May 2017;

•

Feedback from Bournemouth Borough Council Overview and Scrutiny Committee dated

2017;

2

May

2017;

•

The Trust’s complaints report published under regulation i8 of the Local Authority Social Services
and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, dated i8 May 2017;

•

The national patient survey dated

•

The national staff survey dated February 2017;

•

Care Quality Commission inspection, dated 7 September 2016 and February

•

The Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment dated May 2017.

25

October

2016;

2017;

and

We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or
material inconsistencies with those documents (collectively, the “documents”). Our responsibilities do
not extend to any other information.
Our Independence and Quality Control
We applied the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) Code of Ethics,
which includes independence and other requirements founded on fundamental principles of integrity,
objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and professional behaviour.
We apply International Standard on Quality Control (UK & Ireland) 1 and accordingly maintain a
comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding
compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory
requirements.
Use and distribution of the report
This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared solely for the Council of Governors of Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust as a body, to assist the Council of Governors in reporting
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust’s quality agenda, performance and activities. We
permit the disclosure of this report within the Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2017, to
• enable the Couneil of Governors to demonstrate they have discharged their governance responsibilities
by commissioning an independent assurance report in connection with the indicators. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Council of
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Govei’nors as a body and Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust for our work or this
report save where terms are expressly agreed and with our prior consent in writing.
Assurance work performed
We conducted this limited assurance engagement in accordance with International Standard on
Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) ‘Assurance Engagements other than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information’ issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board
(‘ISAE 3000 (Revised)’). Our limited assurance procedures included:
•
•
•
i

•
•
•
•

reviewing the content of the Quality Report against the requirements of the FT ARM and the
“Detailed requirements for quality reports for foundation trusts 2016/17”;
reviewing the Quality Report for consistency against the documents specified above;
pbtaining an understanding of the design and operation of the controls in place in relation to the
collation and reporting of the specified indicators, including controls over third party
information (if applicable) and performing walkthroughs to confirm our understanding;
based on our understanding, assessing the risks that the performance against the specified
indicators may be materially misstated and determining the nature, timing and extent of further
procedures;
making enquiries of relevant management, personnel and, where relevant, third parties;
considering significant judgements made by the NHS Foundation Trust in preparation of the
specified indicators;
performing limited testing, on a selective basis of evidence supporting the reported performance
indicators, and assessing the related disclosures; and
reading the documents.

A limited assurance engagement is less in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement. The nature,
timing and extent of procedures for gathering sufficient appropriate evidence are deliberately limited
relative to a reasonable assurance engagement.
Limitations
Non-financial performance information is subject to more inherent limitations than financial
information, given the characteristics of the subject matter and the methods used for determining such
information.
The absence of a significant body of established practice on which to draw allows for the selection of
different but acceptable measurement techniques which can result in materially different measurements
and can impact comparability. The precision of different measurement techniques may also vary.
Furthermore, the nature and methods used to determine such information, as well as the measurement
criteria and the precision thereof, may change overtime. It is important to read the Quality Report in
the cOntext of the assessment criteria set out in the FT ARM and “Detailed requirements for quality
reports for foundation trusts 2016/17”and the Criteria referred to above.
The nature, form and content required of Quality Reports are determined by NHSI. This may result in
the omission of information relevant to other users, for example for the purpose of comparing the
results of different NHS Foundation Trusts/organisations/entities.
In additiOn, the scope of our assurance work has not included governance over quality or non-mandated
indicators in the Quality Report, which have been determined locally by Dorset HealthCare University
NHS Foundation Trust.
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COnclusion

Based on the results of our procedtires, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that
for the year ended 31 March 2017:
• The Quality Report does not incorporate the matters required to be reported on as specified in
the FT ARM and the “Detailed requirements for quality reports for foundation trusts 20 16/17”;
• The Quality Report is not consistent in all material respects with the documents specified above;
and
• The specified indicators have not been prepared in all material respects in accordance with the
Criteria set out in the FT ARM and the “Detailed requirements for external assurance for quality
reports for foundation trusts 2016/ 17”.

• 4p
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Southampton
31 May 2017
The maintenance and integrity of the Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust’s website is the
• responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the assurance providers does not involve consideration of
these matters and, accordingly, the assurance providers accept no responsibility for any changes that may have
occurred to the reported performance indicators or criteria since they were initially presented on the website.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Acute Care
Short-term health care for a severe injury or psychiatric episode.
Avoidable
Avoidable means the patient receiving care developed a pressure ulcer and the provider of
care did not do one of the following: evaluate the patients clinical condition and pressure
ulcer risk factors; plan and implement interventions that are consistent with patient needs,
goals, and recognised standards of practice; monitor and evaluate the impact of those
interventions; or revise the interventions as appropriate (NPSA 2010).
Board of Directors
The Board of Directors agree the future plans of the organisation and consists of NonExecutive Directors, Executive Directors and Locality Directors.
Care Programme Approach (CPA)
The process that providers of mental health care use to co-ordinate the care, treatment and
support for people who have mental health needs.
Care Quality Commission (CQC)
The CQC is the independent regulator of health and adult social care services in England.
It also protects the interests of people whose rights are restricted under the Mental Health
Act.
Child and Adolescence Mental Health Services (CAMHS)
CAMHS provides assessment and treatment for children and young people up to the age of
18 years (and their families/carers), who are suffering significant mental health problems
which have not responded to intervention at primary care and early intervention level.
Clinical audits
A systematic process for setting and monitoring standards of clinical care. ‘Guidelines’
define what the best clinical practice should be, ‘audit’ investigates whether best practice is
being carried out and makes recommendations for improvement.
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
The CCG’s are clinically led NHS organisations which organise the delivery of NHS
services in England.
Clinical Risk Training
High quality risk assessment and management is an important clinical skill which is
enhanced by training and experience. Clinical risk training equips the health care
practitioner to undertake high quality risk assessments.
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN)
A payment framework that has been a compulsory part of the NHS contract from 2009/10.
It allows all local health communities to develop their own schemes to encourage quality
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improvement and recognise innovation by making a proportion of NHS service provider’s
income conditional on locally agreed goals.
Community Health Services (CHS)
Provides a range of services to assist people with their physical, emotional and mental
health needs. These services are provided in the community so are close to people’s
homes. Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust works in partnership with GP,
Social Services and local health providers to provide these services.
Community Hospitals
Community hospitals provide many services including elderly inpatient care, outpatient
appointments, therapy services and theatre.
Community Mental Health Team (CMHT)
Community Mental Health Teams (CMHTs) are multi-disciplinary, multi-agency assessment
teams designed to provide mental health care and treatment for individuals with more
complex and enduring mental health needs in the community.
Council of Governors
The Council of Governors are guardians of the Trust working on behalf of local
communities and staff. The Council ensure that the Trust complies with the terms of its
authorisation as an NHS Foundation Trust and meets regularly to advise the Board of
Directors on the Trust’s development and strategies.
Dementia
Dementia is associated with an ongoing decline of the brain and its abilities, most notably
including memory, language and understanding.
Foundation Trust
Foundation Trusts are a type of NHS organisation with greater local accountability and
freedom to manage themselves. They remain within the NHS overall, and provide the
same services as traditional trusts, but have more freedom to set local goals. Staff and
members of the public can join their Boards or become members.
Friends and Family Test (FFT)
The FFT asks patients if they would recommend services to their family and friends. The
FFT is now in place in all community hospitals, inpatient mental health hospitals, minor
injury units and all teams in the community.
Gold Standards Framework
The Gold Standards Framework (GSF) is a model that enables good practice to be available
to all people nearing the end of their lives, irrespective of diagnosis
Healthwatch
Healthwatch is an independent organisation which ensures the voice of patients and carers
are heard throughout health and care services. They can raise issues of concern within an
organisation and work with them to improve services. They ensure that patients are getting
the services they need.
Hospital Episode Statistics
Hospital Episode Statistics is the national statistical data warehouse for England of the care
provided by NHS hospitals and for NHS hospital patients treated elsewhere.
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Information Governance Toolkit
An online tool that enables organisations to measure their performance against information
governance standards.
There are several elements of law and policy from which information governance standards
are derived. It encompasses legal requirements, central guidance and best practice in
information handling, including:







The common law duty of confidentiality
Data Protection Act 1998
Information security
Information quality
Records management
Freedom of Information Act 2000.

Mental Health Services (MHS)
Provides a range of treatments for people across Dorset who are suffering from a mental
health problem. These services can be provided at home, in the community or in more
specialised inpatient units.
Minor Injury Unit’s (MIU’s)
MIU’s provide help for people with injuries which are not life threatening, enabling Accident
and Emergency Departments to concentrate on those with serious conditions.
National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (NICE)
NICE provides guidance, sets quality standards and manages a national database to
improve people’s health and prevent and treat ill health.
NICE makes recommendations to the NHS on:
 new and existing medicines, treatments and procedures
 treating and caring for people with specific diseases and conditions
 how to improve people’s health and prevent illness and disease.
National patient surveys
The National Patient Survey Programme, coordinated by the Care Quality Commission,
gathers feedback from patients on different aspects of their experience of recently received
care, across a variety of services/settings.
Monitor
The independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts, ensuring they are well led and
financially robust.
Non-Executive Director
An outside member of the Board of Directors who is not affiliated with the organisation, they
are sometimes known as independent directors.
POMH
Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health (Royal College of Psychiatrists).
Pressure Ulcer (PU)
Pressure ulcers are a type of injury that breaks down the skin and underlying tissue. They
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are caused when an area of skin is placed under pressure. They are also sometimes
known as 'bedsores' or 'pressure sores'.
Pulmonary embolism
Where a clot breaks away from where it formed and lodges in the lung.
Q1, Q2, Q3, Q4
Q1 stands for Quarter 1. The Trust reports progress with our priorities every 3 months
(quarterly). Quarter one is April – June in any calendar year. Quarter two is July –
September in any calendar year. Quarter three is October - December. Quarter four is
January - March.
Research
Clinical research and clinical trials are an everyday part of the NHS. The people who do
research are mostly the same doctors and other health professionals who treat people. A
clinical trial is a particular type of research that tests one treatment against another. It may
involve either patients or people in good health, or both.
Root Cause Analysis (RCA)
Root Cause Analysis (RCA) is the structured approach to identifying the factors which
resulted in an incident. The root causes are the fundamental issues which have led to an
incident occurring and must be addressed to improve the delivery of care.
Safeguarding
A term used in conjunction with measures that are taken to protect, safeguard and promote
the health and welfare of children and vulnerable people. Ensuring they live free from
harm, abuse and neglect.
Secondary Uses Service
The Secondary Uses Service is designed to provide anonymous patient-based data for
purposes other than direct clinical care such as healthcare planning, commissioning, public
health, clinical audit and governance, benchmarking, performance improvement, medical
research and national policy development.
Tool Box training
An informal group discussion that focuses on a particular safety issue, usually given over ten
minutes in the clinical area.
Venous Thrombosis (VTE)
Venous thrombosis or phlebothrombosis is a blood clot (thrombus) that forms within a vein.
Risk assessment
The Braden risk assessment is used in our hospitals. This assesses elements of risk that
contribute to either higher intensity and duration of pressure or lower tissue tolerance to
pressure. The lower the score the greater the risk. The assessment is to be completed
within six hours of admission and the target was to reduce this to within four hours by
September 2013. Evidence suggests that this is a key factor in preventing issues and this
is measured on a monthly basis.
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Independent auditors’ report to the Council ofGovernors
ofDorset HealthCare University NHS foundation Trust
Report on the financial statements
Our

opinion

In our opinion, Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust’s financial statements (the “financial statements”):
March

and of its income and expenditure

•

give a true and fair view of the state of the Trust’s affairs as at
and cash flows for the year then ended; and

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with the Department of I-Iealth Group Accounting Manual

31

2017

2016/17.

What we have audited
The financial statements comprise:
•
the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2017;
•
the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended;
•
the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended;
•
the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended; and
•
the notes to the accounts, which include a summary’ of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.
Certain required disclosures have been presented elsewhere in the Annual Report and Accounts (the “Annual Report”),
rather than in the notes to the financial statements. These are cross-referenced from the financial statements and are
identified as audited.
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is the Department of
Health Group Accounting Manual 2016/17.
Our audit approach

context
Our audit for the year ended 31 March 2017 was planned and executed having regard to the fact that the Trust’s operations
and financial stability were largely unchanged in nature from the previous year. In light of this, our approach to the audit in
terms of scoping and areas of focus was largely unchanged.

Overview
•

Overall materiality:

•

In establishing our overall approach we assessed the risks of material misstatement and
applied our professional judgement to determine the extent of testing required over each
balailce in the financial statements.

£5,217,600

which represents

2%

of total revenue from activities

The principal areas of focus that we identified were:
•

Risk of fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition; and

•

Valuation of land and buildings.

The scope of our audit and our areas offocus
We conducted our audit in accordance with the National Health Service Act 2006, the Code of Audit Practice and relevant
guidance issued by the National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the “Code of Audit
Practice”) and, International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”).

We designed our audit by determining materiality and assessing the risks of material misstatement in the financial
statements. In particular, we looked at where the directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in
all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether there
was evidence of bias by the directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.
The risks of material misstatement that had the greatest effect on our audit, including the allocation of our resources and
effort, are identified as “areas of focus” in the table below. We have also set out how we tailored our audit to address these
specific areas in order to provide an opinion on the financial statements as a whole, and any comments we make on the
results of our procedures should be read in this context. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit.
Area qtjbcits
Risk Offr(tUd in revenue and eXpen(litnre recognition
See note 1 to thefinancial statementsfor the directors’
disclosures of the related accounting policies,judgements
and estimates relating to the recognition of income and
expenditureforfurther information.
We focused on these areas because the Trust had an
incentive to meet the control total agreed with NHS
Improvement (“NHSI”) and receive additional income from
the Sustainability and Transformation Fund (“Sm”). The
control total agreed for the Trust was a surplus of £162k
including STF of £1.9m. As the Trust exceeded its controls
total, it was therefore entitled to the full £1.9m STF income
plus an additional bonus of £4.4m.
As a result, there was a risk that management had
overstated the financial result for the year by either
recognising income relating to 2017/18 in 2016/17, or by not
recognising or deferring expenditure relating to 2016/17.

How oiw audit adctresset the area

offocus

Income
For a sample of CQUIN income, we read the terms and
conditions of the relevant contract, traced the amount that
had been recognised to supporting documentation,
including an analysis of the Trust’s achievement of the
performance indicators. We agreed the CQUIN income to
the invoices raised.
There were no material variations to the block contract
amounts during the year.
For a sample of non-block contract income recognised
throughout the year, we traced the amount that had been
recognised to supporting documentation (for example, a
signed contract or agreement, an invoice and supporting
correspondence) and where possible, to subsequent cash
receipt.
We tested a sample of income transactions that had been
accounted for in the month before and after the year end to
check that income had been recognised in the correct
accounting period.
Income
We tested the largest element of accrued income at year-end
The Trust’s principal source of income is from Clinical
being the final sm income to ensure the Trust had correctly
Commissioning Groups (CCGs). The contracts with the
recognised the income within 2016/17.
CCGs are renegotiated annually and the majority of the
income is fixed for the year under a block contract and does For a sample of accounts receivable balances as at 31 March
not fluctuate with the level of activity. In line with the
2017, we agreed the amount outstanding to supporting
standard NHS contract, 2.5% of this income relates to
documentation (such an invoice or correspondence) and
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN) and is subsequent receipts, where possible, to ensure the income
measured against a series of performance indicators. There had been recognised in the correct period, and was
may also be contract variations to the block contracts signed recoverable.
during the year. These elements are more subject to
We did not identify any material errors in our testing of
management judgement regarding the amount of such
income.
income to which the Trust is entitled.
The Trust’s non-block contract income arises from a number
Expenditure
of different activities, for example, education and training
and is subject to differing terms and conditions and, hence, We selected a sample of post year end expenditure
transactions and payments and checked that the
subject to management judgement regarding the amount
corresponding expense had been recognised in the correct
and timing of income that is recognised.
period
by agreeing to supporting documentation (such as
We focused our work on:
invoice).
CQUIN income;
We tested accrued expenses as at the year-end by agreeing a.
• variations to the block contract amounts agreed at the
sample of items to the subsequent invoice or to other
start of the year;
relevant supporting documentation including contracts or
calculations of the accrual and agreed estimates and
• non-block contract income; and
assumptions to previous invoices received for the
• non-standard journal transactions, including those
goods/service to check they had been recognised it the
impacting income and accrued income.
correct amount and had been recognised in the correct
period.
Expenditure
We tested a sample of provisions recognised at the year-end
We focused our work on the elements of expenditure that we by checking to supporting documentation such as
agreements or correspondence with third parties. We also
considered to be the most susceptible to misstatement,
read Board and Audit Committee minutes to identify
being non-pay and non-depreciation expenditure. We also
whether there were indications that the balance was not
focused our work on non-standard journal transactions,
complete.
including those impacting expenditure.

Area qf focus

how our audit addressed the area offbeus

There were no material prepayment balances at the yearend
Te did not identi’ any material errors in our testing of
expenditure.
in! i’tt—_VIiS transactions anti balances
We obtained the Trust’s mismatch reports received from
NHSI, which identified transactions and balances with other
NHS bodies (debtor, creditor, income or expenditure
balances) that were disputed by the counterparty. We
checked that management had investigated all disputed
amounts and discussed with them the results of their
investigation and the resolution. We read correspondence
with the counterparties, which corroborated these results.
We considered the impact, if any, that the remaining
disputed amounts would have on the Trust’s financial
statements and determined that there was no material
impact.
Jon 1710lS
We selected a risk-based sample of manual and automated
journals, focusing on those journals that increased income
or decreased expenditure with the corresponding double
entry to a balance sheet account excluding accounts that
would be expected for such entries such as cash, accounts
receivable and accounts payable.
We traced these journals entries to supporting
documentation (for example, invoices, cash receipts and
payments and correspondence with third parties) to check
that the journal was appropriate and had been recognised in
the right period.
No material errors were identified from the journals tested.
Vatuation Of land and buildings
Management’s accounting policies, key judgements and use
of experts relating to tite valuation of the Trust’s land and
buildings are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements.
All property, plant and equipment is measured initially at
cost, with land and buildings subsequently measured at fair
value in accordance with the Department of Health Group
Accounting Manual 2016/17.
As at the balance sheet date the Trust’s land and buildings
were valued at £133.9 million. The financial statements
show:
•
a revaluation gain of £5.3 million and an
impairment of £16.8 million recognised through
the Statement of Changes in Taxpayer’s Equity;
and
•
an impairment of £8.3 million recognised within
operating expenditure.
We focused on this area due to the material nature of this
balance, and the consequent impact on the financial
statements were it to be materially misstated.
Valuations are performed by a professionally accredited
expert, in accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered
Surveyors (RICS) Appraisal and Valuation Manual, and
performed with sufficient regularity to ensure that the
carrying value is not materially different from fair value at
the balance sheet date.
The specific areas of risk are:

We obtained (directly from the valuer) and read the relevant
sections of the valuation perfornied by the Trust’s Valuer. We
then used our own valuations specialists to evaluate and
challenge the assumptions and methodology applied in the
valuation exercise, finding the assumptions and methodology
applied to be consistent with our expectations.
We checked and found that the valuer had a UK
qualification, was part of an appropriate professional body
and was not connected with the Trust.
We tested the underlying data (upon which the valuation was
based) by agreeing it back to land area and floor plans for a
sample of properties. Where an adjustment had been made to
reflect the Modern Equivalent Asset (MEA) basis, we
considered the assumptions made and whether this was
appropriate based on the site plans provided.
For a sample of assets we obtained the title deed from HM
Land Registry that confirmed that the Trust had ownership of
the property.
We checked and found that the change in valuation was
appropriately disclosed in the annual report and correctly
reflected in in the financial statements.
Our testing did not identify any material issues with the
valuation of the Trust’s land and buildings.

Area of focus

How our audit addressed the area offoeus

.accuracy of the detailed information on properties
provided to the valuation expert most significantly
the land area and floor plans, on which the
valuation of NHS properties is routinely based;
the methodology, assumptions and underlying data
used by the valuation expert;
the accounting transactions resulting from this
valuation.

—

—

HOW WC tUilC)rL’d the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial
statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of the trust, the accounting processes and controls, and the
environment in which the trust operates.
Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for
materiality. These, together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature,
timing and extent of our audit procedures and to evaluate the effect of misstatements, both individually and on the financial
statements as a whole.
Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:
Overcitt materiality

£5,217,600 (2016: £5,052,000).

How we determined it

2%

Rationalefor benchmark
applied

Consistent with last year, we have applied this benchmark, a generally accepted
auditing practice, in the absence of indicators that an alternative benchmark would
be appropriate.

of total operating income

(2016: 2%)

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above
£200,000 (2016: £200,000) as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for
qualitative reasons.

Other reporting
Opinions on other mafters prescribed by the Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion:
•

the information given in the Performance Report and the Accountability Report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

•

the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Reports to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2016/17;

Arrangements for securing economy, efflcienc and effectiveness in the use of resources
Under the Code of Audit Practice we are required to report, by exception, if we conclude we are not satisfied that the Trust
has put in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year
ended 31 March 2017. We draw your attention to the Trust’s Performance Analysis on page 11 which includes further details
on the matters noted below and the Trust’s action to address the issues.
The Trust was subject to a full Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection in June 2015 where they identified a number of
issues and gave the Trust an overall rating of “Requires Improvement”. The Trust put in place a number of actions to
address the issues identified and these actions were still in progress throughout 2015/16 and into 2016/17.
To ascertain how the Trust had progressed since the full inspection, the CQC performed a follow up inspection of seven of
the Trust’s services in March 2016. The results of this follow up inspection found that the Trust had made improvements in
four of the services resulting in these services moving from a rating of “Requires Improvement” to “Good” but the remaining
three services remained as “Requires Improvement”. These three areas are community-based mental health services for
older people, community-based mental health services for adults and mental health crisis services. The CQC therefore
concluded that overall rating for the Trust remained as “Requires Improvement”.
Following this visit, the Trust put in place a number of mitigating actions to address the issues identified. As at March 2017,
the Trust has made progress in addressing the actions, but there are still a number that remain in progress and are not yet
completed.

The above matters suggest that there were weaknesses in proper arrangements for:
•

Acting in the public interest, through demonstrating and applying the principles and values of sound governance;

•

Managing risks effectively and maifltaining a sound system of internal control; and

•

Planning, organising and developing the workforce effectively to deliver strategic priorities.

Except for the matters noted above, we have no other mailers to report in relation to proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2017.

Other matters on which we report by exception
We are required to report to you if:
•
information in the Annual Report is:
o materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements; or
o apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge of the Trust acquired
in the course of performing our audit; or
o otherwise misleading.
•
the statement given by the directors on page 39, in accordance with provision C.;.i of the NHS Foundation Trust Code
of Governance, that they consider the Annual Report taken as a whole to he fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for members to assess the Trust’s performance, business model and strategy is
materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the Trust acquired in the course of performing our audit.
•
the section of the Annual Report on pages 24 and 25, as required by provision C.3.9 of the NHS Foundation Trust Code
of Governance, describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters communicated by
us to the Audit Committee.
•
the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the NHS Foundation Trust
Annual Reporting Manual 2016/17 or is misleading or inconsistent with our knowledge acquired in the course of
performing our audit. We have not considered whether the Annual Governance Statement addresses all risks and
controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.
•
we have referred a matter to Monitor under Schedule 10 (6) of the National Health Service Act 2006 because we had
reason to believe that the Trust, or a director or officer of the Trust, was about to make, or had made, a decision which
involved or would involve the incurring of expenditure that was unlawful, or was about to take, or had taken a course of
action which, if followed to its conclusion, would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or deficiency.
•
we have issued a report in the public interest under Schedule 10 (3) of the National I-Iealth Service Act 2006.
We have no mailers to report in relation to these responsibilities.

Respective responsibilities of the Directors and the Auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities on page 39 the directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view in accordance with the Department of Health
Group Accounting Manual 2016/17.
Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with the National Health
Service Act 2006, the Code of Audit Practice, and ISAs (UK & Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the
Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.
The Trust is also responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources. We are required under Schedule ;o(;) of the National Health Service Act 2006 to satisfy’ ourselves that the
Trust has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources and to report
to you where we have not been able to satisfy’ ourselves that it has done so. We are not required to consider, nor have we
considered, whether all aspects of the Trust’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources are operating effectively. We have undertaken our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having
regard to the criterion determined by the Comptroller and Auditor General as to whether the Trust has proper arrangements
to ensure it took properly’ informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for
taxpayers and local people. We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based our on risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we considered necessary.
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Council of Governors of Dorset HealthCare
University NHS Foundation Trust NHS Foundation Trust as a body in accordance with paragraph 24 of Schedule 7 of the
National Health Service Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come
save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial sta crnents involves
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of:
•

whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the trust’s circumstances and have been consistently applied
and adequately disclosed;

•

the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and

•

the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’ judgements against available evidence, forming our
own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.
We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we consider necessary to
provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence through testing the effectiveness of
controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial
information in the Annual Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify
any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by
us in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we
consider the implications for our report.

Certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements in accordance with the requirements of Chapter 5 of
Part 2 to the National Health Service Act 2006 and the Code of Audit Practice

Sasha Lewis (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Southampton
31 May 2017

(a)

The maintenance and integrity of the Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust’s website is the
responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve consideration of these matters
and, accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial
statements since they were initially presented on the website.

(b)

Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ
from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 March 2017

NOTE

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

Operating Income from continuing operations

2

244,098

237,403

Operating Expenses of continuing operations

3

(241,307)

(233,156)

2,791

4,247

OPERATING SURPLUS
FINANCE COSTS
Finance income
Finance costs - financial liabilities
Finance costs - unwinding of discount on provisions
Public Dividend Capital Dividends payable
NET FINANCE COSTS

5.1
5.2
21

91
(2)
(15)
(4,214)
(4,140)

118
(8)
(15)
(4,695)
(4,600)

Gains on disposal of assets
(Loss) from transfer by absorption

6.2
37

943
(346)

473
-

(752)

120

(520)

(2,023)

(1,272)

(1,903)

(16,798)
5,328
-

(3,859)
10,318
243

(12,742)

4,799

(Deficit)/Surplus from continuing operations
(Deficit)/surplus of discontinued operations and the gain/(loss) on
disposal of discontinued operations

31

(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR
Other comprehensive income
Impairments
Revaluations
Other reserve movements

22
22

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/INCOME FOR THE YEAR

The notes on pages A6 to A46 form part of these accounts.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY for the year ended:
31 March 2017
Total
Taxpayers'
Equity
£000

Public
Dividend
Capital
£000

Revaluation
Reserve
£000

Income and
Expenditure
Reserve
£000

Equity at 1 April 2016
(Deficit) for the year
Transfers by NORMAL absorption: transfers between reserves
Impairments
Revaluations - Property, plant & equipment
Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets
Public Dividend Capital (PDC) received

175,366
(1,272)

31,080
-

57,472
-

86,814
(1,272)

(16,798)
5,328
26

26

(8)
(16,798)
5,328
(1,201)
-

8
1,201
-

Equity at 31 March 2017

162,650

31,106

44,793

86,751

31 March 2016
£000

£000

£000

£000

Equity at 1 April 2015
(Deficit) for the year
Impairments
Revaluations - Property, plant & equipment
Transfer to retained earnings on disposal of assets
Other reserve movements

170,567
(1,903)
(3,859)
10,318
243

31,080
-

51,044
(3,859)
10,318
(274)
243

88,443
(1,903)
274
-

Equity at 31 March 2016

175,366

31,080

57,472

86,814
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 March 2017

2016/17
£000
2,791
(520)
2,271

2015/16
£000
Restated
4,247
(2,023)
2,224

Non-cash income and expense
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments
Income recognised in respect of capital donations (cash and non-cash)
(Increase)/decrease in Trade and Other Receivables
Decrease in Other Assets
(Increase)/decrease in Inventories
Increase in Trade and Other Payables
Increase/(decrease) in Provisions
Operating cash flows movement of discontinued operations
Net cash generated from operating activities

7,749
8,339
(219)
(6,358)
(14)
1,032
82
210
13,092

7,533
580
(602)
1,499
243
17
1,156
(330)
918
13,238

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment
Sales of Property, Plant and Equipment
Receipt of cash donations to purchase capital assets
Net cash used in investing activities

91
(781)
(9,491)
2,509
219
(7,453)

118
(10,132)
1,517
478
(8,019)

Cash flows from financing activities
Public dividend capital received
Capital element of finance lease rental payments
Interest paid
Interest element of finance lease
PDC Dividend paid
Net cash generated used in financing activities

26
(1)
(2)
(4,359)
(4,336)

(8)
(7)
(1)
(4,585)
(4,601)

1,303

618

30,733

30,115

32,036

30,733

NOTE

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus from continuing operations
Operating (deficit) from discontinuing operations
Operating surplus

Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 April
Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March

23.1
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
1.

Accounting Policies and Other Information
NHS Improvement, in exercising the statutory functions conferred on Monitor, is responsible for issuing an
accounts direction to NHS foundation trusts under the NHS Act 2006. NHS Improvement has directed that the
financial statements of NHS foundation trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of the Department of Health
Group Accounting Manual (DH GAM) which shall be agreed with the Secretary of State. Consequently, the
following financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the DH GAM 2016/17 issued by the
Department of Health. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow IFRS and HM Treasury's Financial
Reporting Manual (FReM) to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS. The accounting
policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

1.1 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
property and plant.
1.2 Going Concern
These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis.
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future.
1.3 Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be 'discontinued' where they meet all of the following conditions:
the sale or termination is completed either in the period or before the earlier of three months after the
a.
commencement of the subsequent period and the date on which the accounts are approved;
if a termination, the former activities have ceased permanently;
b.
the sale or termination has a material effect on the nature and focus of the reporting NHS
c.
Trust's operations and represents a material reduction in its operating facilities resulting either from its
withdrawal from a particular activity or from a material reduction in income in the Trust's
continuing operations;
d.
the assets, liabilities, results of operations and activities are clearly distinguishable, physically,
operationally and for financial reporting purposes; and
the activity moves to an organisation outside of the "Whole of Government Accounts" boundary. The Whole
e.
of Government Accounts comprises organisations within the UK public sector.
Operations not satisfying all these conditions are classified as continuing.
Activities are considered to be 'acquired' whether or not they are acquired from outside the public sector.
1.4 Income
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the trust is contracts
with NHS commissioners in respect of healthcare services.
Where income is received for a specific activity, which is to be delivered in the following financial year, this income
is deferred.
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met,
and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.
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1.5 Expenditure on Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received
from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period
is recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the
following period.
Pension Costs
NHS Pension Scheme
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under
the direction of Secretary of State, in England and Wales. It is not possible for the NHS foundation trust to identify
its share of the underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution
scheme.
Employers pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
Further details are available in Note 4.6.
1.6 Expenditure on other Goods and Services
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is
measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except
where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.
1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment
Recognition
Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where:
●
it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
●
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust;
●
it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
●
the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and
- they individually have a cost of at least £5,000; or
- collectively, a number of items have a cost of at least £5,000 and individually have a cost of more than
£250, where the assets are functionally interdependent, had broadly simultaneous purchase dates, are
anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset
lives e.g. plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their
own useful economic lives.
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1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment Continued
Measurement
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly attributable
to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at market value in
existing use, except for an item of property, plant and equipment which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into
use which is valued at fair value under IFRS 13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 or IFRS 5. For
assets other than land and buildings, depreciated value is considered to be equivalent to market value in existing
use.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses
immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences
when they are brought into use.
Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential
deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the
item can be determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is
capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised.
Other expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs
and maintenance, is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.
Depreciation
Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated evenly over their remaining useful economic lives in a
manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered to
have an infinite life and is not depreciated.
Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified as 'Held for Sale' ceases to be depreciated upon the
reclassification.
Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use.
Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on their market value in existing use evenly over the estimated
remaining life of the asset as assessed by the Trust’s professional valuers. Leaseholds are depreciated over the
primary lease term.
Equipment is depreciated on current cost evenly over the estimated life.
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1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment Continued
Revaluation gains and losses and impairment
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and
to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they
are recognised in operating expenses.
Revaluation losses are charged to the revaluation reserve, to the extent that there is an available balance for the
asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
as an item of 'other comprehensive income'.
In accordance with the DH GAM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or
service potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the
revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment
charged to operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the
impairment.
An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or service potential is reversed when,
and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss are reversed. Reversals are recognised in
operating expenses to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the
impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve.
Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income
and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal
is recognised.
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of 'other impairments' are treated as revaluation
gains.
De-recognition
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as 'Held for Sale' once all of the following criteria are met:
●
The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and
customary for such sales;
●
The sale must be highly probable i.e.:
- management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;
- an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;
- the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;
- the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as 'Held for Sale'; and
- the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant
changes made to it.
Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their 'fair
value less costs to sell'. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where the
'fair value less costs to sell' falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale
contract conditions have been met.
Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as 'Held for
Sale', and instead, is retained as an operational asset and the asset's economic life is adjusted. The asset is derecognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.
The revaluation surplus included in equity in respect of an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred
directly to the income and expenditure reserve when the asset is disposed of.
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1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment Continued
Donated assets
Donated property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The donation is credited
to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future economic benefits embodied in
the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the donation is deferred within
liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the condition has not yet been met.
The donated assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of property, plant and
equipment.
1.8 Intangible Assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately
from the rest of the Trust's business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only
where it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust and where
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, and where cost is at least £5,000.
Internally generated intangible assets
Expenditure on research is not capitalised.
Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of the following can be demonstrated:
● the project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an intangible asset for sale or use;
● the Trust intends to complete the asset and sell or use it;
● the Trust has the ability to sell or use the asset;
● how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service delivery benefits e.g. the presence of a
market for it or its output, or where it is to be used for internal use, the usefulness of the asset;
● adequate financial, technical and other resources are available to the Trust to complete the development and sell
or use the asset; and
● the Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during the development.
Software
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant
item of Property, Plant and Equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. application
software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.
Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce
and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Subsequently, intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no active market exists,
intangible assets are valued at the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use where the asset is
income generating. Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are treated in the same manner as for property,
plant and equipment. An intangible asset which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into use is valued at fair value
under IFRS13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 of IRFS 5.
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1.8 Intangible Assets continued
Measurement continued
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or 'fair value less costs to sell'.
Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.
1.9 Fixed Asset Investments
The Trust is the Corporate Trustee to Dorset HealthCare Charitable Fund. The Trust has assessed its
relationship to the charitable fund and determined it to be a subsidiary because the Trust is exposed to, or has
right to, variable returns and other benefits for itself, patients and staff from its involvement with the charitable
fund and has the ability to affect those returns and other benefits through its power over the fund.
Normally such a relationship would require the accounts of the subsidiary to be consolidated by the Trust where
material. The Dorset HealthCare Charitable Fund is not sufficiently large to materially affect the results of the
Trust and the Trust has therefore not consolidated the charity accounts.
1.10 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the First In, First Out method.
1.11 Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition
and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
1.12 Financial Instruments and Financial Liabilities
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust's normal purchase, sale or
usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. when receipt or
delivery of the goods or services is made.
Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are
recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described in the next section
under 'Leases'.
All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.
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1.12 Financial Instruments and Financial Liabilities Continued
De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired or the
Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired.
Classification and measurement
Financial assets are categorised as 'Loans and Receivables'.
Financial liabilities are classified as 'Other Financial Liabilities'.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets.
The Trust's loans and receivables comprise: current investments, cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables,
accrued income and other receivables.
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that
discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial asset or, when
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the Statement
of Comprehensive Income.
Other financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for loans from the Department of
Health, which are carried at historic costs. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to
the net carrying amount of the financial liability.
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of
Financial Position date, which are classified as non-current liabilities.
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and
charged to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
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1.12 Financial Instruments and Financial Liabilities Continued
Impairment of financial assets
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the Trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than those
held at “fair value through income and expenditure” are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment
losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the
asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account/bad debt provision.
1.13 Leases
Finance leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the Trust, the asset is
recorded as Property, Plant and Equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both
are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. The implicit interest rate is that which produces a constant
periodic rate of interest on the outstanding liability.
The asset and liability are recognised at the inception of the lease, and are de-recognised when the liability is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance
cost. The annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate to the outstanding liability and is
charged to 'Finance expense - financial liabilities' in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Operating leases
Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating expenses on a straightline basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease rentals and
charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.
Leases of land and buildings
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the
classification for each is assessed separately.
1.14 Provisions
The Trust provides for legal or constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount for which it is
probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources at the Statement of Financial Position date
on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time
value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the discount rates
published and mandated by HM Treasury. Provisions for pensions payable are discounted at 0.24% (2015/16
1.37%).
Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual
contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total
value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is disclosed at Note 21, but is
not recognised in the Trust's accounts.
The NHSLA also operates a third party liability scheme that the Trust participates in. Liability is limited to £10k
per claim under this scheme.
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1.14 Provisions Continued
Non-clinical risk pooling
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and in return
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any ‘excesses’
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.
1.15 Contingencies
Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or more
future events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed in Note 25
where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in Note 25 unless the probability of a transfer of
economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as:
●

Possible obligations arising from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or

●

Present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic
benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

1.16 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC Dividend
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over
liabilities at the time of the establishment of the predecessor NHS Trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC
is not a financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.
A charge, reflecting the forecast cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable as public dividend capital dividend.
The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the
Trust during the financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all
liabilities, except for (i) donated assets, (ii) average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking
Service and National Loans Fund deposits, (iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable, and (iv) any
balance receivable from the Sustainability and Transformation fund. In accordance with the requirements laid
down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for the year is calculated on the actual
average relevant net assets as set out in the 'pre-audit' version of the annual accounts. The dividend thus
calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result of the audit of the annual
accounts.
1.17 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and
input tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or
included in the capitalised purchase cost of non-current assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.18 Corporation Tax
The Trust has no corporation tax liability at present.
A consultation on revised legislation for Corporation Tax as applicable to Foundation Trust Status is
awaited from HM Revenue and Customs.
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1.19 Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts
since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them. However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the accounts
in accordance with the requirements of the HM Treasury's FReM. See Note 23.2.
1.20 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the
health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way individual cases are handled.
Losses and Special Payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in the Income and Expenditure
Account on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had
the Trust not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue
expenditure). Note 30 is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which is prepared on an
accruals basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.
1.21 Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
The DH GAM does not require the following Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2016/17. These
standards are still subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 being for implementation in
2018/19, and the government implementation date for IFRS 16 still subject to HM Treasury consideration.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, but not yet adopted by the
FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018, but not yet adopted by the
FReM: early adoption is not therefore permitted.
IFRS 16 Leases
Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019, but not yet adoped by the FReM:
early adoption is not therefore permitted.
IFRC 22 Foreign Currency Transaction and Advance Consideration
Application required for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.
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1.22 Accounting standards issued that have been adopted early
There are no accounting standards issued that have been adopted early.
1.23 Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
In the application of the Trust's accounting policies, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those
estimates, and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Only key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities with the next financial year are disclosed as follows:

Contingencies
Advice from the senior executive team is taken when reporting contingencies. In addition, advice from
relevant professionals external to the Trust is taken e.g. when determining whether to make a provision
for a liability or whether to disclose as a contingency. However, the nature of contingencies is such that
uncertainty is inherent.
Valuation of land and buildings and useful economic lives thereon
Professional valuations are obtained from the District Valuer. This includes an assessment of useful
economic lives for each building. We rely upon this professional advice. If there are errors included, this
would affect the value of property, plant and equipment, revaluation reserve and possibly the deficit stated
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year as reported in the accounts.
For further detail see note 8.
1.24 Gifts
Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the expectation of any
return. Gifts include all transactions economically equivalent to free and unremunerated transfers, such
as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life, and the sale or lease of assets at below market value.
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2.1 Operating Income from Continuing and Discontinued Operations
Income from Activities

2016/17
£000

Total income from continuing activities
Total income from discontinuing activities

228,484
15,976

2015/16
£000
Restated *
227,423
13,860

Total income from activities

244,460

241,283

173
3,681
13
219
3,664
6,315
1,867
490

178
3,464
12
124
479
3,503
1,854
548

16,422

10,162

15,614
808

9,980
182

16,422

10,162

260,882

251,445

244,098
16,784

237,403
14,042

260,882

251,445

2.2 Income from Activities arising from Commissioner Requested Services

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

Income from activities arising from Commissioner Requested Services
All other services

244,456
16,426

241,282
10,163

260,882

251,445

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

490

548

Total

490

548

Future minimum lease payments due on leases of buildings expiring:
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.

140
557
185

175
778
330

Total

882

1,283

Other Operating Income
Research and development
Education and training
Received from NHS charities: Other charitable and other contributions to expenditure
Received from other bodies: Donation of physical assets (non-cash)
Received from other bodies: Receipt of grants/donations for capital acquisitions - Grant
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Sustainability and Transformation Fund income
Other
Rental revenue from operating leases - minimum lease receipts
Total other operating income
Of which:
Related to continuing operations
Related to discontinued operations

Total operating income
Of which:
Related to continuing operations
Related to discontinued operations

2.3 Operating Lease Income
Operating Lease Income
Rental revenue from operating leases - minimum lease receipts

* Restated due to the requirement to reclassify reversals of impairments and profits on disposals to expenditure.
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2.4 Operating Income from Continuing and Discontinued Operations
Income from Activities (by source)

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

NHS Foundation Trusts
NHS Trusts
CCGs and NHS England
Local Authorities
NHS Other
Non NHS:
- Private patients
NHS injury scheme
Non NHS: Other

2,039
1
224,656
16,751
17

511
15
226,691
12,737
73

4
189
803

1
243
1,012

Total income from activities

244,460

241,283

Of which:
Related to continuing operations
Related to discontinued operations

228,484
15,976

227,423
13,860

244,460

241,283

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

Car parking
Pharmacy sales
Clinical excellence awards
Catering
Property rentals
Other

19
32
106
178
80
1,452

20
105
186
77
1,466

Total other operating income

1,867

1,854

Analysis of Other Operating Income: Other
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2.5 Segmental Analysis
The Trust has three reportable segments based on locality: Bournemouth & Christchurch, Dorset and Poole & East Dorset.
As this model of care provision is designed to deliver an integrated pathway of care to our patients each locality has a combination of the following services;
·
·

Mental Health
o Community Mental Health Teams
Physical Health
o District Nurses
o Health Visitors
o Intermediate Care Teams
o Community Rehabilitation Teams

Each Locality then has a small number of specialist services, which may deliver care across the county, but are contained within a specific locality for the management of those services.
Bournemouth & Christchurch locality has Crisis Teams, Mental Health Inpatient Wards, Psych Liaison Services, Community Learning Disability Teams and Sexual Health Services.
Dorset locality has the remaining Community Hospitals, Prison Healthcare, Addictions and Forensic Services.
Poole & East Dorset locality has our Steps to Wellbeing service, Musculo-Skeletal service and Eating Disorders. Poole also has two Community Hospitals, Wimborne and St Leonards,
delivering the following types of care; elderly care inpatients, rehabilitation, outpatient appointments, theatre, therapy services, radiology and minor injury services.

Year ended 31 March 2017

Bournemouth &
Christchurch

Dorset

Poole & East
Dorset

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

Revenues from external customers

95,408

102,761

62,713

260,882

Reportable segment (deficit)/surplus

(4,303)

4,377

(1,346)

(1,272)

Impairments included above:

(5,129)

(3,210)

-

(8,339)

Segmental Analysis - reconciliation of segments to statement of comprehensive income
Revenues
Total revenues for reportable segments
Discontinued operations
Entity's revenues

£000
260,882
(16,784)
244,098

Deficit
Total deficit for reportable segments
Income before corporation tax expense
Of which:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

(1,272)
(1,272)
(752)
(520)
(1,272)
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2.5 Segmental Analysis Continued
The Trust has three reportable segments based on locality: Bournemouth & Christchurch, Dorset and Poole & East Dorset.
As this model of care provision is designed to deliver an integrated pathway of care to our patients each locality has a combination of the following services;
·
·

Mental Health
o Community Mental Health Teams
Physical Health
o District Nurses
o Health Visitors
o Intermediate Care Teams
o Community Rehabilitation Teams

Each Locality then has a small number of specialist services, which may deliver care across the county, but are contained within a specific locality for the management of those services.
Bournemouth & Christchurch locality has Crisis Teams, Mental Health Inpatient Wards, Psych Liaison Services, Community Learning Disability Teams and Sexual Health Services.
Dorset locality has the remaining Community Hospitals, Prison Healthcare, Addictions and Forensic Services.
Poole & East Dorset locality has our Steps to Wellbeing service, Musculo-Skeletal service and Eating Disorders. Poole also has two Community Hospitals, Wimborne and St Leonards, delivering the
following types of care; elderly care inpatients, rehabilitation, outpatient appointments, theatre, therapy services, radiology and minor injury services.

Year ended 31 March 2016

Bournemouth &
Christchurch

Dorset

Poole & East
Dorset

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

Revenues from external customers

78,521

95,817

78,290

252,628

Reportable segment (deficit)/surplus

(2,944)

(1,505)

2,546

(1,903)

557

62

-

619

(1,065)

(134)

-

(1,199)

Reversal of impairments included above:
Impairments included above:

Revenues
Total revenues for reportable segments
Discontinued operations
Profits on disposal reclassified to operating expenses
Reversal of impairments reclassified to operating expenses
Entity's revenues

£000
252,628
(14,042)
(564)
(619)
237,403

Deficit
Total deficit for reportable segments
Income before corporation tax expense
Of which:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

(1,903)
(1,903)
120
(2,023)
(1,903)
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3. Operating Expenses from Continuing and Discontinued Operations
3.1 Operating Expenses

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts
Services from NHS Trusts
Services from CCGs and NHS England
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies
Purchase of social care (under s.75 or other integrated care arrangements)
Employee Expenses - Executive Directors
Employee Expenses - Non-Executive Directors
Employee Expenses - Staff
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs)
Supplies and services - general
Establishment
Transport (Business travel only)
Transport (other)
Premises - Business rates payable to Local Authorities
Premises - Other
Increase / (decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables
Increase in other provisions
Change in provisions discount rate(s)
Drug costs (non inventory drugs only)
Drugs Inventories consumed
Rentals under operating leases - minimum lease payments
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation on intangible assets
Net Impairments of property, plant and equipment
Audit fees:
audit services - statutory audit
other auditor remuneration
Clinical negligence
Legal fees
Consultancy costs
Internal audit costs - (not included in employee expenses)
Internal audit costs and LCFS - (included in employee expenses)
Training, courses and conferences
Patient travel
Car parking & Security
Redundancy - (Not included in employee expenses)
Hospitality
Insurance
Other services
Losses, ex gratia & special payments- (Not included in employee expenses)
Other
Of Which
Related to Continuing Operations
Related to Discontinued Operations

2016/17

2015/16

£000
3,717
26
1
8,741
298
1,382
162
184,938
9,423
4,716
2,454
2,741
655
1,149
7,659
365
8
145
1,282
2,598
4,094
7,649
100
8,339

£000
Restated *
3,672
18
1
3
10,641
253
1,516
162
181,030
9,027
4,535
2,808
2,715
612
989
7,821
191
11
(9)
1,807
2,247
4,710
7,484
49
580

82
12
357
383
140
120
55
1,268
1,175
133
425
34
102
352
76
1,255

74
12
352
276
622
137
165
1,436
1,016
146
427
64
118
490
23
990

258,611

249,221

241,307
17,304

233,156
16,065

258,611

249,221

* Restated due to the requirement to reclassify reversals of impairments and profits on disposals to expenditure.
3.2 Limitations of Auditors' Liability
The Trust's contract with its auditor has a specified limitation of the auditors' liability of £5m (2015/16 £5m).
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3.3 Arrangements containing an Operating Lease
Leases entered into by the Trust are generally for rent of equipment or premises. There are no special conditions
attached to the leases.
2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Less sublease payments received

4,094
-

4,710
-

Total

4,094

4,710

2016/17
£000

2016/17
£000

2016/17
£000

Buildings

2016/17
£000
Plant &
Machinery

Other

Total

784
919
1,116

132
1
-

734
706
-

1,650
1,626
1,116

2,819

133

1,440

4,392

2015/16
£000

2015/16
£000

2015/16
£000

Buildings

2015/16
£000
Plant &
Machinery

Other

Total

750
2,165
2,232

38
4
-

721
523
-

1,509
2,692
2,232

5,147

42

1,244

6,433

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

-

-

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

12
-

12
-

12

12

3.4 Arrangements containing an Operating Lease

Future minimum lease payments due:
- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years
- later than five years

- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years
- later than five years

Total of future minimum sublease lease payments
to be received at the statement of financial position
dates
3.5 Other Audit Remuneration
Other auditors remuneration paid to the external auditors is analysed as follows:
1. The auditing of accounts of any associate of the Trust
2. Audit-related assurance services
3. Taxation compliance services
4. All taxation advisory services not falling within item 3 above;
5. internal audit services (only those payable to the external auditors)
6. All assurance services not falling within items 1 to 5
7. Corporate finance transaction services not falling within items 1 to 6 above
8. All other non-audit services not falling within items 2 to 7 above
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4. Employee Expenses and Numbers
4.1 Employee Expenses

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

Salaries and wages
Social Security Costs
Employers contributions to NHS Pensions
Agency/contract staff

148,520
12,822
18,752
6,455

143,396
9,300
18,092
11,993

Total Staff Costs
of which
Costs capitalised as part of assets
Analysed into Operating Expenditure
Employee Expenses - Staff
Employee Expenses - Executive directors
Internal audit costs
Total Employee benefits excl. capitalised costs

186,549

182,781

174

70

184,938
1,382
55
186,375

181,030
1,516
165
182,711

The employer pension contributions above are the Trust's total employer pension contributions.
See also Note 1.5 for more information on pension costs.
4.2 Average monthly number of employees
(whole time equivalent basis)
Medical and dental
Ambulance staff
Administration and estates
Healthcare assistants and other support staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Healthcare science staff
Agency and contract staff
Bank staff
Total average numbers
of which
Number of Employees (WTE) engaged on capital
projects

2016/17
Number
Total
110
2
1,048
344
2,406
46
692
19
70
316

2015/16
Number
Total
108
2
997
316
2,355
34
679
18
166
300

5,053

4,975

2

1

4.3 Employee benefits
Other than the employee expenses shown in note 4.1 the Trust has no other employee benefits in 2016/17 or 2015/16.
4.4 Early retirements due to ill-health
During 2016/17, there were 3 (9 in 2015/16) early retirements from the Trust on the grounds of ill-health. The estimated additional pension liabilities of
these ill-health retirements will be £184k (£329k in 2015/16) as notified by the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division. The cost of these illhealth retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division.
4.5 Exit packages
A charge of £425k (2015/16 £427k charge) has been recognised in the accounts in exit packages during 2016/17. The exit packages have most
significantly been incurred in respect of the closure of a ward and due to various restructuring taking place in order to achieve ongoing cost savings.
Details of the number of exit packages by cost band are provided in the table below.
Exit Package Cost Band
<£10,000
£10,001 - £25,000
£25,001 - £50,000
£50,001 - £100,000
£100,001 - £150,000
£150,001 - £200,000
Total Number of Exit Packages by Type
Total Resource Cost £'000

Number of Compulsory
Redundancies
2016/17
2015/16
5
6
4
6
4
2
1
1
1
14
16
425
377
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Number of Other Departures
Agreed
2016/17
2015/16
1
1
50

Total Number of Exit
Packages by Cost Band
2016/17
2015/16
5
6
4
6
4
2
1
1
1
1
15
16
425
427
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4.5 Exit Packages Continued

Note 4.5 Exit packages: other (non-compulsory)
departure payments - 2016/17

2016/17
2015/16
Payments Total value of Payments Total value
Agreed
agreements
Agreed
of
Number
£000
Number
£000

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement
contractual costs
Mutually agreed resignations (MARS) contractual costs.
Early retirements in the efficiency of the service
contractual costs.
Contractual payments in lieu of notice
Exit payments following Employment Tribunals or court
orders.
Non-contractual payments requiring Her Majesty's
Treasury approval
Total
Of which:
non-contractual payments, requiring HMT approval,
made to individuals where the payment value was more
than 12 months of their annual salary

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

50

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

50

-

-

-

-

Maximum special severance payment: 0
Minimum special severance payment: 0
Median special severance payment: 0
4.6 Pension Costs
Pension Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details of the
benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, GP
practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State in England and Wales. They are
not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the
cost to the NHS body of participating in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that
scheme for the accounting period.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially from
those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the
period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An
outline of these follows:
a) Accounting Valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government Actuary’s
Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous
accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the current reporting period,
and are accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of scheme
liability as at 31 March 2017, is based on valuation data as 31 March 2016, updated to 31 March 2017 with
summary global member and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology
prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also
been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part
of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on
the NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
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4.6 Pension Costs Continued
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the schemes
(taking into account their recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates payable by
employees and employers.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year
ending 31 March 2012. The Scheme Regulations allow for the level of contribution rates to be changed by the
Secretary of State for Health, with the consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme
Actuary and appropriate employee and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
The next actuarial valuation is to be carried out as at 31 March 2016. This will set the employer contribution
rate payable from April 2019 and will consider the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap. There
are provisions in the Public Service Pension Act 2013 to adjust member benefits or contribution rates if the
cost of the Scheme changes by more than 2% of pay. Subject to this ‘employer cost cap’ assessment, any
required revisions to member benefits or contribution rates will be determined by the Secretary of State for
Health after consultation with the relevant stakeholders.
The Trust does not have employees who are members of other defined benefit schemes.
The estimated employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme for 2017/18 are £18,922k.
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5.1 Finance Income

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

Interest on bank accounts

91

118

Total

91

118

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

Finance leases
Interest on late payment of commercial debt

2

1
7

Total

2

8

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

Other
Changes in market price

8,339

(254)
834

Total impairments

8,339

580

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

948
(23)
28
(10)

488
76
(91)

943

473

5.2 Finance Costs - Financial Liabilities

6.1 Impairment of Assets (PPE & Intangibles)

6.2 Profit/Loss on Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Profit on the disposal of non-current assets is made up as follows:

Profit on disposal of land and buildings
(Loss) on disposal of land and buildings
Profits on disposal of other non-current assets
Loss on disposal of other non-current assets

All non-current assets disposed in 2016/17 and 2015/16 do not relate to Commissioner
Requested Service assets.
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7.1 Intangible Assets

2016/2017
Software
licences
£000

2015/2016
Software
licences
£000

294
781
1,075

207
(12)
99
294

Amortisation at 1 April
Provided during the year
Amortisation at 31 March

149
100
249

100
49
149

Net book value
NBV - Purchased at 1 April
NBV - Donated at 1 April
NBV - Total at 1 April

56
89
145

107
107

NBV - Purchased at 31 March
NBV - Donated at 31 March
NBV - Total at 31 March

737
89
826

56
89
145

Gross cost at 1 April
Reclassifications
Additions purchased
Gross cost at 31 March

7.2 Intangible Assets acquired by Government Grant
The Trust had no intangible assets acquired by government grant in either 2016/17 or
2015/16.
7.3 Economic Life of Intangible Assets
The economic life of purchased software is between 5 and 7 years.
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment
8.1

Property, Plant and Equipment 2016/17

Land

Buildings Dwellings
excluding
Dwellings

Plant and
Machinery

Transport
Equipment

Information
Technology

Furniture
& Fittings

Total

£000
43,258
(100)
(4,282)
(1)
770
55
39,700

£000
111,771
(250)
7,646
200
(8,339)
(12,480)
1
150
77
(23)
98,753

£000
661
(36)
1
109
735

£000
8,740
1,177
19
(8)
(268)
9,660

£000
898
185
(1)
(20)
1,062

£000
7,872
771
8
(460)
8,191

£000
2,167
50
(69)
2,148

£000
175,367
(350)
9,829
219
(8,339)
(16,798)
1,029
132
(840)
160,249

-

4,727
(4)
4,797
(4,263)
5,257

9
36
(36)
9

5,595
1,021
(266)
6,350

488
117
(20)
585

3,389
1,461
(445)
4,405

1,510
217
(64)
1,663

15,718
(4)
7,649
(4,299)
(795)
18,269

Net book value
NBV - Owned at 1 April 2016
NBV - Finance Lease at 1 April 2016
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2016
NBV Total at 1 April 2016

43,258
43,258

97,400
2,758
6,886
107,044

652
652

2,765
1
379
3,145

379
31
410

4,470
13
4,483

648
9
657

149,572
2,759
7,318
159,649

NBV - Owned at 31 March 2017
NBV - Finance Lease at 31 March 2017
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2017
NBV Total at 31 March 2017

39,700
39,700

85,510
2,673
5,313
93,496

726
726

3,039
271
3,310

456
21
477

3,777
9
3,786

478
7
485

133,686
2,673
5,621
141,980

Valuation/Gross Cost at 1 April 2016
Transfers by absorption - NORMAL
Additions - purchased
Additions - grants/donations of cash to purchase assets
Impairments charged to operating expenses
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve
Reclassifications
Revaluations
Transfers to/from assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups
Disposals
Valuation/Gross Cost at 31 March 2017
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2016 as previously stated
Transfers by absorption - NORMAL
Provided during the year
Revaluations
Disposals
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2017
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment Continued
8.2

Property, Plant and Equipment 2016/17

Land, buildings excluding dwellings, and dwellings have been revalued as at 31 March 2017 using the
valuation as at 28 February 2017 as an approximation for the year end value. This valuation was carried out
by the District Valuers (independent, professionally qualified valuers) from the Valuation Office Agency, which
is an executive agency of HM Revenue and Customs. The valuations were carried out in accordance with the
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors' Appraisal and Valuation Standards, in so far as these terms are
consistent with the currently applicable and agreed requirements of HM Treasury and the Trust Regulator,
NHS Improvement. In carrying out these valuations, Modern Equivalent Asset basis was used. In arriving at
the valuation, the District Valuer considered alternative sites, and values for alternative sites were used where
appropriate. This resulted in a £12m decrease in the land and buildings values in year.
The additions to donated assets in the year are disclosed at market value in existing use and there are no
restrictions on use.
Details of useful economic lives are as follows:
Buildings and dwellings have useful economic lives of between 8 and 85 years;
Plant & machinery have useful economic lives of between 5 and 8 years;
Furniture & fittings have useful economic lives of between 5 and 18 years;
IT equipment items have useful economic lives of between 5 years and 15 years, except in the case of
servers, which have useful economic lives of 8 years; and
Transport equipment items have useful economic lives of between 5 and 7 years.
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment continued
8.3

Property, Plant and Equipment 2015/16

Land

Buildings
excluding
Dwellings

Dwellings

Plant and
Machinery

Transport
Equipment

Information
Technology

Furniture &
Fittings

Total

£000
41,283
(310)
2,410
(125)
43,258

£000
105,487
7,204
311
(1,199)
(3,549)
619
3,156
(200)
(58)
111,771

£000
666
(5)
661

£000
8,321
835
167
12
(595)
8,740

£000
669
204
25
898

£000
6,905
980
(13)
7,872

£000
2,098
101
(32)
2,167

£000
165,429
9,324
25
478
(1,199)
(3,859)
619
12
5,561
(325)
(698)
175,367

-

4,593
4,941
(4,719)

9
38
(38)

5,101
873
-

396
92
-

2,106
1,293
-

1,291
247
-

13,496
7,484
(4,757)

-

(38)
(50)
4,727

9

(379)
5,595

488

(10)
3,389

(28)
1,510

(38)
(467)
15,718

Net book value
NBV - Owned at 1 April 2015
NBV - Finance Lease at 1 April 2015
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2015
NBV Total at 1 April 2015

41,283
41,283

91,451
2,597
6,846
100,894

657
657

2,827
10
383
3,220

261
12
273

4,773
26
4,799

790
17
807

142,042
2,607
7,284
151,933

NBV - Owned at 31 March 2016
NBV - Finance Lease at 31 March 2016
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2016
NBV Total at 31 March 2016

43,258
43,258

97,400
2,758
6,886
107,044

652
652

2,765
1
379
3,145

379
31
410

4,470
13
4,483

648
9
657

149,572
2,759
7,318
159,649

Valuation/Gross Cost at 1 April 2015
Additions - purchased
Additions - donations of physical assets (Non cash)
Additions - grants/donations of cash to purchase assets
Impairments charged to operating expenses
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve
Reversal of impairments credited to operating expenditure
Reclassifications
Revaluations
Transfers to/from assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups
Disposals
Valuation/Gross Cost at 31 March 2016
Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2015
Provided during the year
Revaluations
Transfers to/from assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups
Disposals
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2016
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment Continued
8.4 Property, Plant and Equipment 2015/16
Land, buildings excluding dwellings, and dwellings have been revalued as at 31 March 2016 using the
valuation as at 31 January 2016 as an approximation to the year end value. This valuation was carried
out by the District Valuers (independent, professionally qualified valuers) from the Valuation Office
Agency, which is an executive agency of HM Revenue and Customs. The valuations were carried out in
accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors' Appraisal and Valuation Standards, in so far
as these terms are consistent with the currently applicable and agreed requirements of HM Treasury
and the Trust Regulator, Monitor. In carrying out these valuations, Modern Equivalent Asset basis was
used. In arriving at the valuation, the District Valuer considered alternative sites, and values for
alternative sites were used where appropriate.
Details of useful economic lives are as follows:
Buildings and dwellings have useful economic lives of between 8 and 47 years;
Plant & machinery have useful economic lives of between 5 and 15 years;
Furniture & fittings have useful economic lives of between 5 and 10 years;
IT equipment items have useful economic lives of 5 years, except in the case of servers, which have
useful economic lives of 8 years; and
Transport equipment items have useful economic lives of between 5 and 7 years.
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9. Assets held under Finance Lease
9.1 Net book value of assets held under finance leases at the statement of financial
position date
Buildings
excluding
Plant &
Total
Land
dwellings
Machinery
£000
£000
£000
£000
Net Book Value at 31 March 2017
Net Book Value at 31 March 2016

2,673
2,759

-

2,673
2,758

1

9.2 The total amount of depreciation charged to the income and expenditure account in
respect of assets held under finance leases and hire purchase contracts

Depreciation 2016/17
Depreciation 2015/16

Total
£000

Land
£000

Buildings
excluding
dwellings
£000

126
64

-

125
55
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Plant &
Machinery
£000
1
9
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10. Non-Current Assets for Sale and Assets in
Disposal Groups 2016/17

NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal
groups at 1 April 2016
Plus assets classified as available for sale in the year
Less assets sold in the year
Less assets no longer classified as held for sale, for
reasons other than disposal by sale
NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in
disposal groups at 31 March 2017

Total

Intangible
assets

Property,
Plant and
Equipment

£000

£000

£000

1,808

-

1,808

155

-

155

(1,521)

-

(1,521)

(287)

-

(287)

155

-

155

The non-current assets held for sale are properties, encompassing land and building excluding dwellings.
Following a review of the Trust's properties, the properties included in assets held for sale were considered
to be surplus to requirements. These properties are not commissioner requested services properties and
their disposal does not impact upon the Trust's Commissioner Requested Services.
10.1 Non-Current Assets for Sale and Assets in
Disposal Groups 2015/16
NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal
groups at 1 April 2015
Plus assets classified as available for sale in the year
Less assets sold in the year
NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in
disposal groups at 31 March 2016

Total

Intangible
assets

Property,
Plant and
Equipment

£000

£000

£000

2,334
287
(813)

-

2,334
287
(813)

1,808

-

1,808

10.2 Liabilities in Disposal Groups
There were no liabilities in disposal groups in either 2016/17 or in 2015/16.
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11. Investments
The Trust has a fixed asset investment of £1 in Ansbury Limited, a company limited by
guarantee and registered in England. The Trust is one of 14 members, as at 31st March 2017.
There is no requirement to consolidate the financial results of this company in the Trust's
accounts.
Dorset HealthCare Charitable Fund is considered to be a subsidiary of the Trust. Whilst the
Trust does not have any investment in the Charitable Fund, the Trustees of the Charitable
Fund are all members of the Trust's board and so is deemed to have control over the
Charitable Fund. It is normally a requirement to consolidate subsidiaries where significant and
the Trust has taken the decision not to consolidate on the basis that the Charitable Fund is not
material to the Trust's accounts.
The principal place of business of the Charitable Fund and the Trust is Sentinel House, 4-6
Nuffield Road, Poole, Dorset, BH17 0RB.
Funds within the Charitable Fund are to be used for the objects of the Charitable Fund. These
are to benefit the staff and patients of the Trust. These funds cannot be used to settle NHS
(the Trust) expenditure.
12. Disclosure of aggregate amounts for assets and liabilities of jointly controlled
operations
There were no jointly controlled operations in either 2016/17 or in 2015/16.
13. Inventories
13.1 Inventories
Drugs
Consumables
Other

13.2 Inventories recognised in expenses
Inventories recognised as an expense in the year
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31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

142
65
545

131
20
587

752

738

2016/17
£000

2015/16
£000

3,653

3,549

3,653

3,549
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14. Receivables
14.1 Trade and Other Receivables

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000

£000

NHS receivables - Revenue
Provision for impaired receivables
Prepayments (Non-PFI)
Accrued Income
PDC dividend receivable
VAT receivable
Other receivables

4,202
(599)
1,903
4,555
110
742
1,432

1,354
(237)
1,759
861
423
1,726

Total current trade and other receivables

12,345

5,886

Total trade and other receivables

12,345

5,886

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

237
570
(3)
(205)

53
210
(7)
(19)

599

237

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

162
20
70
347

90
21
12
114

599

237

Current

14.2 Provision for Impairment of Receivables

At 1 April
Increase in provision
Amounts utilised
Unused amounts reversed
At 31 March
14.3 Analysis of Impaired Receivables
Ageing of impaired receivables:
In 0 to 30 days
In 30 to 60 days
In 60 to 90 days
In 90 to 180 days
In over 180 days
TOTAL

The factors considered when receivables are impaired include whether there is an ongoing
relationship with the debtor, the evidence to support a claim and whether the debtor is disputing a
debt.

Ageing of non impaired receivables past their due date:
In 0 to 30 days
In 30 to 60 days
In 60 to 90 days
In 90 to 180 days
In over 180 days

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

850
215
106
77
54

800
91
425
175
145

1,302

1,636

TOTAL
14.4 Finance Lease Receivables
There are no finance lease receivables in either 2016/17 or in 2015/16.
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15. Other Assets
The Trust has no other assets to disclose at 31 March 2017 or 31 March 2016.
16. Trade and Other Payables
Current
NHS payables - revenue
Amounts due to other related parties - revenue
Other trade payables - capital
Other trade payables - revenue
Social Security costs
Other payables
Accruals
PDC dividend payable
Total trade and other payables

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

3,677
899
2,590
3,314
3,301
7,473
21,254

1,370
342
1,719
3,001
3,513
10,227
35
20,207

16.1 Trade and Other Payables - early retirements detail included in NHS payables at 31 March
above:
The Trust has no early retirement payables included in NHS payables above as at 31 March 2017 or 31
March 2016.
17. Other Liabilities
There are no other liabilities to disclose as at 31 March 2017 or 31 March 2016.
18. Borrowings
Current
Total current borrowings
Non-current
Total other non current liabilities
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31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

-

1

-

-

Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Accounts 2016/17

19. Finance Lease Obligations
Amounts payable under finance leases:

Minimum lease payments
31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

-

1
-

Net lease liabilities

-

1

Net lease liabilities
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.

-

1
-

-

1

Gross lease liabilities
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.
Less future finance charges

Due to the relatively short term nature of the finance leases, the minimum lease payments is the
same as the present value of the minimum lease payments.
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20. Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Obligations (on Statement of Financial Position)
The Trust does not have any PFI schemes in either 2016/17 or in 2015/16.
21. Provisions for Liabilities and Charges
Pensions other staff
£000

Other legal
claims
£000

Redundancy
£000

Other
£000

Total
£000

At 1 April 2016
Change in the discount rate
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount

247
18
8
(22)
3

98
96
(52)
(71)
-

347
(9)
-

3,040
127
867
(358)
(161)
12

3,385
145
1,318
(441)
(232)
15

At 31 March 2017

254

71

338

3,527

4,190

Expected timing of cashflows:
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than
five years;
- later than five years

25

71

338

1,818

2,252

100
129

-

-

413
1,296

513
1,425

TOTAL

254

71

338

3,527

4,190

The provision under "Other Legal claims" is in respect of the Trust's net liability for claims made against the Trust under the Liability to
Third Parties Scheme as administered on the Trust's behalf by the NHS Litigation Authority, and relates to 10 outstanding cases
(2015/16 15 cases). The Trust's liability is capped at £10k per case.
An amount of £944k (2015/16 £857k) is included under "Other" for the provision of Injury benefit as advised by NHS Business Services
Authority - Pensions Division and has been discounted at 0.24% (2015/16 1.37%). This will be utilised over the lifetime of the claimants.
Redundancy provisions have arisen from restructuring.
Other provisions arise from employment issues, dilapidation to property and other contractual obligations.
A provision of £2,642k is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority at 31 March 2017 (£737k at 31 March 2016) in respect
of clinical negligence liabilities of the Trust.
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22. Revaluation Reserve

Revaluation
Reserve - assets
held for sale

£000

Revaluation
Reserve property, plant
and equipment
£000

57,472
(8)
(16,798)
5,328
(1,201)

56,110
(8)
(16,798)
5,328
-

1,362
(1,201)

Revaluation reserve at 31 March 2017

44,793

44,632

161

Revaluation reserve at 1 April 2015
Prior period adjustment
Revaluation reserve at 1 April 2015
Impairments
Revaluations
Asset disposals
Other reserve movements

51,044
51,044
(3,859)
10,318
(274)
243

49,462
49,462
(3,859)
10,318
189

1,582
1,582
(274)
54

Revaluation reserve at 31 March 2016

57,472

56,110

1,362

31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000

£000

At 1 April
Net change in year

30,733
1,303

30,115
618

At 31 March

32,036

30,733

31 March 2017
£000

31 March 2016
£000

1,228
30,808
32,036
32,036

457
30,276
30,733
30,733

Total
Revaluation
Reserve

Revaluation reserve at 1 April 2016
Transfers by absorption - NORMAL
Impairments
Revaluations
Asset disposals

23.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Broken down into:
Cash at commercial banks and in hand
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP
Bank overdraft
Cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF
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23.2 Third Party Assets held by the Trust
The Trust held £35k (2015/16 £35k) in bank accounts on behalf of third parties. These amounts are not included
within the Trust's accounts.
24.1 Contractual Capital Commitments
Commitments under capital expenditure contracts at 31 March 2017 were £1,504k (£954k at 31 March 2016) in
respect of property, plant and equipment.
24.2 Other Financial Commitments
The Trust's commitment to making payments under non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases,
PFI contracts or other service concession arrangements) as at 31st March 2017 are as follows,
analysed by the period during which the commitment expires:
31 March 2017
£000
736
263
999

Expiry not later than 1 year
Expiry after 1 year and not later than 5 years
Expiry thereafter
Total
24.3 Events after the Reporting Period
There are no events after the reporting period to disclose.
25. Contingent Liabilities or Assets

There are no contingent liabilities or assets in 2015/16 or 2016/17.
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26. Related Party Transactions
The Trust is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of State for Health.
Nick Yeo's (Non-Executive Director) son-in-law is a Management Trainee at Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust.
Arms length transactions and balances with this entity are set out below.
Linda Boland's (Locality Director for Poole and East Dorset) husband has a contract to provide psychological support to
Dorset County Council. Transactions are detailed below.
During the current and prior year none of the other Board Members or members of the key management staff or parties
related to them has undertaken any material transactions with Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust, with
the exception of the contractual pay which has been disclosed in the Remuneration Report within the Directors' Report.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. HMRC is regarded as a related party of the Department of
Health. During the year the Trust has had a significant number of material transactions with the Department of Health,
and with other entities (and or/their predecessor bodies) for which the Department is regarded as the parent
organisation. These entities are listed below.
Related parties of minister and senior managers at the Department of Health includes NHS Retirement Fellowship in
2016/17 and BT in 2015/16. Transactions between the Trust and these bodies are set out below:
Transaction values with related trading
organisations:

2016/17
Income
£000

2016/17
Expenditure
£000

31 March 2017
Receivables
£000

31 March 2017
Payables
£000

NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
NHS England
NHS Pension scheme
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Dorest County Council
NHS Retirement Fellowship
Department of Health
Other NHS Bodies
HMRC
Other Local Authority bodies
Other WGA bodies

197,183
30,912
1,163
16,327
140
11,749
914
-

1,702
20
18,738
2,306
496
8
5,444
12,818
211
736

6,233
249
284
110
1,769
742
124
(1)

2,283
18
2,514
590
523
819
3,314
241
259

Transaction values with related trading
organisations:

2015/16
Income
£000

2015/16
Expenditure
£000

31 March 2016
Receivables
£000

31 March 2016
Payables
£000

NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
NHS England
NHS Pension scheme
Poole Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
Dorest County Council
British Telecom
Department of Health
Other NHS Bodies
HMRC
Other Local Authority bodies
Other WGA bodies

196,474
27,200
548
12,049
139
10,870
1,160
10

1,962
9
18,094
2,383
540
1,028
9
5,129
9,300
304
1

111
673
314
298
955
423
223
15

5
3
2,464
405
288
53
992
3,001
297
167
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26. Related Party Transactions continued
The Trust has also received revenue of non material amounts from Dorset HealthCare Charitable Fund where the
Trustees are also the members of the Trust Board.
The independently reviewed accounts for Dorset HealthCare Charitable Fund are available from the Trust.
The Trust also has an investment relationship with Ansbury Limited from 2009/10. There were no material
transactions with this entity in 2016/17 or 2015/16.
There are no material transactions that have been concluded under non market conditions.
27. Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Schemes deemed to be off-SoFP
The Trust has no PFI schemes as at 31 March 2017 or at 31 March 2016 and the Trust has not committed to make
any payments for PFI schemes during the next year.
28. Financial Instruments
28.1 Financial Assets by Category

Trade and other receivables excluding non
financial assets (at 31 March 2017)

Total
£000

Loans and
receivables
£000

Assets at
fair value
£000

Availablefor-sale
£000

9,590

9,590

-

-

Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand
(at 31 March 2017)

32,036

32,036

-

-

Total at 31 March 2017

41,626

41,626

-

-

The difference between trade receivables and other receivables shown in note 14.1 and note 28.1 relates to nonfinancial assets which are prepayments, VAT receivable and PDC Dividend receivable.
Total
£000

Loans and
receivables
£000

Assets at
fair value
£000

Availablefor-sale
£000

3,704

3,704

-

-

Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand
(at 31 March 2016)

30,733

30,733

-

-

Total at 31 March 2016

34,437

34,437

-

-

Trade and other receivables excluding non
financial assets (at 31 March 2016)

The difference between trade receivables and other receivables shown in note 14.1 and note 28.1 relates to nonfinancial assets which are prepayments and VAT receivable.
The above assets at fair values are through the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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28. Financial Instruments Continued
28.2 Financial Liabilities by Category

Trade and other payables excluding non
financial liabilities
Provisions under contract

Total
£000

Other financial
liabilities
£000

Liabilities at
fair value
£000

15,667
2,991

15,667
2,991

-

Total at 31 March 2017

18,658

18,658

-

Borrowings and finance leases are shown in note 18. The difference between trade and other payables
shown in note 16 and note 28.2 relate to non-financial liabilities of £2,273k shown in Other Payables and
£3,314k shown in Taxes payable. Provisions are shown in note 21. The difference between note 21 and
note 28.2 relate to non-financial liabilities of Pensions - other staff, and £944k shown in Other.

Obligations under finance leases
Trade and other payables excluding non
financial liabilities
Provisions under contract

Total
£000
1

Other financial
liabilities
£000
1

Liabilities at
fair value
£000
-

15,041
2,281

15,041
2,281

-

Total at 31 March 2016

17,323

17,323

-

Borrowings and finance leases are shown in note 18. The difference between trade and other payables
shown in note 16 and note 28.2 relate to non-financial liabilities of £2,130k shown in Other Payables, £35k
shown in PDC Dividend payable and £3,001k shown in Taxes payable. Provisions are shown in note 21.
The difference between note 21 and note 28.2 relate to non-financial liabilities of Pensions - other staff, and
£857k shown in Other.

28.3 Maturity of Financial Liabilities

In one year or less
In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years
In more than five years
Total
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31 March 2017

31 March 2016

£000

£000

17,862
98
188
510
18,658

16,100
263
227
733
17,323
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28 Financial Instruments Continued
28.4 Financial Instruments - Risks
Market risk
(a) Interest rate risk - The Trust's financial assets and liabilities carry nil, variable and fixed rates of interest. Variable rates are
applicable to the Trust's deposit accounts, the most significant of which is with the Government Banking Service (GBS). GBS interest
rate varies in line with the Bank of England base rates. Other deposits are placed with other organisations for a maximum of 3
months. The rate is agreed in advance which reduces the interest rate risk. The Trust is therefore not exposed to significant interest
rate risk.
(b) Currency risk - The Trust has no significant foreign currency transactions and is therefore not exposed to significant currency
risk.
(c) Credit and liquidity risk - The Trust's significant operating income is incurred under contracts with local NHS Clinical
Commissioning Groups, NHS England and Local Authority, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The
Trust finances its capital expenditure from internally generated funds. The Trust is therefore not exposed to significant credit or
liquidity risks.
28.5a Fair Values of Financial Assets at 31 March 2017
The book value and market value of non-current trade and other receivables excluding non-financial assets was £nil.
Basis of fair valuation - see note a
28.5b Fair Values of Financial Assets at 31 March 2016
The book value and fair value of non-current trade and other receivables excluding non-financial assets was £nil.
Basis of fair valuation - see note a
Notes
a Fair value is not different from book value.
28.6a Fair Values of Financial Liabilities at 31 March 2017

Non current trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities
Provisions under contracts
Loans
Other
Total
28.6b Fair Values of Financial Liabilities at 31 March 2016

Non current trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities
Provisions under contracts
Loans
Other
Total
Notes
b Fair value is not different from book value.

Page A44

Book Value

Fair Value

£000

£000

796
796

796
796

Book Value

Fair Value

£000

£000

934
934

934
934

Basis of fair
valuation

Note b

Basis of fair
valuation

Note b
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29. Defined Benefit Pension Schemes and Plan Assets
29.1 Changes in the benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets during the year for the amounts
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.
There are no pension schemes accounted for as defined benefit schemes and therefore no plan assets during
either 2016/17 or 2015/16.
29.2 Reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the present value of the plan
assets to the assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position
There are no pension schemes accounted for as defined benefit schemes and therefore no plan assets during
either 2016/17 or 2015/16.
30. Losses and Special Payments
Cash losses
Fruitless payments and constructive losses
Bad debts and claims abandoned (excluding NHS Bodies)
Damage to buildings and property etc.
Compensation under legal obligation
Special payments - ex-gratia payments
Special severance payments
Extra statutory and regulatory

31 March 2017
£000
Number
0
19
1
10
3
154
1
2
1
5
36
16
9
1
51
207

31 March 2016
£000
Number
13
28
1
3
21
2
3
2
29
20
1
1
49
75

The ex-gratia payments made were in respect of loss of personal effects/ compensation.
There were no cases exceeding £300,000 for the current year (2015/16 no cases).
These amounts are reported on an accruals basis but exclude provisions for future losses.
31. Discontinued Operations

2016/17
£000

Operating income of discontinued operations
Operating expenses of discontinued operations

2015/16
£000

16,784

14,042

(17,304)

(16,065)

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations

-

-

(Loss) on disposal of discontinued operations

-

-

(520)

(2,023)

Total

Discontinued operations consist of the cessation of two services that have moved to providers outside the
boundary of Government accounting. The provision of services to the Devon and Dorset prisons ceased as at 31
March 2017. In addition, the Diabetic Eye Screening service ceased as at 31 March 2017.

32. Corporation Tax
The Trust had no corporation tax liability for either 2016/17 or 2015/16.
33. Other Financial Assets
The Trust had no other financial assets in either 2016/17 or 2015/16.
34. Other Financial Liabilities
The Trust had no other financial liabilities in either 2016/17 or 2015/16.
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35. Pooled Budget Arrangements
From 1 April 2015 community equipment has been part of the Better Care Fund. Dorset CCG is the only health partner signatory on the
Section 75 Agreement for the Better Care Fund, as such Dorset CCG will be the only health partner to appear on this year’s Partnership
Account issued by Bournemouth Council, and so it will show only the total health partner funding amount of £5,058k. This is the total of
the 5 Health bodies listed below.
The risk share liability for the health partners is shown below under partner allocation: CCG £247,057. Of this Dorset HealthCare's
share is £100k.
The Trust was part of the Integrated Community Equipment Store Section 75 Agreement for 2014/15 which has since been transferred
to a Better Care Fund in 2015/16. The relevant information for the 2016/17 pooled budget is as follows:
Gross Partner Funding :
Investment and Risk as per Section 75 Agreement
Bournemouth Borough Council
Borough of Poole
Dorset County Council
Dorset CCG
Dorset HealthCare University NHS FT
The Royal Bournemouth & Christchurch Hospitals NHS FT
Dorset County Hospital NHS FT
Poole Hospital NHS FT

Cash
£
636,562
592,464
1,296,453
2,751,482
1,600,128
346,294
184,631
175,026
7,583,040

Staff
£

-

Other
£

-

Total
£
636,562
592,464
1,296,453
2,751,482
1,600,128
346,294
184,631
175,026
7,583,040

-

-

121,685
247,057

-

-

121,685
247,057

7,951,782

-

-

7,951,782

Integrated Equipment Service

7,951,782

-

-

7,951,782

Total Expenditure

7,951,782

-

-

7,951,782

-

-

-

-

-

Total
£
551,562
552,464
1,439,027
2,751,482
1,600,128
346,294
184,631
175,026
7,600,614

Partner allocation: Local Authority
Partner allocation: CCG
Total Funding

8.40%
7.81%
17.10%
36.28%
21.10%
4.57%
2.43%
2.31%
100.0%

Expenditure

Net underspend/overspend

The Trust was part of Section 75 Agreement for 2015/16 pooled budget is as follows:
Gross Partner Funding :
Investment and Risk as per Section 75 Agreement
Bournemouth Borough Council
Borough of Poole
Dorset County Council
Dorset CCG
Dorset HealthCare University NHS FT
The Royal Bournemouth & Christchurch Hospitals NHS FT
Dorset County Hospital NHS FT
Poole Hospital NHS FT

Cash
£
551,562
552,464
1,439,027
2,751,482
1,600,128
346,294
184,631
175,026
7,600,614

Staff
£

-

Other
£

-

-

Partner allocation: Local Authority
Partner allocation: CCG

(68,514)
(139,104)

-

-

(68,514)
(139,104)

Total Funding

7,392,996

-

-

7,392,996

Integrated Equipment Service

7,392,996

-

-

7,392,996

Total Expenditure

7,392,996

-

-

7,392,996

-

-

-

-

7.26%
7.27%
18.93%
36.20%
21.05%
4.56%
2.43%
2.30%
100.0%

Expenditure

Net underspend/overspend

36. The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
The Trust had £2k (£7k 2015/16) interest paid arising from claims made or compensation paid in 2016/17 in relation to debt recovery
costs under this legislation.
37. Transfer by Absorption
During the year the ownership of Whitfield Rural Centre was transferred to NHS Property Services for nil consideration. This resulted in
a £346k decrease in Non-Current Assets (note 8.1) and recognition of this loss on the Statement of Comprehensive Income. In addition
the remaining Revaluation Reserve attached to this property was transferred from the Revaluation Reserve to the Income and
Expenditure Reserve totalling £8k which can be seen on the Statement of Changes in Equity.
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